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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 21 SEPTEMBER 2020 

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Pre tor ius ,  good 

morn ing  eve rybody.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Good morn ing  DCJ.   Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I  be l ieve  you need to  dea l  w i th  

cer ta in  i ssues before  we beg in?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes be fo re  we –  yes be fore  we p roceed 

w i th  today ’s  bus iness,  I  jus t  want  to  dea l  w i th  a  mat te r  tha t  

as  qu i te  co r rec t l y  a t t rac ted  the  a t ten t ion  o f  the  pub l i c  and 10 

the  med ia  a  lo t .    

 P rev ious ly  I  de termined tha t  today up to  Fr iday 

wou ld  be  the  week when the  fo rmer  Pres ident  Mr  Jacob 

Zuma wou ld  appear  be fo re  th is  commiss ion .  

 He was not i f ied  thereof  and a f te r  some t ime h is  

a t to rneys wro te  to  the  commiss ion  and sa id  tha t  he  wou ld  

no t  be  appear ing  be fore  th is  commiss ion  dur ing  th is  week.  

 The reasons they gave inc lude tha t  he  was busy 

prepar ing  fo r  h i s  c r im ina l  t r ia l  tha t  h is  docto rs  have 

adv ised h im to  l im i t  h is  movements  because o f  h i s  age  and  20 

Cov id-19 and tha t  he  is  – he  was  seek ing  lega l  adv ice  on  

the  imp l ica t ions  o f  the  recen t  amendments  to  the 

Regu la t ions o f  th is  commiss ion .  

 I  do  no t  want  to  comment  a t  th is  s tage on h i s  

reasons fo r  dec id ing  tha t  he  wou ld  no t  appear  be fore  th is  



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 4 of 178 
 

commiss ion  th is  week.    

 The media  have  sent  a  number  o f  enqu i r i es  w i th  

regard  to  h im inc lud ing  a  quest ion  such as  whether  th i s  

commiss ion  w i l l  issue a  subpoena  to  compel  h im to  appear  

be fore  i t  and whether  there  are  o ther  da tes  wh ich  have  

been determined when he shou ld  appear.  

 S ince h is  a t to rneys in fo rmed the  commiss ion  tha t  

he  wou ld  no t  be  appear ing  th is  week in  o rder  fo r  the  

commiss ion  to  use i t s  t ime opt ima l ly  a r rangements  were  

made fo r  the  mat te r  tha t  we are  go ing  to  hear  th is  week to  10 

be  heard  th is  week.   Th is  was a  mat te r  tha t  was go ing  to  

be  heard  la te r  i n  the  year.   So the  commiss ion  had to  

rea r range i t s  p lans so  tha t  we cou ld  use th is  week proper ly  

wh ich  o therwise  wou ld  be  wasted.  

 I  dec ided a f te r  rece iv ing  –  the  commiss ion  had 

rece ived h i s  response th rough h i s  a t to rneys to  f i x  the  da te  

fo r  the  hear ing  o f  the  commiss ion  lega l  team’s  app l i ca t ion  

fo r  an  orde r  au thor is ing  the  issu ing  o f  a  summons aga ins t  

Mr  Zuma.  

 I  have dete rmined tha t  tha t  da te  w i l l  be  the  9 20 

October  a t  09 :00  am.   He and  h is  lawyers  have been  

in fo rmed tha t  un less  I  am sat is f ied  on  tha t  da te  tha t  there  

are  good grounds fo r  them not  to  appear  i f  they  do  not  

appear  tha t  app l i ca t ion  w i l l  p roceed w i thout  them.  

 They have been in fo rmed tha t  shou ld  they w ish  to  
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make use o f  a  v i r tua l  appearance before  the  commiss ion  

and i f  they  in fo rm the  commiss ion  t imeous ly  a r rangements  

w i l l  be  made fo r  them to  appear  v i r tua l l y  be fore  the  

commiss ion .   But  tha t  app l i ca t ion  w i l l  p roceed  w i th  o r  

w i thout  them un less  I  am sat is f i ed  tha t  there  are  good 

grounds fo r  them not  to  be  he re .  

 I  have a l so  de te rmined new dates  fo r  Mr  Zuma’s  

appearance before  the  commiss ion  s ince  becoming aware  

o f  the  le t te r  f rom h is  a t to rneys.   Those dates  are  16  to  20  

November  2020.   Those are  the  da tes  tha t  I  have  10 

determined.   I  know tha t  in  the i r  le t te r  they – h is  a t to rneys  

sa id  da tes  shou ld  be  negot ia ted  w i th  h im or  w i th  them.   No 

dates  w i l l  be  negot ia ted  w i th  them or  w i th  h im.    

 Th is  commiss ion  has made i t  c lear  to  the  a t to rneys 

who rep resented h im before  tha t  th is  commiss ion  does not  

negot ia te  da tes  w i th  w i tnesses.   The commiss ion  f i xes  the  

da tes  and peop le  are  supposed to  appear  and i f  they  have  

got  good  grounds fo r  no t  appear ing  then they make an  

app l i ca t ion  –  a  necessary  app l i ca t ion  and show tha t  they  

have got  good grounds.   And i f  I  am sat is f ied  tha t  they are  20 

good grounds o ther  da tes  w i l l  be  de termined.  

 But  we w i l l  no t  negot ia te  da tes  w i th  w i tnesses.   So 

the  pos i t ion  as  i t  s tands i s  the  app l i ca t ion  brought  by  the  

lega l  team o f  the  commiss ion  fo r  the  au tho r isa t i on  o f  a  

summons –  the  issu ing  o f  a  summons aga ins t  Mr  Zuma wi l l  
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p roceed on the  9  October  a t  09 :00  and the  da tes  o f  16  to  

20  November  2020 have been dete rmined fo r  h is  

appearance.  

 That  i s  a l l  I  wan ted to  say about  tha t  mat te r  and  

now we may proceed.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Thank  you Cha i r.   Cha i r  the  

ev idence contempla ted  fo r  th i s  week concerns mat te rs  

re la ted  to  the  Depar tment ’s  –  in  the  Free S ta te  dea l ing  w i th  

hous ing .   And in  par t i cu la r  a  ser ies  o f  events  t ha t  took  

p lace dur ing  2010 and 2011 concern ing  cer ta in  p re-10 

payments  over  ha l f  a  b i l l i on  Rand made to  supp l ie rs  in  

o rder  to  avo id  fo r fe i t ing  funds to  the  f i scus.  

 What  has been descr ibed as  a  f raudu len t  scheme o f  

payments  to  supp l ie rs  caus ing  great  p re jud i ce  and  loss  to  

the  depar tment?   And tha t  rea l l y  i s  the  focus  o f  the 

ev idence th is  week.  

 Now Cha i r  the  w i tnesses who w i l l  tes t i f y  w i l l  f i rs t l y  

be  Mr  Mokhes i  who came onto  the  scene la te r  than the  

re levant  per iod  bu t  b rought  an  app l i ca t ion  on  beha l f  o f  the  

depar tment  o r  the  depar tment  to  rev iew i t s  own dec is ions 20 

and tha t  app l i ca t i on  summar i ses most  o f  the  re levant  fac ts  

wh ich  are  common cause between a  number  o f  par t ies  –  

no t  a l l  the  par t ies  bu t  the  re levant  par t ies .   Mr  Mokhes i  w i l l  

take  you th rough the  events  Cha i r  to  dea l  w i th  the  mat te rs .  

 Mr  Mokoena was  the  Head o f  Depar tment  a t  the 
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t ime.   He w i l l  tes t i f y  to  cer ta in  i ssues and then a  Mr  

Mkhatshwa wi l l  a lso  tes t i f y  in  re la t i on  to  ce r ta in  i ssues.  

 But  Cha i r  there  have been a  number  o f  repor ts  and 

invest iga t ions in to  th is  mat te r.   The Spec ia l  Invest iga t ions 

Un ion  –  Un i t  have dea l t  w i th  the  mat te r.  There  have been 

fo rens ic  repor ts  –  the  number  o f  fo rens ic  repor t s  and there  

has been o f  course  the  app l i ca t ion  fo r  –  by  the  depar tment  

wh ich  invo lved a  great  dea l  o f  research  in to  the  events  tha t  

happened.  

 There  was a l so  a  very,  very  tho rough d i sc ip l ina ry  10 

inqu i ry  wh ich  is  the  focus o f  cer ta in  fac tua l  invest iga t ions  

tha t  have been conducted fo r  tha t  purpose and tha t  too  is  a  

mat te r  o f  record .  

 So Cha i r  i t  i s  no t  the  in ten t ion  o f  the  ev idence 

leaders  in  th is  mat te r  to  rehash a l l  those invest iga t ions i t  

wou ld  be  a  mat te r  o f  repet i t ion .  

 But  what  we wou ld  l i ke  to  do  w i th  your  leave Cha i r  

i s  focus on  two issues?  One is  the  issue o f  accoun tab i l i t y.   

Who was he ld  accountab le  fo r  what  happened and why 

were  cer ta in  peop le  no t  he ld  accountab le?   That  w i l l  be  the  20 

f i rs t  focus.  

 The second focus wou ld  be  to  show tha t  th is  

p repayment  scheme to  supp l ie rs  t ha t  was  dev i sed in  o rder  

to  a l low the  depar tment  to  spend over  a  ha l f  a  b i l l i on  Rand  

fo r  l i t t le  o r  no  va lue  under  a  –  what  has been te rmed by  
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the  cour t  in  the i r  app l i ca t ion  as  a  f raudu len t  scheme is  –  

took p lace w i th in  a  contex t  and tha t  contex t  was an ent i re l y  

i r regu lar  background o f  the  i r regu la r i t ies  in  re la t ion  to  

p rocu rement .    

 From the  s ta r t  in  2010 mat te rs  went  wrong or  

de l ibe ra te l y  were  caused to  go  wrong in  an  en t i re ly  

i r regu lar  scheme and tha t  i s  –  tha t  contex t  in  the  hous ing  –  

hous ing  se t t lements  –  Human Set t lements  Depar tment  w i l l  

be  p laced before  you.  

 Those two issues  impor tan t  as  they are  seemed to  10 

have rea l l y  escaped not ice  and wh i ls t  i t  i s  impor tan t  to  te l l  

the  who le  s to ry  fo r  the  purposes o f  the  commiss ion  wh ich  

we w i l l  do  i t  i s  those two issues upon wh ich  we w i l l  focus.  

 Cha i r  there  are  a  number  o f  bund les  tha t  have been  

prepared.   They conta in  the  s ta tements  o f  n ine  w i tnesses  

not  necessary  to  dea l  w i th  the  ev idence o f  a l l  n ine  

w i tnesses as  w i l l  become apparent .    

There  is  a  f i le  conta in ing  t ransc r ip ts  o f  the  

in te rv iews w i th  cer ta in  o f  the  w i tnesses.    

Then there  is  a  f i le  wh ich  dea ls  w i th  the  cour t  20 

proceed ings and conta ins  the  judgment  o f  a  fu l l  bench o f  

the  Free S ta te  D iv is ion .  

Then there  is  a  f i le  conta in ing  a  number  o f  fo rens ic  

repor ts  wh ich  i t  i s  no t  necessary  to  de ta i l  bu t  we w i l l  re fe r  

to  cer ta in  aspects  o f  those fo rens i c  repor t s .  
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And there  is  a  f i le  conta in ing  the  re levan t  

leg is la t ion  and p rescr ip ts  and then impor tan t ly  the re  is  a  

f i le  wh ich  conta ins  the  d isc ip l inary  records .   The fu l l  

d isc ip l ina ry  reco rd  wh ich  is  the re  then fo r  –  and the  

f ind ings 177 pages o f  f ind ings pa r ts  o f  wh ich  we w i l l  re ly  

on  as  we l l  Cha i r  to  comple te  the  p ic tu re  wh ich  wou ld  

o therwise  no t  be  comple te .   That  –  those reco rds are  

be fore  you fo r  purposes o f  the  commiss ion ,  subm iss ions,  

your  f ind ings Cha i r  and any o the r  purpose to  wh ich  they  

may be put  in  due course .  10 

And then s im i la r l y  to  the  Asbestos  mat te r  Cha i r  we 

have togethe r  w i th  the  invest iga tors  comp i led  an  

invest iga to rs  repor t  wh ich  se ts  ou t  f rom beg inn ing  to  end  

a l l  the  de ta i led  fac ts  wh ich  i s  the re  as  a  mat te r  o f  record  

aga in  fo r  submiss ions and the  f ina l  repor t .    I t  i s  suppor ted  

by  documentary  ev idence and aga in  i t  i s  no t  necessary  to  

go  th rough tha t .  

So Cha i r  i f  by  your  leave I  can jus t  dea l  w i th  a  few 

mat te rs  by  way  o f  open ing  and then summar i se  the  

impor tan t  events  to  wh ich  re fe rence w i l l  be  made in  20 

ev idence and then i f  we may dea l  w i th  the  ev idence o f  Mr  

Mokhes i  who b rought  the  app l i ca t ion  on  beha l f  o f  the 

depar tment  –  f o r  the  Depar tment  to  rev iew i t s  own 

dec is ions in  re la t ion  to  the  prepayments .  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  i s  in  o rde r.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Cha i r  the re  were  two app l i ca t ions  

or  perhaps s t i l l  a re  two app l i ca t ions fo r  c ross-examinat ion  

o f  Mr  Mokoena.    

 Mr  Mokoena the  HOD at  the  t ime  in  h is  s ta tement  

made cer ta in  a l legat ions concern ing  a  Mr  Mkhatshwa and  

Mr  Ko lo i .   They both  f i led  app l i ca t ions fo r  c ross-

examinat ion  bu t  a f te r  cor respondence w i th  the  a t to rneys 

and g iven the  ev idence tha t  i s  t o  be  led ,  they have put  

those app l i ca t ions on  ho ld .   So i t  i s  no t  necessary  to  dea l  

w i th  them a t  th is  s tage and they w i l l  in  a l l  p robab i l i t y  no t  10 

be  preceded w i th .  

 I  have dea l t  w i th  the  bund les  and documenta t ion  

tha t  i s  be fore  you and I  have dea l t  w i th  what  we w i l l  focus  

on  in  open ing  and in  the  ev idence.   The th ree  w i tnesses  

have been named and then a  Mr  Zwane who in  a  sense  

dev ised th is  scheme the  ev idence w i l l  be  –  i t  was  

apparent ly  and I  s t ress  the  word  apparent ly  no t  he ld  

accountab le  fo r  any o f  the  ou tcomes o f  tha t  scheme and i t s  

i l l ega l i t y  –  man i fes t  i l l ega l i t y  w i l l  be  asked to  exp la in  h is  

pos i t ion  in  re la t ion  to  tha t .  20 

 In  essence what  happened here  is  a  number  o f  

jun io r  employees  were  d isc ip l ined and I  say  jun io r  w i th  

respect  they were  no t  mere  funct ionar ies  they were  

o f f i c ia ls  o f  some sen io r i t y  bu t  the  peop le  who were  

u l t imate ly  respons ib le  fo r  the  scheme and i t s  
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imp lementa t ion  no  consequences fo l lowed.  

 Cha i r  the  –  the  background is  impor tan t  because i t  

i s  impor tan t  to  unders tand the  impropr ie t y  o f  the  

prepayment  scheme wi th in  i t s  p roper  contex t .  

 In  2010/2011 the re  were  ac tua l l y  regu lar  cont rac ts  

en tered in to  w i th  cont rac to rs .   And a t  a  s tage dur ing  tha t  

f inanc ia l  year  the  normal  p roper l y  p rocu red cont rac t s  were  

ready to  be  imp lemented.   Then there  came a  change the  

Premie r  a t  the  t ime Mr  Magashu le  dec ided tha t  there  wou ld  

be  a  change in  the  who le  sys tem,  b igger  houses wou ld  be  10 

bu i l t ,  d isputes  arose w i th  the  cont rac tors  and a  new tender  

p rocess had to  be  commenced.  

 The new tender  p rocess was indeed commenced 

dur ing  the  2010/2011 f inanc ia l  year.   But  what  happened  

was tha t  by  the  t ime the  b id  ad jud ica t ion  commi t tee  came 

to  cons ider  the  b ids  the  per iod  o f  va l id i t y  o f  the  tenders  

had exp i red .   Ins tead o f  regu lar is ing  the  pos i t ion  by  

ex tend ing  the  va l id i t y  o f  the  per iod  or  the  pe r iod  o f  va l id i t y  

o f  the  tenders  –  ins tead o f  s imp ly  regu lar is ing  tha t  and 

there  are  var ious  ways tha t  a re  requ i red  to  do  tha t  i t  was 20 

jus t  abandoned.  

 The –  those who  qua l i f ied  in  te rms o f  the  b ids  and  

those who were  d isqua l i f ied  inc lud ing  those who were  

dec la red incompetent  to  bu i ld  were  a l l  pu t  on  a  da ta  base.   

And tha t  da ta  base cer ta in  o f f i c ia ls  inc lud ing  Mr  Zwane the  
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ev idence w i l l  be  mere ly  se lec ted  who they wanted  to  –  to  

do  the  work .  

 So the  cont rac to rs  tha t  were  appo in ted  dur ing  th is  

who le  process who rece ived goods f rom the  supp l ie rs  

wh ich  accounts  were  p repa id  were  there  i r regu la r ly  in  the  

f i rs t  p lace .   Ins tead o f  go ing  th rough a  proper  tender  

p rocess the  re levant  depar tments  s imp ly  abandoned the  

process,  th rew i t  overboard  and put  qua l i f ied ,  d isqua l i f ied  

on  a  da ta  base and then jus t  sub jec t i ve ly  se lec ted  who  

they wanted to  appo in t .   Huge cont rac t  500 000 houses in  10 

Mun ic ipa l i t ies  in  the  Free S ta te .  

 So in  the  or ig ina l  p rocess Cha i r  361 b ids  were  

rece ived.   105 were  d i squa l i f ied  fo r  bas ic  b id  compl iance  

reasons;  no t  p roper l y  reg is te red,  no  tax  re tu rns  or  o ther  

fo rmal  reasons  but  impor tan t  reasons.   147 were  

d isqua l i f ied  because they d id  no t  meet  the  m in imum 

funct iona l i t y  th resho ld .   In  o ther  words,  were  no t  

competent  to  do  the  work .   There  were  109 who qua l i f ied .   

81  es tab l i shed cont rac tors  and 28 emerg ing  cont rac tors .   

That  was the  s i tua t ion  when the  who le  b idd ing  process was  20 

th rown overboard  because o f  the  –  exp i ry  o f  the  va l id i t y  

per iod .  

 So ins tead o f  re ins ta t ing  the  process and there  a re  

ways to  do  tha t  wh ich  w i l l  be  dea l t  w i th  Cha i r  a l l  those 

qua l i f ied  and d isqua l i f ied  were  pu t  on to  a  da ta  base and  
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then a t  the  d iscre t ion  o f  o f f i c ia ls  sub jec t i ve  d iscre t ion  o f  

o f f i c ia ls  peop le  were  appo in ted  to  do  work .  

 Of  cou rse ,  th is  had a la rm ing consequences a t  the  

end wh ich  i s  the  sub jec t  mat te r  repor ts .   Con t rac tors  

s imp ly  cou ld  no t  do  the  work .   They wa lked o f f  s i te .   

Mon ies  d isappeared and a l l  tha t  i s  the  sub jec t  o f  

invest iga t ion  in  due course .  

CHAIRPERSON:   And o f  cou rse  put t ing  the  serv ice  

prov iders  on  the  da ta  base imp l ies  tha t  as  fa r  as  the  

depar tment  i s  concerned they can  be g iven jobs.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Cor rec t .   So i t  opens the  door  fo r  

sub jec t i ve  a l loca t ion  o f  work .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  i t  i s  pu t t ing… 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A t  a  d iscre t ion  o f  an  o f f i c ia l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   And i f  you put  on to  the  da ta  base  se rv i ce  

prov iders  tha t  have been found  to be  incomp – no t  

competent  to  do  the  job  i t  means you cou ld  be  g i v ing  jobs  

to  serv ice  prov iders  who are  no t  competent  to  do  the  job .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I t  i s  exact ly  what  happened Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   In  fac t  the  ou tcome o f  th is  who le  

process began here .   I t  was d isas t rous fo r  those peop le  in  

the  Free S ta te  who needed hous ing  –  low cost  hous ing .   

There  was a  huge nat iona l  p ro jec t  fo r  the  deve lopment  o f  

low cost  hous ing  or ig ina l l y  and  in  i t s  concept ion  bu t  
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i ron ica l l y  i t  was  des igned to  avo id  m ismanagement  and  

cor rup t ion  bu t  tha t  i s  p rec i se ly  what  happened in  the  Free  

S ta te .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   So  the  f i r s t  in  the  2010/2011 year  

the  f i rs t  i ssue tha t  has rea l l y  no t  rece ived much a t ten t ion 

was tha t  the  foundat ions –  we l l  there  were  no t  ve ry  many 

foundat ions a t  the  end o f  the  day bu t  the  foundat ion  o f  the 

pro jec t  –  the  hous ing  pro jec t  was f raught  w i th  

i r regu lar i t ies .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Qu i te  s imp ly  a  who le  lo t  o f  qua l i f ied  

–  d isqua l i f ied  peop le  were  pu t  on  the  da ta  base and f rom 

tha t  da ta  base peop le  were  then se lec ted  sub jec t i ve l y  a t  

the  ins tance o f  par t i cu la r  o f f i c ia ls .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The deta i l  o f  how the  mat te r  shou ld  

have been regu la r ised w i l l  be  dea l t  w i th  in  ev idence Cha i r  

bu t  fo r  the  moment  su f f i ce  i t  to  say  tha t  i t  was not  a  lawfu l  

op t ion  s imp ly  to  abandon the  p rocess s imp ly  because a  20 

par t i cu la r  t ime pe r iod  had exp i red .    

 We wi l l  dea l  w i th  the  regu la tory  f ramework  

govern ing  bo th  t he  appo in tment  o f  cont rac tors  on  the  one 

hand and supp l ie rs  to  cont rac tors  on  the  o ther.   But  what  i s  

c lea r  f rom the  s ta r t  Cha i r  i s  ne i the r  cont rac tors  nor  
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supp l ie rs  o f  mater ia ls  to  cont rac tors  were  sub jec t  to  any  

compet i t i ve  b idd ing  p rocess wh ich  as  we have dea l t  w i th  in  

the  Asbestos  mat te r  i s  c lea r ly  un lawfu l  and inexcusab le .  

 So we w i l l  dea l  w i th  the  Sect ion  217 o f  The  

Const i tu t ion ;  we  w i l l  dea l  w i t h  the  Pub l ic  F inance 

Management  Act  Prov i s ions;  the  Treasury  Regu la t ions and  

we w i l l  dea l  w i th  the  d iv is ion  o f  Revenue Act .    

 Th is  money tha t  was a l loca ted  by  the  Nat iona l  

F i scus to  the  Free S ta te  fo r  the  const ruc t ion  o f  houses was 

a l loca ted  in  te rms o f  an  Act  co l loqu ia l l y  ca l led  DORA the  10 

D iv i s ion  o f  Revenue Act .    And tha t  ac t  i s  qu i te  exp l i c i t .   I t  

says  tha t  we are  go ing  to  a l loca te  money to  the  Prov ince 

fo r  a  par t i cu la r  express purpose in  th is  case the  

const ruc t ion  o f  low cost  hous ing .    

 The Act  i s  very  c lear  tha t  i f  any  o f  tha t  money is  to  

be  pa id  to  th i rd  par t ies  such as  cont rac tors  o r  supp l ie rs  i t  

has  to  be  done in  te rms o f  the  regu lar  p rocurement  p rocess 

–  open b idd ing  process wh ich  compl ies  w i th  the  Supp ly  

Cha in  Management  requ i rements  o f  the  Prov ince.   That  d id  

–  s imp ly  d id  no t  happen.  20 

 That  fac t  i t  i s  c lear  was concea led  f rom Nat iona l .   

So not  on ly  must  goods be procured o r  serv ices  be  

procured f rom th i rd  pa r t ies  in  acco rdance w i th  Supp ly  

Cha in  Management  Po l i cy  o r  P rocurement  Po l i cy  o f  the  

re levant  Prov ince and fo r  wh ich  adequate  documenta t ion  
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fo r  payment  has been rece ived.    

 So not  on ly  tha t  bu t  the  –  the  purpose must  be  

compl ied  w i th .   So i t  i s  on ly  fo r  hous ing  in  te rms o f  the  Act  

and in  accordance w i th  p roper  p rocedures.  

 But  then there  is  a  th i rd  p rov i s ion  wh ich  i s  

impor tan t  in  th is  case.   I t  says  you cannot  make advanced  

payments  to  anybody.   You have to  have rece ived the  

goods or  the  se rv ices  have to  have  been ver i f ied  and done  

before  you pay money out .   For  obv ious reasons to  avo id  

prec ise ly  what  happened in  the  Prov ince.  10 

 That  can on ly  happen in  two c i r cumstances  

accord ing  to  DORA.   The f i rs t  i s  the  Rece iv ing  O ff i cer  in  

the  Free S ta te  who rece ives the  money has cer t i f ied  to  the  

Nat iona l  Treasury  tha t  the  t ransfer  i s  no t  an  a t tempt  to  

a r t i f i c ia l l y  in f la te  i t s  spend ing  es t imates  and tha t  there  are  

good reasons fo r  the  advanced payment  o r  t ransfe r.    

 That  i t  i s  c lea r  on  the  depar tment ’s  own ve rs ion  

subsequent ly  was prec ise l y  the  purpose.   What  happened  

was tha t  by  –  towards the  end o f  the  f inanc ia l  year  the  

Free S ta te  had not  spent  ove r  a  b i l l i on  Rand o f  i t s  income 20 

and had to  dev ise  a  f raudu len t  scheme or  we l l  a  scheme 

wh ich  tu rned out  to  be  f raudu len t  in  o rder  to  spend tha t  

money.   And a l l  sor ts  o f  mechan isms were  dev ised to  

ensure  tha t  tha t  money cou ld  be  spent  comple te l y  i r regu la r  

schemes and tha t  w i l l  be  –  tha t  s to ry  w i l l  be  to ld  and  
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p laced before  you.  

 But  the  second th ing  is  tha t  Nat iona l  Treasury  mus t  

approve the  advanced payment .   I t  d id  no t  and in  fac t  i t  

was to ld  someth ing  comple te l y  d i f fe ren t  and tha t  –  that  

ev idence w i l l  be  p laced before  you.  

 So th is  scheme tha t  was dev i sed Cha i r  by  the  Free 

S ta te  Human Set t lements  Depar tment  in  o rder  to  spend the  

money before  the  year  end o therwise  the  money goes back 

to  Treasury  was  dev i sed a t  the  h ighest  leve l .   I t  was 

dev ised a t  the  leve l  o f  the  MEC in  a  War  Room – Mr 10 

Zwane.   He dev ised i t  and executed i t  and tha t  War  Room 

superv i sed the  execut ion  o f  the  scheme;  the  de ta i l  o f  wh ich  

w i l l  become c lear  in  the  ev idence o f  Mr  Mokhes i .  

 Not  on ly  d id  they dev i se  i t  bu t  they ignored  

warn ings f rom Na t iona l  tha t  th is  was i l l ega l  and shou ld  no t  

be  p roceeded w i th  and notw i ths tand ing  those warn ings the  

scheme was in  fac t  p roceeded.  

 The mat te r  was done w i thout  p roper  lega l  adv ice  

be ing  taken pe rhaps fo r  obv ious reasons because the  –  the  

adv ice  had a l ready been g iven  by  Nat iona l  tha t  th is  20 

scheme was i l l ega l  and on the  face  o f  i t  was man i fes t l y  

i l l ega l .  

 There  are  var ious e lements  o f  th is  scheme tha t  w i l l  

emerge in  ev idence.   Not  on l y  were  payments  made to  

supp l ie rs  be fore  goods were  even  supp l ied  bu t  payments  
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were  made to  supp l ie rs  and then on pa id  to  cont rac tors  as  

so  ca l led  br idg ing  f inance is  no t  the  bus iness o f  the  Human 

Set t lements  Depar tment  a t  a l l .   And then in  add i t ion  and in  

o rder  to  ensure  tha t  as  much money was spent  as  fas t  

poss ib le  re ta iner  agreements  re ten t ions wh ich  wou ld  be  

kept  back by  the  depar tment  to  compensate  fo r  work  poor ly  

done or  work  no t  done those r igh ts  were  abandoned  

ent i re ly.   So even the  re ta iner  amounts  were  pa id  ou t  

p remature ly.   Of  course ,  they had ser ious consequences 

because as mat ters turned out ,  the resul t  was al l  but  10 

hopeless and that  retent ion money was needed but  that  had 

been foregone to insure i t .   The detai ls of  that  wi l l  be put  

before you.  

 The agreements that  were entered into as part  of  the 

scheme, which the court  found to be a f raudulent  scheme, 

are qui te compl icated but  we wi l l  do our  best  to  explain them 

so that  they are accessible to those who have an interest  in 

fo l lowing i t .  

 But  essent ia l ly,  there were three levels of  cont ract .   The 

f i rst  is the cont ract  wi th the const ruct ion ent i ty,  the bui lder.   20 

That  cont ract  wi th  the bui lder was c lear in i ts terms, was on 

the face of  i t  regular  insofar as the contents of  the contract  

concerned.  

 We have already said that  the select ion was ent i re ly 

i r regular but  once the cont ract  was entered into,  i t  was the 
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duty of  the cont ractor to source the mater ia ls,  to pay for the 

mater ia ls,  to put  the mater ia ls into the bui ld ing.  

 And then on three mi lestones being achieved,  would 

invoice the department and the department would paid the 

contractors.   So the cont ract  in i tsel f  was,  on the face of  i t ,  

qui te regular.  

 But  in order to spend the money before the year-end 

because,  of  course,  these bui ld ings would only be 

constructed and these mi lestones would only be reached in 

the next  f inancial  year,  but  the money had to spend in the 10 

2010/2011 year,  a scheme was devised to pay suppl iers 

upfront  even before goods were del ivered to the bui lders.  

 So a scheme was devised to pay the suppl iers sums of  

money.   With that  money,  the suppl iers not  only paid 

“br idging f inance” to the cont ractors,  which was not  the 

business of  the Housing Set t lement  Department Fraud.  

 But  the suppl iers would enter into agreements wi th  the 

department to receive monies and eventual ly to  del iver  

goods but  those were al l  prepayments.   R 600 mi l l ion Chair  

was spent  in th is . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    That  way. . .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    . . . f raudulent  way.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  the whole idea was to avoid a 

si tuat ion whereby the end of  the f inancial  year  the 

department had not  used this money for housing? 
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ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So there had to be. . .  a scheme had to be 

arranged in  terms of  which i t  would be appear as i f  they had 

used the money properly . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Properly  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . for housing.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  actual ly,  they had not  used the money 

properly.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Correct .   And that  was the essence 10 

of  the f raud found by the high court .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So the quest ion is,  who was 

accountable for  that  and how did accountabi l i ty  fo l low?  The 

facts which I  have just  related Chair  are in a sense common 

cause.    

 Mr McKenzie was the deponent to the founding aff idavi t  

where these facts were placed before the court  and they are 

ful ly set  out  and we wi l l  go through them in some detai l  and 

t ry and unravel  them.  They are qui te  elaborate in some 20 

ways but  qui te clumsy in other ways.    

 So for example,  in  order to make th is appear regular and 

in order to provide documentat ion to the Provincial  Treasury 

on which monies could pay out ,  there was a scheme that  

took some t ime to. . .  for  the legal  team to understand,  let  
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a lone communicate sensible to anybody else Chai r,  which I  

wi l l  at tempt to do,  of  sessions entered into.  

 So what. . .  there had to be a paper t ra i l  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Were those sessions spel t  wi th  an s-e-s-s-

i -o-n-s? [ laughing]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  somet imes i t  is spel t  wi th a C 

but  you wi l l  see Chair  that  r ight  up to the end they are spel t  

wi th an s and that  is. . .  I  suppose not  to give them the 

qual i f icat ion of  a real  cession.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    But  you wi l l  recal l  Chai r  that  we 

pointed out  that  the. . .  any claim by the bui lder against  the 

department would only ar ise when a mi lestone was reached 

which would probably be in the fol lowing f inancial  year.  

 But  what the scheme was devised whereby that  c la im 

against  the department or mater ia ls as part  of  the work was 

seeded through the suppl ier.    

 Of  course,  there was no such p lan upon which the 

suppl ier then as part  of  the prepayment  scheme invoiced the 

department and got  paid i ts money.  20 

 And of  course,  even further,  qui te  i ronical ly,  of  course 

there would no claim because the suppl ier had al ready been 

paid by the t ime the cession came to operate but  i t  is  

compl icated now and t ry to explain i t  proper ly in due course.  

 But  that  whole scheme of  cessions was the thi rd layer of  
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agreements which were ent i re ly nonsensical  in a way.   Then 

of  course Chai r,  there were two other methods devised for 

get t ing r id of  money quick ly.  

 The Free state Housing Set t lement  Department became 

involved in the job of  br idging f inance.   And i t  emerged in  the 

invest igat ions that  what the suppl iers were doing wi th the 

monies they received is they were handing i t  on through the 

bui lders before anything had happened as part  of  br idging 

f inance.  

 That  is deal t  wi th  in a certain way and I  wi l l  deal  wi th i t  10 

wi th Mr Mokhesi  who descr ibes that  whole scheme as qui te 

f rankly bizarre and uses those part icular words.  

 And then of  course the abandonment of  the r ight  of 

retent ion.   I f  the department has got  5% of  al l  the 

expendi ture on construct ion i t  needs that  money and in  

part icular ly needed in th is case to remedy defect .  

 But  decided because we need to spend this money,  we 

are going to pay that  money and not  rely on the retent ion.   

So that  money was also part  of  the scheme.   

 That  does not  ar ise out  of  the appl icat ion.   That  came 20 

out  of  further invest igat ions but  that  wi l l  be deal t  wi th.   I t  

was deal t  wi th in the disc ipl inary inqui ry.    

 So Chai r,  there are a number of  invest igat ions too that  

have taken p lace.    

 The Commission simply would not  have the capaci ty  to  
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go into hundreds and hundreds of  individual  cont racts to 

show why those part icular persons benef i ted on an i r regular 

and unlawful  basis f rom the dist r ibut ion of  monies in haste 

dur ing the 2010/2011 f inancial  year.  

 But  we wi l l  h igh l ight  some matters which have been 

highl ighted in the invest igat ions and which requi re 

invest igat ion and Mr Mkhatshwa wi l l  g ive evidence in re lat ion 

to certain of  the matters that  concerned him.  

 He was,  in fact ,  re lat ively low down in the senior i ty  

hierarchy but  he was one of  the people that  were dismissed.  10 

 I t  is stated Chair  that  there and qui te interest ingly,  and 

perhaps a matter  of  concern in i tsel f ,  were. . .  there was an 

overdose of  forensic reports in th is matter.   

 The Audi tor General ,  qu i te properly of  course,  conducted 

i ts invest igat ion and report .   There was an ent i ty cal led Open 

Waters Advanced Risk Solut ion that  was employed to 

conduct  forensic audi ts.  

 The Specia l  Invest igat ions Uni t  d id i ts own.  Nurcha (n-

u-r -c-h-a) Finance Company Limited did an expensive 

invest igat ion as wel l .  20 

 And the outcome of  al l  that  has yet  to be real ised.   That  

in i tsel f  is a matter of  concern.   How matters are 

invest igated,  who is  appointed to  invest igate matters and 

what is the outcome of  that .   And we wi l l  deal  wi th that  

submissions in due course.  
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 So Chai r  that  is a very br ief  overview of  the evidence 

that  wi l l  be lead and i f  we may take you through the 

appl icat ion that  was brought subsequent ly through that  

ser ies of  events by the department i tsel f  and Mr Mokhesi  wi l l  

hopeful ly help us in that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   No,  that  is  f ine.   Does that  mean he 

is ready to be sworn in? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  please.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Before that  is done.   I  d id not  deal  

ear l ier on wi th a matter that  I  should have deal t  wi th  when I  10 

responded to some media queries wi th regard to Mr Zuma.   

 I  th ink the media queries at  di fferent  t imes have been 

about his appearance before the Commission but  also about  

the fact  that  he has not  f i led any aff idavi t  before the 

Commission to help the Commission put  his side of  the story.   

I  d id not  deal  wi th  the last  part .    

 I  just  want to deal  wi th that  immediately because i t  is in 

the publ ic interest  that  the publ ic knows what is happening,  

part icular ly about  somebody who was president  of  the 

count ry.    20 

 And I  just  want to say that  towards the end of  August  I  

issued a di rect ive in terms of  Regulat ion 10(6)  of  the 

regulat ions of  th is Commission,  compel l ing Mr Zuma to 

depose to an aff idavi t  or declarat ion to answer certain  

matters relat ing to Eskom with special  reference to the 
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aff idavi ts submit ted by Mr Zola Tsotsi ,  who was chai rperson 

of  Eskom at  some stage,  as wel l  as,  the aff idavi t  of  Mr Nick 

Linnel l  wi th regard to a part icular meet ing that  they both said 

had been held in Mr Zuma’s off ic ia l  res idence in  Durban 

where,  according to them, had a discussion relat ing to the 

removal  of  certain execut ives at  Eskom was discussed or a 

discussion took p lace relat ing to the removal  or suspension 

or certain execut ives.   That  was towards the end of  August .    

 And I  have issued another 10(6)  di rect ive against  Mr 

Zuma in regard to another matter.   The Commission might  10 

not  compel  him to respond to al l  the aff idavi ts that  have 

been f i led but  certainly  there are certain aff idavi ts that  the 

Commission bel ieves are very important  for him to deal  wi th 

and in regard to those as the legal  team makes a request  for  

me to issue d irect ives to him to submit  aff idavi ts.    

 I  wi l l  consider those requests and make a decision on 

the basis of  each appl icat ion or  request .   I  thought  I  must  

just  add this because I  d id not  deal  wi th i t  ear l ier on and i t  is 

a matter that  the publ ic has an interest  on.   Yes.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   Chai r,  before 20 

proceeding wi th the ev idence of  Mr Mokhesi .   He is  legal ly 

represented.   May his counsel  place themselves on record? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  yes sure.  

COUNSEL :    May i t  p lease you Chairperson.   I  appear on 

behal f  of  Mr Mokhesi  together wi th my learned jun ior,  Mr 
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Manye(?),  instructed by Ms Bhavani  Miranjani  of  the State 

At torney,  Bloemfontein.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

COUNSEL :    We understand he is merely a wi tness and I  

doubt  that  you wi l l  hear f rom me again . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

COUNSEL :    . . . in th is matter.   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.   Okay.   Administer the oath or 

furnish,  please.  

REGISTRAR :    P lease state your fu l l  names for the record.  10 

WITNESS :    Nthimotse Mokhesi .  

REGISTRAR :    Do you have any object ion in taking the 

prescr ibed oath? 

WITNESS :    No,  I  do not .  

REGISTRAR :    Do you consider the oath to  be binding on 

your conscience? 

WITNESS :    Yes,  I  do.  

REGISTRAR :    Do you swear that  the evidence you are 

about to give,  wi l l  be the t ruth,  the whole t ruth and nothing 

else but  the t ruth?  I f  so,  please raise your r ight  hand and 20 

say,  so help me God.  

WITNESS :    So help me God.  

NTHIMOTSE MOKHESI :   (d.s.s. )  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.   You may be seated Mr 

Mokhesi .    
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EXAMINATION BY ADVOCATE PRETORIUS SC :    Morning,  

Mr Mokhesi .  

MR MOKHESI :    Morning.  

CHAIRPERSON :    We are happy that  you are back Mr 

Mokhesi .    

MR MOKHESI :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Mr Pretor ius,  are you only going to 

deal  wi th the housing matter in regard to him at  th is stage 

and deal  wi th the remainder of  his  evidence relat ing to the 

asbestos matter on another day?  Or are you . . . [ intervenes]   10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  Chair  that  is the intent ion.   Mr 

Mpho did appear th is morning.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    In the expectat ion that  Mr Mokhesi  

would also be deal ing wi th asbestos matters.   Unfortunately,  

in our preparat ions we were not  in a posi t ion to deal  wi th  

both matters today.   Al ternat ive arrangements wi l l  then be 

made in consul ta t ion wi th Mr Mpho, the at torneys and Mr 

Mokhesi .   But  I  can give Mokhesi  the assurance that  that  

per iod of  quest ion ing wi l l  be very short .    20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And i t  could take place ei ther  

Monday or Tuesday next  week.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    A l l  part ies or even other 
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ar rangements could be made.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Wel l ,  you just  sat  in consul tat ion 

wi th Mr Mpho.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   Af ter consul tat ion wi th Mr 

Mpho.  

CHAIRPERSON :    When I  just  said we do not  negot ia te dates 

wi th lawyers and their  c l ients,  wi tness and thei r  c l ients.   

[ laughing]   Okay a lr ight .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    A l though . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I f  i t  is short  not ice,  we can talk because i t  10 

is short  not ice but  i f  i t  is reasonable not ice. . .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   Unfortunately,  we d id 

inconvenience Mr Mpho.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   [ laughing]   Yes.   Okay al r ight .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    But  that  wi l l  be sorted out  in the 

spi r i t  of  col legial i ty and i t  wi l l  be af ter consul tat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  as I  say,  i f  they are given 

reasonable not ice,  there is no need but  i f  you seek have 

short  not ice then i t  is understandable.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Because they wi l l  compla in of  short  

not ice.   But  i f  they are given reasonable not ice,  then there is  

no need because,  otherwise,  we would never get  anything 

done i f  we got  to negot iate dates wi th lawyers and 

wi tnesses.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I  understand Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    But  Mr Mokhesi ’s other evidence should 

be deal t  wi th pret ty soon.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  i t  wi l l  be Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I t  must  be and . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I f  at  a l l  possible.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    . . . I  th ink that  at  least  is 10 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Next  week i f  at  a l l  possible.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  you wi l l  have a look.   Okay alr ight .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Mr Mokhesi ,  there is a f i le FS14.  Is 

that  the f i le in f ront  of  you? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  FS14.  

CHAIRPERSON :    This f i le Mr Pretor ius,  I  guess should be 

marked Bundle FS14? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Your. . .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Or not? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  i t  should be.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    That  is the f i le marked Court  

Proceedings.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Sorry? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Is that  the f i le marked Court  

Proceedings? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I t  should be.   I f  i t  has not ,  that  was 

part  of  the . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    . . . f i le that  were given this morning.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  ja.   Okay bundle. . .  i t  wi l l  be referred to 

as Bundle FS14.  That  is the f i le marked Court  Proceedings,  10 

Exhibi t  UU11.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   I  understand,  and 

there is no dispute about th is Mr Mokhesi ,  that  dur ing 2013 

the Free State Department of  Human Sett lements brought an 

appl icat ion before the High Court  in Bloemfontein to  review 

and set  aside cer tain contracts that  had been entered into 

wi th a number of  suppl iers.   In fact ,  a 106 of  them. 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And you were instrumental  in doing 

the necessary invest igat ion and research,  reading the 20 

necessary documentat ion in preparing the papers for that  

appl icat ion.    

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  I  was.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I f  you would please go to page 95.   

You wi l l  see Mr Mokhesi  and you are fortunately an o ld hand 
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at  th is,  that  there are two numbers,  two sets of  numbers at  

the top of  each page.  We wi l l  be deal ing wi th the black 

numbers in the top lef t -hand corner.    

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  I  am on page 95.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Now that  is a founding aff idavi t .   I f  

you would go to page 173,  please.   At  the bot tom of  that  

page,  whose signature is that? 

MR MOKHESI :    Ja,  that  is my signature.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Is that  the founding aff idavi t  then 

that  was brought dur ing these cour t  proceedings at tested to  10 

by yoursel f?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And i t  appears f rom page 95 to page 

174.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  i t  is.   That  is the one.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    The not ice of  mot ion appears before 

that  af ter div ider  2.   One can ignore the summons 

proceedings in the f i rst  d iv ider.   But  i f  one could go to page 

60.1,  please.    

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  I  am on 60.1.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And that  was the appl icat ion to 

rev iew and set  as ide the agreement wi th suppl iers l isted as 

respondents,  a 106 of  them.  And to set  aside the decisions 

made by the Free State Department of  Human Sett lements to  

make the payments l isted in Annexure 3 to the not ice.   Is 
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that  correct? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  that  is correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Right .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry,  Mr Pretor ius.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You say page 60 point  something? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    60.1? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  does not  look l ike I  have got  60.1.   I  10 

have got  61.   And at  61 is the l ist  of  respondents.   That  is 

Annexure 1 to the not ice of  mot ion.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    A lr ight  Chai r.   May I . . .  there is  a  

div ider marked 2.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    A cardboard divider.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    The f i rst  page af ter that  div ider,  may 

I  ask what page. . .?  

CHAIRPERSON :    61.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    61? 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  I t  is supposed to be 60.1? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    60.1.   Is that  60.1 or 61? 

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  is 61.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Wel l ,  then i t  is  the incorrect  page.   
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Chai r,  perhaps this is a . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    A mistake.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I  may run for cover.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   [ laughing]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And we wi l l  return af ter the short  

adjournment? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .   Let  us take the tea 

adjournment and we give you a chance to have this at tended 

to.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    We adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  i t  looks  l i ke  the  pag ina t ion  has 

been cor rec ted .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  fo r  the  present ,  thank you,  

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   Le t  us  cont inue then.   I f  you 

wou ld  go  to  page 60.1  p lease,  Mr  Mokhes i  o f  FS14.  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja ,  I  am on page 60.1 .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    That  i s  the  no t ice  o f  mot ion  

preced ing  the  a f f idav i t  to  wh ich  we have jus t  re fe r red  the  

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  Mr Pretor ius,  there  is  qu i te  

some no ise  I  th ink  f rom the  a i r  con wh ich  was not  there 
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be fore  tea  a t  leas t  I  d id  no t  no t ice  tha t .   I t  looks  l i ke  qu i te  

–  i t  i s  loud.   D id  anybody ask  fo r  i t  to  be  pu t  on?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  d id .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  you d id .    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  i t  can  be put  o f f ,  we wou ld  

warned tha t  i t  wou ld  be  no isy.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   I t  seems qu i te  –  I  do  no t  know i f  

there  i s  a  way o f  reduc ing  the  sound so  tha t  i t  i s  no t  too  

no isy.   I  th ink  somebody w i l l  look  a t  tha t .   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  thank you,  Cha i r.   Otherwise  10 

we cou ld  jus t  have i t  on  dur ing  the  breaks.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    That  m ight  be  a  way o f  so l v ing  the  

prob lem but  i t  i s  p re t ty  ho t  down here .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   No,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  we w i l l  jus t  have to 

see how we s t r i ke  the  ba lance.   I  do  no t  want  you  to  fee l  

too  ho t .   Okay,  a l r igh t ,  I  th ink  they have reduced i t .   That  

shou ld  be  f ine .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Mr  Mokhes i ,  

tha t  i s  the  no t ice  o f  mot ion  about  wh ich  we have been  20 

speak ing ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And i t  seeks to  se t  as ide  cer ta in  

agreements  w i th  persons l i s ted  in  the  annexure  o f  106 

cont rac t ing  par t ies  and i t  a l so  seeks to  se t  as ide  dec i s ions 
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o f  the  Free State Depar tment  o f  Human Set t lements  to  

make payments  in  te rms o f  those agreements ,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The date  o f  tha t  no t ice  o f  mot ion ,  I  

d id  re fe r  to  a  document  da ted  2013 but  th is  app l i ca t ion  was 

brought ,  as  I  unders tand i t ,  in  2016.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Some years  a f te r  t he  events  in  

quest ion  wh ich  took p lace in  2010 and 2011.    10 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I f  one cou ld  go  p lease to  FS14 a t  

page 96.   

MR MOKHESI :    Page 96?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  parag raph 4 .   Do you have  

tha t?    

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   There  you se t  ou t  the  sources o f  

the  in fo rmat ion  re l ied  upon by  you in  th is  a f f idav i t .     

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Many o f  those sources are  no t  a  

mat te r  o f  g rea t  cont rove rsy,  they may be in  cer ta in  cases 

in  re la t ion  to  cer ta in  person but  genera l l y  speak ing ,  those  

are  the  fac ts  upon wh ich  you re l ied .   Would  you te l l  the  

Cha i r  p lease wha t  you re l ied  on  fo r  the  prepara t ion  o f  th is  
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a f f idav i t?  

MR MOKHESI :    F i r s t ,  as  I  have ind ica ted  i n  my a f f idav i t ,  

the  th ing ,  the  d isc ip l inary  reco rds  because I  th ink  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  process was comple ted  around about  tha t  t ime,  

2016,  and a lso  the  –  ja ,  the  f ind ings as we l l  as  the  S IU 

f ind ing  in  respec t  o f  our  communica t ion .   A lso  tak ing  in to  

cons idera t ion ,  Cha i r,  tha t  the  repor t  o f  the  S IU is  a repor t  

o f  the  Pres ident .   However,  in  the  process we have been  

work ing  togethe r  w i th  the  S IU and a lso  ge t t ing  some 

in fo rmat ion  o f  wh ich  made us  to  re ly  on  th is  –  fo r  us  to  10 

compi le  th is  mot ion .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A l r igh t ,  we w i l l  ta lk  about  the  S IU 

repor t  in  due course ,  b r i e f l y,  bu t  jus t  fo r  the  reco rd ,  Cha i r,  

the  t ranscr ip t  o f  the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  re l ied  up  by  Mr  

Mokhes i  i s  in  bund le  FS16,  17 ,  18  and 19.   The f ind ings 

are  i n  bund le  FS19 a t  page 612 to  page 788 and the  S IU  

repor t  i s  in  bund le  FS15 a t  page 384,  i t  i s  a  repor t  da ted  

August  2015.    

Sub jec t  to  tha t  and as  fa r  as  you are  aware  are  the  

fac ts  conta ined in  th is  a f f idav i t  t rue  and cor rec t?  20 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    O f  course  many o f  the  fac ts  tha t  

a re  conta ined in  th is  a f f idav i t  were  summar ised in  heads o f  

a rgument  wh ich  we a l so  have ava i lab le ,  Cha i r,  p repared on 

the  bas is  o f  the  papers  by  Adv Bud lender  and those fac ts  
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were  found by  the  cour t ,  Poh l  AJ,  la rge ly  to  be  re l iab le  and  

cor rec t .   Do I  unders tand tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And we w i l l  dea l  w i th  h is  judgment  

inso fa r  as  i t  i s  re levant  in  due course ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Now we have to ld  the  Cha i r  tha t  

the  events  re levant  to  your  ev idence today,  Mr  Mokhes i ,  

took  p lace in  the  2010/2011 f inanc ia l  year  w i th in  t he  Free 

State Depar tment  o f  Human Set t lements .  10 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  co r rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Who was the  head o f  depar tment  o f  

Free State Human Set t lements  a t  the  t ime? 

MR MOKHESI :    I t  was Mr  Mokoena.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And who was the  MEC fo r  Human 

Set t lements  in  the  Free State Prov ince a t  the  t ime?  

MR MOKHESI :    I t  was MEC Zwane .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I f  one cou ld  go  p lease to  

parag raph 8 ,  i f  I  may jus t  pu t  tha t  on  record .   In  paragraph 

7 ,  jus t  by  way o f  in t roduct ion ,  you  say in  the  a f f idav i t  tha t  20 

th is  app l i ca t ion  a r ises  f rom a  se t  o f  agreements  conc luded 

in  la te  2010 and ear l y  2011 between the  depar tmen t  and a 

number  o f  bu i ld ing  cont rac tors  and supp l ie rs  o f  bu i ld ing  

mater ia l s  and to  payments  made by  the  depar tmen t  to  the 

supp l ie rs .   I s  tha t  a  cor rec t  summary o f  the  app l i ca t i on?  
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MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Or  the  sub jec t  mat te r  o f  the  

app l i ca t ion .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  tha t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wou ld  you  ra ise  your  vo ice ,  Mr  

Mokhes i?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And then you exp la in  in  pa rag raph  

8 ,  the  ag reements  re la te  to  the  const ruc t ion  o f  low cost  

hous ing  in  the  Free State Prov ince .   

“The depar tmen t  rece ived a  l a rge  cond i t iona l  10 

fund ing  a l loca t ion  f rom Nat iona l  Treasury  to  bu i ld  

low cost  hous ing . ”  

That  i s  a  cor rec t  s ta tement  o f  fac t ,  I  unders tand.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do ra ise  your  vo ice ,  Mr  Mokhes i .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And the  leg is la t ion  wh ich  governed 

tha t  fund ing  a l loca t ion  f rom Nat iona l  Treasury  was the  

app l i cab le  D iv is ion  o f  Revenue Act ,  DORA,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  20 

MR MOKHESI :    Cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You cont inue in  the  a f f idav i t  to  say :  

“The agreements  fo rm par t  o f  a  f raudu len t  scheme 

wh ich  was conce ived by  the  depar tment  to  d isbu rse  

very  substant ia l  sums o f  money main ly  to  the  
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supp l ie rs  in  o rde r  to  avo id  the  funds becoming a  so-

ca l led  unspent  cond i t iona l  a l loca t ion  and the re fore  

rever t ing  to  the  Nat iona l  Revenue Fund. ”  

I s  tha t  a  cor rec t  s ta tement  o f  fac t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wou ld  you exp la in  i t  p lease to 

…[ in tervenes]  

MR MOKHESI :    Th is  a lso  I  must  a lso  be  very  care fu l  

because not  eve ry th ing  tha t  looks l i ke  f raud is  f raud and  

a lso  to  –  because the  so le  pu rpose o f  th is  a f f idav i t  a lso  10 

tak ing  in to  cons idera t ion  tha t  the  S IU was a l so  on  i t ,  was 

rea l l y  to  t ry  and p lea(?)  w i th  the  cour t  to  g ive  us  a  

favourab le  judgment  to  recover  the  money.   So tha t  was 

rea l l y  the  who le  purpose o f  th is  cou r t  p roceed ing  in  the  

main .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  i f  –  you s imp ly  have to  descr ibe  

mat te rs  as  you be l ieve  them,  genu ine ly  be l ieve  them to  be  

so .   I f  you  genu ine ly  be l ieve  tha t  th is  was f raud.   That  i s  

what  you say.   I t  may be tha t  you are  m is taken but  i f  tha t  i s  

your  genu ine  be l ie f ,  tha t  i s  what  you say.   I f  you  do not  20 

genu ine ly  be l ieve  so ,  you do not  say  so ,  you do not  say  

you be l ieve  i t  to  be  f raud.   I f  you  say i t  appears  to  me to  

be  f raudu len t ,  tha t  i s  what  you say.   So I  am jus t  exp la in ing  

tha t  …[ in te rvenes ]  

MR MOKHESI :    Okay.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    . . .because I  seem to  de tec t  tha t  you  

th ink  tha t  there  may be aspects  in  the  a f f idav i t  where  

maybe you put  s ta tements  in  a  cer ta in  way and you jus t  

want  i t  to  be  unders tood in  a  cer ta in  contex t .   Or  Mr 

Pretor ius may be put t ing certa in proposi t ions to you and you 

are not  sure whether they – i t  is  something you can agree to 

complete ly or whether you need to qual i fy i t .   So I  am just 

expla in ing that  in the end whatever you say must ref lect  what 

you genuinely bel ieve to be the posi t ion. 

MR MOKHESI :    I  th ink what I  can say with utmost 10 

commitment i t  is  that  they were i rregular in that  way because 

in the manner that they were done, you know, and one cannot 

conclusively say i t  is  f raud because, you know, my adviser a lso 

informed that , you know, there must be an element, an proven 

element of  intent ion as wel l .   I t  certa in ly looked l ike that  but,  

you know… 

CHAIRPERSON:    You are qui te enti t led to say th is is how i t  

looks to you or this is how i t  looked to you at  the t ime.  You 

are qui te ent i t led to say wel l ,  i t  looked l ike that  at  the t ime but 

s ince then I have had an opportuni ty to ref lect ,  I  do not th ink i t  20 

looks l ike that .   So nobody wants you to say something that 

you do not  genuinely bel ieve to be t rue.   Okay? 

MR MOKHESI :    Okay. 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  so as Mr Pretor ius puts quest ions to 

you,  just  bear that  in mind.   Okay.  Mr Pretor ius? 
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l ,  le t  us  dea l  w i th  tha t  b r ie f l y.   

We wi l l  ge t  in to the  de ta i l  in  due course  as  to  why you  

wou ld  have sa id  i n  th is  a f f idav i t  i t  was a  f raudu len t  scheme 

and i t  sa id  more  than once,  Mr  Mokhes i .   Why the  judge 

wou ld  have found i t  a  f raudu len t  scheme and why your  

counse l  p resented ex tens i ve  heads o f  a rgument  desc r ib ing  

the  scheme wh ich  was f raudu len t .   That  scheme,  what  was 

i t s  purpose?  

MR MOKHESI :   I t  i s  ma in ly  –  I  th ink  as  you have a l so  

ar t i cu la ted ,  i t  was one meant  to  spend the  money because 10 

i t  came up –  I  am in fo rmed tha t  a t  tha t  par t i cu la r  t ime the  

depar tment  –  I  th ink  expend i tu re  o f  the  depar tment  was  

around about  10% and the re  was issues o f  concern  tha t  

they w i l l  no t  be  in  the  pos i t ion  to  spend the  money,  a  fu l l  

a l loca t ion  by  the  end o f  the  year.   So i t  came as a  resu l t  o f  

tha t  to  t ry  and spend what  has  been a l loca ted  because  

there  was a lso  –  i t  came c lear  tha t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  i t  you r  ana lys i s  o f  what  happened,  

tha t  the  purpose was to  avo id  th is  money be ing  taken back  

to  Nat iona l  Revenue Fund,  the  Na t iona l  Revenue Fund i f  i t  20 

had not  been spent  by  the  end o f  the  f inanc ia l  yea r?  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja ,  o rd ina r i l y  i t  w i l l  be  rea l loca ted to  o ther  

p rov inces,  tha t  i s  what  o rd ina r i l y  happens.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  ja ,  so  bas ica l l y  o rd inar i l y  the  

prov ince wou ld  fo r fe i t  the  funds tha t  had not  been spent .  
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MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  a  ce r ta in  po r t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    A cer ta in  por t ion .  

MR MOKHESI :    And i t  w i l l  be  a l loca ted  and rea l loca ted to  

o ther  p rov inces.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Who are  spend ing ,  and tha t  i s  how 

normal ly  i t  works .   

CHAIRPERSON:    And what  must  happen be fore  the  

prov ince fo r fe i t s  such money?  What  i s  requ i red  to  have  

happened before  the  prov ince  [ inaudible – speaking 10 

simultaneously]  

MR MOKHESI :    Wel l ,  there  w i l l  be  repor ts  tha t  a re  

presented to  –  o f  a l l  the  prov inces in  te rms o f  where  they  

are ,  how much they have spent  up  to  par t i cu la r  po in t .   

Normal l y  a f te r  ha l f  year  you are  expected a t  leas t  to  be  as  

c lose  as  poss ib le  to  50% and the  pro jec ts  tha t  a re  runn ing  

and the  leve l  o f  commi tments  tha t  you have.   And then you 

are  g i ven an oppor tun i ty  to  say par t i cu la r ly  fo r  those who 

are  under  spend ing .    

Then you are  g iven an oppor tun i ty  to  make a  case 20 

as  to  why your  a l loca t ion  or  cer ta in  funds shou ld  no t  be 

taken away f rom yourse lves and rea l loca ted e l sewhere .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wou ld  i t  be  cor rec t  to  say as  a  prov ince 

or  a  depar tment  you wou ld  fo r fe i t  those funds or  a  por t ion  

o f  those funds i f  e i ther  i t  i s  Nat iona l  Treasury  or  Nat iona l  
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Depar tment ,  I  do  no t  know wh ich  one,  conc ludes tha t  you 

have fa i led  to  spend the  funds  su f f i c ien t ly  du r ing  tha t  

f inanc ia l  yea r  fo r  the  purpose fo r  wh ich  they were  a l loca ted  

to  you?  

MR MOKHESI :    Wi l l  be  co r rec t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wou ld  i t  be  cor rec t  to  say as  a  

depar tment  you wou ld  fo r fe i t  such funds or  a  po r t ion  o f  

such funds i f  e i ther  i t  i s  the  Nat iona l  Treasury  or  the  

Nat iona l  Depar tment ,  I  do  no t  know wh ich  one,  you wou ld  

know,  conc ludes tha t  you,  as  a  depar tment ,  have fa i led  to  10 

su f f i c ien t ly  spend  the  funds tha t  were  a l loca ted  to  you fo r  

the  purpose fo r  wh ich  they were  a l loca ted  to  you? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  you w i l l  fo r fe i t  –  two s tages –  you  

know,  the  f i rs t  par t  i s  a  repor t  p rov inces tha t  have not  

spent  o r  tha t  have not  reached a  spec i f i c  m i les tone in  the i r  

expend i tu re  w i l l  then be ident i f ied .   You know,  i t  can  be 

one or  two,  a  number  o f ,  and those prov inces w i l l  then 

have to  make a  sor t  o f  a  recovery  p lan .   Expend i tu re  

recovery  p lan  tha t  w i l l  ind ica te ,  fo r  example ,  how you 

wou ld  be  –  how you wou ld  recover  and,  you know,  be  on  20 

t rack  w i th  the  res t  and tha t  i s  in fo rmed by  the  pro jec ts  tha t  

a re  runn ing  and w i th  a l l  tha t  in fo rmat ion ,  then the  Nat iona l  

Depar tment  w i l l  e i ther  say  no ,  we agree w i th  you o r  no ,  we  

do not  agree w i th  you and the re fore  we are  tak ing  money 

anyway.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    And a l loca te ,  you  know? 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

MR MOKHESI :    I t  i s  a  quest ion  o f  a  d iscuss ion  be tween  

tha t  re levant  p rov ince and the  Nat iona l  Depar tment .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  in  the  end you are  no t  go ing  to  

fo r fe i t  any  money  i f  the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  be l ieves tha t  

you are  spend ing  the  money appropr iately.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  you w i l l  no t  –  i f  they  be l ieve  –  i f  you  

have made your  case …[ in tervenes ]  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  you persuade them.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  you …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  i f  desp i te  whatever  you say they are 

conv inced tha t  you are  no t  spend ing  the  money su f f i c ien t ly  

…[ in tervenes]  

MR MOKHESI :    They take  i t  and …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Then they take  i t  away.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Mr Pretor ius?   So i f  I  want  to  

avo id  tha t ,  tha t  consequence,  wha tever  I  do ,  I  wou ld  have 20 

to  c rea te  the  impress ion  a t  leas t  tha t  I  have su ff i c ien t ly  

used the  money fo r  the  purpose fo r  wh ich  i t  was g iven to  

me,  i s  i t  no t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Cha i r,  maybe I  am I  m isunders tand ing  

your  quest ion .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    In  o ther  words,  i f  I  do  no t  want  the  

Nat iona l  Depar tment  to  conc lude tha t  I  have not  su f f i c ien t ly  

used the  money fo r  the  purpose fo r  wh ich  i t  was g iven to  

me… 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes?  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  wou ld  have to  c rea te  the  impress ion  

tha t  I  have su f f i c ien t ly  used the  money fo r  the  pu rpose fo r  

wh ich  i t  was g iven to  me dur ing  tha t  f inanc ia l  yea r.   Then i f  

I  persuade them tha t  tha t  i s  the  pos i t ion ,  they w i l l  no t  take  

i t  away f rom …[ in tervenes]  10 

MR MOKHESI :    They must  be l ieve  in  your  p lan .  

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m? 

MR MOKHESI :    They must  be l ieve  in  your  p lan .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR MOKHESI :    That  you are  pu t t ing  fo rward .   They have  

to  be l ieve  in  your  p lan .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    I f  they  do  not  be l i eve  in  your  p lan  they w i l l  

take  the  money anyway.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  20 

MR MOKHESI :    And how they take  the  money,  i s  tha t  you  

w i l l  no t  rece ive  your  next  a l loca t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    For  example ,  i f  you  are  rece iv ing ,  jus t  by  

way,  100 000 per  month  wh ich  goes to  1 .2  m i l l ion .   I  am 
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jus t  mak ing  an example .   The las t  two,  they w i l l  dec ide  and  

say r igh t ,  you are  no t  go ing  to  rece ive  –  fo r  February  and 

March you w i l l  no t  rece ive .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR MOKHESI :    They may dec ide  to  take  200 000.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Or  300 000,  whatever  the  case might  be .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  

MR MOKHESI :    So  tha t  i s  how i t  works .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  works ,  ja .   Thank you.   Mr Pretor ius?  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Mr  Mokhes i ,  you have to ld  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  hope tha t  has c la r i f ied  someth ing .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  am sor ry,  Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am say ing  I  hope tha t  has c la r i f ied  

someth ing .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l ,  i t  i s  ma in ly  f o r  the  

c la r i f i ca t ion ,  i f  I  may,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  by  a l l  means cont inue i f  you  seek to  

have more  c la r i f i ca t ion .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Thank you.   You have to ld  the 

Cha i r,  Mr  Mokhes i ,  o f  the  sources tha t  you re l ied  on  to  

p repare  th is  a f f idav i t .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    They i nc luded the  d isc ip l inary  
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hea r ing  t ransc r ip t ,  the  ev idence tha t  was g i ven,  an  order  to  

d ismiss  cer ta in  employees o f  the  depar tment ,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The f ind ings o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  

hear ing  wh ich  resu l ted  in  the  d ismissa l  o f  cer ta in  

employees,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And the  invest iga t ion  ca r r ied  ou t  

by  the  Spec ia l  Invest iga t ing  Un i t ,  r igh t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You looked  a t  those documents  and  

you reached ce r ta in  conc lus ions wh ich  led  you on beha l f  o f  

the  depar tment  to  a t tes t  to  th is  a f f idav i t  fo r  rev iew,  

cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You say in  pa ragraph 8  in  th is  

a f f idav i t :  

“The agreements…”  

Which  you seeked to  se t  as ide .  

“…formed par t  o f  a  f raudu len t  scheme wh ich  was  20 

conce ived by  the  depar tment  to  d isburse  ve ry  

substant ia l  sums o f  money main l y  to  the  supp l ie rs  

in  o rde r  to  avo id  the  funds becoming a  so-ca l led  

unspent  cond i t iona l  a l loca t ion  and there fore  

rever t ing  to  the  Nat iona l  Revenue Fund. ”  
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Now when you a t tes ted  to  th is  a f f idav i t  d id  you be l ieve  tha t  

to  be  a  co r rec t  s ta tement?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  I  be l ieved so .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Has anyth ing  happened fo r  you to  

change your  m ind? 

MR MOKHESI :    Wel l ,  to  change  my mind?  S imply  tha t  

was –  you know,  the  process was un lawfu l .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Okay.   We l l ,  you know the  process 

was un lawfu l ,  we w i l l  go  in to  the  de ta i l  o f  tha t .  

MR MOKHESI :    Okay.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You accept  the  process was 

un lawfu l?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    R igh t .   And you accept  tha t  cer ta in  

rep resenta t ions had to  be  made  to  Nat iona l  in  o rder  to  

persuade them not  to  take  your  money away,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And many o f  those represen ta t ions 

were  no t  t rue ,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And as  a  resu l t  the  law tha t  shou ld  

have been car r ied  ou t ,  the  fo r fe i tu re ,  was not  car r ied  ou t ,  

cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    The. . .?   Can you repeat  tha t ,  Mr Pretor ius?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    In  o ther  words,  you were  requ i red  
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to  exp la in  to  Nat iona l  why they  shou ld  no t  fo r fe i t  the 

money.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Or  why you shou ld  no t  fo r fe i t  the  

money.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Exp lanat ions were  made,  

documents  were  pu t  up ,  s ta tements  were  made,  many o f  

wh ich  were  fa lse ,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  many –  yes,  many o f  …[ in te rvenes]  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    We wi l l  come to  the  de ta i l .  

MR MOKHESI :    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  do  no t  want  to  ho ld  you to  

genera l i sa t ions,  we w i l l  come to  tha t .    And,  as  a  resu l t ,  

what  shou ld  have  happened in  accordance w i th  the  law d id  

no t  happen,  the  money shou ld  have been fo r fe i ted ,  bu t  was  

not ,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  the  money shou ld  have been fo r fe i ted  

because the  Na t iona l  Depar tment  d id  no t  accept  tha t  

expend i tu re  recovery  p lan  o f  [ inaudib le – speaking 20 

simultaneously]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l ,  we w i l l  come to  tha t ,  the 

expend i tu re  recovery  p lan .  

MR MOKHESI :    On tha t  bas is  to  fo r fe i t  the  money.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Because  tha t  in  i t se l f  i s  a  g ross  
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m isrepresenta t ion  bu t  we w i l l  come to  tha t .   And  you say  

so  yourse l f .   So I  am not  tak ing  th ings fu r the r  than what  

you say in  th is  a f f idav i t .  

MR MOKHESI :    Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  le t  us  move on,  i f  we may,  

because i t  i s  a l l  in  the  de ta i l .   You say i t  was a  f raudu len t  

scheme in  your  a f f idav i t .   You say i t  aga in  in  paragraph 10,  

you say:  

“The  ag reements  and payments  fo rmed par t  o f  a  

f raudu len t  scheme and are  ta in ted  by  f raud. ”  10 

You say tha t  yourse l f ,  cor rec t?   I t  i s  no t  jus t  a  pass ing  

comment  in  one paragraph,  you say i t  repeated ly  

th roughout ,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Were  you in  cour t  when your  

counse l  a rgued the  mat te r?  

MR MOKHESI :    No,  I  was not  in  cour t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l ,  le t  me jus t  te l l  you  tha t  you r  

counse l  a rgued  s t renuous ly  tha t  the  scheme was a  

f raudu len t  scheme.   D id  you take  note  o f  the  judgment  o f  20 

the  cour t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  I  have seen the  judgment .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I f  I  can  jus t  take  you to  FS14 a t  

page 599.   I t  i s  r igh t  a t  the  end o f  the  bund le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    D id  you say 599? 
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.    

MR MOKHESI :    599.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Parag raph 9 .   You wou ld  have read  

th is  and no doub t  accepted the  f ind ing  because you ac ted  

on i t .   I f  you  look a t  paragraph 9  on  page 602.  

MR MOKHESI :    Paragraph 9 .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Th i s  i s  the  judgment  o f  the  cour t ,  

was p res ided ove r  by  Loubser  J  and Poh l  AJ.   The  mat te r  

was heard  on  the  26  August  2019,  acco rd ing  to  th is ,  even  10 

though the  app l i ca t ion  was brought  th ree  years  pr io r  to  

tha t .   The judgment  was de l i vered on the  26  August  2019  

and in  pa ragraph  9  the  fo l low ing is  sa id  and I  am re fer r ing  

to  page 602:  

“The depar tment  was not  ab le  to  spend the  fund ing  

re fer red  to  in  pa rag raph 6  supra  fas t  enough and 

w i th in  the  f i sca l  year  to  avo id  the  s i tua t ion  tha t  

most  o f  i t  wou ld  reve r t  back  to  the  Nat iona l  

Revenue Fund in  te rms o f  DORA. ”  

You have a l ready  to ld  the  Cha i r  about  tha t .   The judgment  20 

cont inues to  read :  

“The depar tment  there fo re  conce ived an i l l ega l  

scheme to  fac i l i ta te  the  advance  payment  o f  ve ry  

substant ia l  amounts  o f  money main ly  to  supp l ie rs  

w i th in  the  f i sca l  year  so  tha t  the  funds wou ld  no t  
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rever t  back to  the  Nat iona l  Treasury  Fund. ”  

Judgment  cont inues:  

“The ag reements  tha t  f rom the  sub jec t  mat te r  o f  th is  

app l i ca t ion  were  a  key pa r t  o f  th is  i l l ega l  scheme.   

The agreements  were  un lawfu l  fo r  two majo r  

reasons.   They were  conc luded w i thout  any proper  

p rocu rement  p rocess hav ing  been fo l lowed and the  

agreements  and  the  payments  made under  them 

formed par t  o f  a  f raudu len t  scheme to  avo id  the  

consequences o f  DORA. ”  10 

That  i s  the  f ind ing  o f  the  cour t  and i t  con t i nues in  

parag raph 10:  

“Th is  i l l ega l  scheme was dev ised to  a l low the  

depar tment  to  pay mater ia l  supp l ie rs  ve ry  

s ign i f i can t  sums o f  money over  a  shor t  per iod  o f  

t ime,  in  to ta l  more  than R630 mi l l ion  over  the  pe r iod  

2010 to  2011. ”  

That  i s  the  judgment  tha t  a rose and was granted  or  re l ie f  

was grant  in  accordance w i th  the  app l i ca t ion  tha t  you 

brought .    20 

Now i f  we cou ld  go  back to  page 10 –  oh  i t  i s  a t  page 98 o f  

the  bund le ,  pa rag raph 10,  there  your  a f f idav i t  reads:  

“There  are  two  major  g rounds  on wh ich  the  

depar tment  seeks i t s  re l ie f ;  the  f i rs t  i s  tha t  the  

agreements  were  conc luded and the  payments  were  
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made in  b reach o f  P rocurement  Law.   The second is  

tha t  the  agreements  and payments  fo rm par t  o f  a  

f raudu len t  scheme and are  ta in ted  by  f raud. ”  

That  –  those observa t ions there  in  paragraph  10 are  

m i r ro red in  the  judgment  and the  por t ion  I  have jus t  read.   

Cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    R igh t .   Le t  us  go  to  the  

components  o f  the  scheme i f  we may in  parag raph 22 o f  

your  a f f idav i t .   Once aga in  your  make re ference in  10 

paragraph 22 to  a  f raudu len t  scheme and i f  I  can  j us t  read 

what  you say in  paragraph 22.   

          “ I  have sa id  tha t  th is  app l i ca t ion  re la tes  to  a  se t  o f   

          agreements  wh ich  the  depar tment  conc luded in  

          la te  2010 and ear l y  2011 w i th  cont rac to rs  and 

          supp l ie rs .   I  have a l so  sa id  tha t  the  agreements  

fo rm  

          par t  o f  a  f raudu len t  scheme conce ived by  the  

          depar tmen t  to  pay ou t  funds  f rom i t s  cond i t iona l  

          fund ing  a l loca t ion  in  o rder  t o  avo id  the  funds 20 

          becoming an unspent  cond i t iona l  a l loca t ion  and 

          rever t ing  to  the  Nat iona l  Revenue Fund. ”    

That  i s  a t  leas t  the  th i rd  re ference to  a  f raudu len t  scheme 

i t  does not  seem to  be  an er ro r  on  your  pa r t .   Cor rec t?         

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And then you descr ibe  the  na ture  

fea tures  o f  the  scheme in  paragraph 23.   You say f i rs t l y  

tha t :   

          “The depar tment  conc luded  some 125 wr i t ten  

          bu i ld ing  cont rac ts  w i th  cont rac tors . ”    

A re  you ab le  to  say when those were  conc luded,  tha t  was 

before  the  pre-payments  were  made to  supp l ie rs .   I s  tha t  

cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes,  ja .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And what  d id  those  bu i ld ing  10 

cont rac ts  p rov ide  in  re la t ion  to  who wou ld  purchase  

mater ia l s  o r  supp ly  mater ia l s  and who wou ld  pay fo r  them?  

MR MOKHESI :     Ja  the  –  you know i t  i s  a  s tandard  

cont rac t ,  supp l ie r  –  the  cont rac tor  i s  respons ib le  to  

purchase mater ia l  and a l so  to  bu i l d ,  to  cover t  tha t  mater ia l  

in to  a  product .   A product  re fe r r i ng  to  d i f fe ren t  m i les tones 

whethe r  i t  i s  foundat ion ,  a l l  p la tes  o f  comple t ions and then  

upon tha t  then the  cont rac tor  w i l l  then i f  he  has comple ted  

the  f i rs t  m i les tone l i ke  your  foundat ion  P5.1  he  can then  

c la im.    20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    R igh t .   

MR MOKHESI :     That  i s  the  bas ics ,  tha t  i s  the  cont rac t ,  

te rms o f  tha t  contac t .    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Now these a re  s tandard  bu i ld ing  

cont rac ts  tha t  comply  w i th  the  regu la to ry  f ramework  
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app l i cab le  to  const ruc t ion .   Cor rec t?    

MR MOKHESI :     Cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    What  i s  impor tan t  about  tha t  

scheme tha t  you have jus t  descr ibed is  tha t  the  cont rac tor  

sources the  mate r ia ls  in  accordance w i th  the  needs o f  the  

cont rac tor.   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The cont rac tor  can then cer t i f y  tha t  

those have been de l i vered.   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes tha t  i s  i t .   10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And  the  cont rac to r  then 

inco rpora tes  those mate r ia ls  such as  they are  in to  the  

bu i ld ing .   

MR MOKHESI :     The no rmal  cont rac t  i s  the  cont rac to r,  i f  I  

d id  no t  unders tand your  quest ion  you can –  the  normal  i s  

tha t  the  cont rac tor  i s  respons ib le  fo r  p rocur ing  mater ia l .   

That  i s  bas i ca l l y  how i t  works  and he must  conver t  tha t  

mater ia l  in to  a  product  the  founda t ion  and then he must  –  

once he has comple ted  the  foundat ion  tha t  i s  the  f i rs t  

m i les tone he then can c la im tha t  foundat ion  sub jec t  to  the 20 

cer t i f i ca t ion  and the  s ign ing  o f f  by  the  eng ineer  and so  on .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  o f  cou rse .  

MR MOKHESI :     So  tha t  i s  the  normal  p rocess.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So the  process you have desc r ibed 

has a  number  o f  checks and ba lances in  i t .   
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MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    That  can put  the  c l ien t ,  the  

Depar tment  o f  Human Set t lements  in  a  pos i t ion  o f  some 

comfor t  tha t  mater ia l s  have been ordered,  supp l ied ,  

inco rpora ted  in to  the  bu i ld ing  and  then cer t i f ied  tha t  have 

been so  p laced in  the  bu i ld ing .   Cor rec t?    

MR MOKHESI :     Yes,  we do no t  buy mater ia l  we buy a  

comple te  p roduct .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  we l l  however  we desc r ibe  

them but  in  the  normal  course  and  in  te rms o f  the  cont rac ts  10 

tha t  you entered  in to  or  the  depar tment  en te red in to  w i th  

the  cont rac to rs ,  the  bu i lde rs  tha t  was the  scheme tha t  was  

to  be  fo l lowed.   Am I  cor rec t?      

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Cor rec t ,  r igh t .   But  then  fu r ther  

agreements  were  en tered in to  –  by  the  way i t  w i l l  become 

c lea r  la te r  tha t  even those cont rac tors  were  no t  appo in ted  

in  accordance  w i th  a  proper  p rocu rement  scheme,  you say 

tha t  la te r.   I s  tha t  cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    We wi l l  jus t  f lag  tha t  fo r  the  

moment  and dea l  w i th  i t  la te r.   But  then fu r ther  agreements  

were  en tered in to ,  you say in  paragraph 23.2 :   

          “That  desp i te  the  supp ly  o f  mater ia l s  o r  whatever   

          be ing  dea l t  w i th  in  the  cont rac ts  w i th  the  bu i l ders  or   
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          the  cont rac tor ’s  fu r ther  agreements  were  en tered  

          in to . ”    

The depar tment  you say in  paragraph 23.2 :   

          “A lso  conc luded some 112 wr i t ten  t r i -par take  

          supp l ie r  agreements  w i th  cont rac tors  and bu i ld ing  

          mater ia l  supp l ie rs .   A mater ia l  te rm o f  these 

supp l ie r  

          agreements  was tha t  the  depar tment  wou ld  pay  

          supp l ie rs  fo r  bu i ld ing  mate r ia ls  wh ich  the  supp l ie r  

          supp l ie rs  supp l ied  to  cont rac to rs . ”    10 

So now ins tead o f  the  or ig ina l  scheme tha t  you have jus t  

desc r ibed to  the  Cha i r  tak ing  p lace we have a  d i f fe ren t  

scheme.   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  Which  d i f fe rs  en t i re l y  f rom the  

f i rs t  scheme,  r igh t?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  here  the  depar tment  was go ing  

to  pay the  supp l ie rs  fo r  the  bu i ld ing  mater ia l s  wh ich  the  

supp l ie rs  wou ld  then supp ly  to  the  cont rac to rs .   Cor rec t?             

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Why was i t  necessary  to  do  tha t?  20 

MR MOKHESI :     I t  was not  necessary ;  I  do  no t  know why i t  

was necessary  a t  the  t ime to…[ in tervene]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You do know Mr  Mokhes i  because 

you say so  bu t  anyway wou ld  you jus t  te l l  the  Cha i r  p lease.   

MR MOKHESI :     Look the re…[ in te rvene]  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  cou ld  he lp  you i f  you  wou ld  l i ke  

bu t  I  do  no t  want  to  lead you on.   

MR MOKHESI :     Ja ,  the  supp l ie r  –  the  f i rs t  there  was a  

second,  what  i s  i t  –  the  mater ia l  supp ly  ag reements  tha t  

we entered in to  w i th  I  th ink  i t  says  112 agreements .   Now 

th is  agreement  –  th is  mater ia l  supp l ie r  w i l l  then supp ly  

mater ia l s  to  the  cont rac tor  wh ich  in  way cont rad ic ts  the  

f i rs t  par t  because  the  respons ib i l i t y  o f  acqu i r ing  mater ia l  i s  

no t  the  respons ib i l i t y  o f  the  depar tment  i t  i s  the  

respons ib i l i t y  o f  the  cont rac to r.   So tha t  the  cont rac tor  can 10 

a t  a  la te r  s tage c la im.    

          Now here  we have an ins tance where  i t  now 

becomes a  respons ib i l i t y  tha t  wh ich  is  the  respons ib i l i t y  o f  

the  cont rac tor  becomes the  respons ib i l i t y  o f  the 

depar tment  and th is  i s  where  par t  o f  the  prob lem a lso  i s .   

But  i t  can  on ly  mean tha t  you know by acqu i r ing  mater ia l  

then you show a  be t te r  expend i tu re  per  say.   So tha t  i s  

bas ica l l y…[ in te rvene]            

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l  le t  us  exp la in  i t  because i t  i s  

impor tan t  and i t  i s  fundamenta l  t o  the  substance o f  your  20 

a f f idav i t  and what  happened a f te rwards Mr  Mokhes i .   I f  one  

goes back to  the  or ig ina l  scheme the  way,  i t  was or ig ina l l y  

p lanned to  happen in  the  no rmal  cause.   The cont rac tor  

en ters  in to  a  cont rac t  w i th  the  depar tment  to  bu i ld  a  house.    

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  i s  the  cont rac tor ’s  respons ib i l i t y  

to  source  the  mater ia ls .   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And to  use them in  the  house and  

to  pay the  supp l i e r.    

MR MOKHESI :     Cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    There  are  th ree  s tages ,  th ree  

mi les tones.   The f i rs t  m i les tone is  the  foundat ion .    

MR MOKHESI :     Cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The second is  the…[ in tervene]  10 

MR MOKHESI :     Wal l  p la te .    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    …the wa l ls  o f  the  bu i ld ing ,  cor rec t ,  

and the  th i rd  i s  the  roo f ing .    

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A t  the  comple t ion  o f  each s tage 

once the  work  has been checked and ver i f ied  the  

cont rac tor  can then c la im the  money f rom the  depar tment  

and the  depar tment  w i l l  pay  i t  i f  every th ing  is  in  o rder.    

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And inc luded in  those charges tha t  20 

the  cont rac tor  b i l l s  the  depar tment  w i th  i s  the  mater ia l s  

tha t  i t  has  bought .   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Now i f  the  house has not  been bu i l t  

ye t  th is  wou ld  on ly  happen somet ime in  the  fu tu re .   

Cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  w i l l  on ly  –  tha t  money wou ld  on ly  

be  pa id  when the  foundat ions a re  bu i l t  o r  when the  wa l l  i s  

bu i l t .   Cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  the  depar tment  had to  f ind  a 

way o f  spend ing  money qu ick ly.   Cor rec t ,  in  o rder  to  avo id  10 

i t s  revers ion  to  the  f i scus.   Cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And so  th is  scheme was dev ised to  

make sure  tha t  money cou ld  be  spent  be fore  the  year  end.   

I s  tha t  cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You say as  much.   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    P lease I  am not  pu t t ing  words in  

your  mouth  and i t  was done th rough a  dev ise  a  se r ies  o f  20 

agreements  wh ich  as  you yourse l f  say  made ve ry  l i t t le  

sense and le t  us  go  in to  the  de ta i l  then,  in  parag raph 23.2 :   

“A second se t  o f  agreements  the  t r i -par take supp ly  

agreements  a  112 agreements  were  en tered in to  

and in  te rms o f  those ag reements  i t  was agreed tha t  
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the  depar tment  wou ld  pay the  supp l ie rs  fo r  bu i ld ing  

mater ia l s  wh ich  were  to  be  supp l ied  o r  were  

supp l ied  to  the  cont rac tors . ”  

Cor rec t?      

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Even before  the  founda t ion  was 

bu i l t ,  even before  the  wa l l s  were  bu i l t  and espec ia l l y  even 

before  the  roo f  was put  on .   Cor rec t?    

MR MOKHESI :     Cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Then there  was a  th i rd  se t  o f  10 

agreements  and these are  the  so-ca l led  sess ion  

agreements  somet ime spe l t  w i th  a  C,  somet imes spe l t  w i th  

four  S ’s  ins tead o f  jus t  th ree .   Now do you know wha t  these 

agreements  were  can you t ry  and exp la in  to  the  Cha i r  

because i t  i s  qu i te  compl ica ted?   

MR MOKHESI :     Ja ,  the  –  what  g ive  r i se  to  a  sess ion  is  

you know you sent  your  c la im to  a  th i rd  par ty.   Now there  

cannot  be  a  cost  fo r  payment  i f  there  i s  no  c la im.   Now and  

th is  i s  a lso  par t  o f  the  prob lem because in  tha t  par t i cu la r  

p rocess you know the re  was no c la im or  course  fo r  20 

payment  aga ins t  a  c la im because there  was no c la im to  be  

ceded in  the  f i rs t  ins tances because a l l  those th ree  

agreements  in  my v iew cont rad ic ted  each o ther  you know 

they d id  no t  make  sense on one process.      

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Le t  us  t ry  and exp la in  tha t  in  a  way  
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tha t  those who a re  fo l low ing the  ev idence can unders tand 

because i t  i s  e lus i ve .   You have to ld  the  Cha i r  tha t  the  

cont rac tor  wou ld  have a  c la im aga ins t  the  depar tment  once  

the  foundat ions were  se t  o r  once  the  wa l ls  had been bu i l t  

o r  once the  roo f  has been put  on .   Cor rec t?    

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    O f  cou rse  when these sess ion  

agreements  were  en tered in to  tha t  had not  been  done.   

Cor rec t?    

MR MOKHESI :     Ja ,  there  were  no  foundat ion ,  there  was  10 

no c la im.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  so  a t  tha t  s tage when the  

sess ion  agreements  were  en tered in to ,  in  o ther  words when 

the  c la im o f  the  cont rac tor  was g i ven to  the  supp l ie r  tha t  is  

the  sess ion  there  was no c la im because the  house had not  

been bu i l t .   Cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  a t  tha t  s tage the  cont rac tor  had 

no c la im to  cede.   Cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  never the less  en tered in to  a  

sess ion  agreement  g iv ing  i t s  c la im aga ins t  the  depar tment  

to  the  supp l ie r  fo r  the  mater ia l s .   Cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A t  a  t ime where  no  such c la im  
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ex i s ted .    

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Cor rec t .   And even la te r  o f  cou rse  

there  wou ld  be  no c la im to  cede because the  supp l ie rs  

wou ld  a l ready have been pa id .   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  there  were  p rob lems w i th  th is  

sess ion ,  no t  so?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    As  you  say i t  was pa r t  o f  the  10 

prob lem.   Cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  as  you po in t  ou t  la te r  in  the  

a f f idav i t  these very  sess ions were  used as  par t  o f  the  

documenta t ion  even to  Prov inc ia l  Treasury  to  persuade  

them to  pay.   I s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Anyway  pr io r  to  the  c la im o f  the 

cont rac tors  even  ar is ing  and  pu rsuant  to  the  sess ions the  

depar tment  made  payments  to  the  supp l ie rs  in  excess o f  20 

R500mi l l ion .   Cor rec t?    

MR MOKHESI :     Cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And you say in  parag raph 23.5  as  

you have jus t  sa id  to  the  Cha i r :  

“There  was no lawfu l  cause fo r  the  payments . ”  
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Cor rec t?   Now tha t  i s  a  genera l  s ta tement  because o f  

course  some mater ia l s  m ight  have been de l i ve red and 

some not .    

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  the  de ta i l  o f  tha t  wou ld  depend 

on the  de ta i led  invest iga t ions be ing  done by  var ious  bod ies  

in  re la t ion  to  pa r t i cu la r  cont rac ts  and we a re  no t  go ing  

there  in  th is  hear ing .   Do I  unders tand the  pos i t ion  

cor rec t l y?     

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    R igh t .   But  in  23 .6  you say:   

“The t r i -par take supp l ie r  agreements  be tween the  

depar tment  and the  supp l ie rs  and the  cont rac tors  

d id  no t  g ive  r i se  to  a  course  fo r  the  payments  

because the  supp l ie rs  had not  supp l ied  mater ia l s  to  

the  cont rac tors  be fore  be ing  pa id . ”  

And tha t  was co r rec t  as  fa r  as  you were  concerned a t  the 

t ime.  

MR MOKHESI :    As  fa r  as  I  am concerned a t  the  t ime,  tha t  

was cor rec t .   20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  you have cont inued to  say:  

“The payment  s t ruc ture  in  the  supp ly  agreements   

requ i r ing  supp ly  be fore  payment  was not  fo l lowed .   

The invo ic ing  and cer t i f i ca t ion  requ i rements  in  the  

supp ly  agreements  were  no t  compl ied  w i th . ”  
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Cor rec t?     

MR MOKHESI :     Cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Now jus t  to  ge t  back to  the  f raud,  

nowhere  in  the  documenta t ion  and in  fac t  the  cont ra ry  

appears  does i t  appear  tha t  the  Free S ta te  Depar tment  

sa id  to  na t iona l  l i s ten  do  not  take  our  money back because 

we a re  go ing  to  spend i t  in  th is  way but  we must  warn  you 

tha t  i t  i s  comple te ly  i r regu lar  and  we must  warn  you tha t  

these requ i remen ts  are  no t  be ing  fo l lowed and they a l l  p re-

payments ,  nowhere  was nat iona l  to ld  tha t .   Cor rec t?     10 

MR MOKHESI :     Ja ,  no .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Cor rec t .  

MR MOKHESI :     Cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Am I  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And then in  paragraph 23.7  you  

dea l  w i th  the  sess ions.   You say:  

“Nor  d id  the  sess ions o f  c la ims by  the  cont rac tors  

to  the  supp l ie rs  g ive  r i se  to  a  cause fo r  payments .   

Th is  i s  because the  c la ims wh ich  were  be ing  20 

purpor ted  ceded  tha t  i s  c la ims by  the  cont rac tors  

aga ins t  the  depar tment  had not  ye t  a r isen. ”  

You have jus t  to ld  the  Cha i r  tha t ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:     
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“The cont rac tors  had not  executed  the  const ruc t ion  

works  or  por t ions  o f  the  const ruc t ion  works  nor  had  

they prov ided mater ia l s  to  the  depar tment .   The  

cont rac tors  there fore  d id  no t  have c la ims fo r  

payment  aga ins t  the  depar tment . ”    

You have to ld  the  Cha i r  tha t .      

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And I  take  i t  nobody to ld  na t iona l  

in  wr i t ing  or  o therw ise  look there  is  a  p rob lem wi th  a l l  

these cont rac t s  because we p re -pay ing  and noth ing  i s  10 

be ing  done and the  sess ions rea l l y  a re  no t  wor th  t he  paper  

they wr i t ten  on .   Cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Nobody to ld  na t iona l  tha t?  

MR MOKHESI :     No.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  you say  in  paragraph 23.8 :   

“The depar tmen t  nonethe less  pa id  more  than 

R500mi l l ion  to  var ious supp l ie rs  over  the  cause o f  

2009 to  2011.   I t  d id  so  purpor ted l y  on  the  s t rength  

o f  the  sess ion  agreements .   In  o ther  words,  20 

depar tment  o f f i c ia ls  used the  deeds o f  sess ion  as  

the  paperwork  jus t i f y ing  the  ins t ruc t ion  to  the i r  

account ing  s ta f f  to  pay ou t .   Depar tment  o f f i c ia ls  

a lso  man ipu la ted  the  hous ing  subs idy  sys tem to  

make i t  look  as  i f  const ruc t ion  work  had been 
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executed and tha t  payments  were  there fore  due 

when in  t ru th  th is  was not  the  case . ”    

Those a re  cor rec t  s ta tements  o f  fac t  a re  they?         

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  not  on ly  were  the  sess ions tha t  

ceded c la ims tha t  d id  no t  ex is t  o r  purpo r ted  to  cede  c la ims 

tha t  d id  no t  ex is t  used to  persuade account ing  s ta f f  to  pay 

ou t .   But  i t  i s  a  compl ica ted  ar rangement  tha t  was entered  

in to  bu t  m i les tones were  inser ted  in to  the  agreements .   

Cor rec t?    10 

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And those  mi les tones rea l l y  were  

no t  regu lar l y  inse r ted .   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Now I  do  no t  want  to  go  in to  the  

de ta i l  now i f  necessary  we cou ld  go  la te r.   Cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  the  sys tem was un lawfu l l y  o r  

i r regu lar l y  man ipu la ted  to  pu t  a  m i les tone in  the  agreement  

wh ich  d id  no t  rea l l y  ex i s t .   20 

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l  I  asked you ea r l ie r  Mr  

Mokhes i  why the  depar tment  imp lemented the  scheme 

wh ich  was c lea r ly  i r regu lar,  decept ive  and in  your  own  

words f raudu len t  and you dea l  w i th  tha t  a t  parag raph 24  
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and fo l low ing.   I f  you  cou ld  jus t  te l l  the  Cha i r,  p lease in  

your  own words  why,  what  the  reason was fo r  th is  scheme 

to  be  imp lemented?    

MR MOKHESI :     Wel l  Cha i r  I  th ink  i t  i s  s imp le  the  reason 

why i t  went  th is  way i t  was to  ensure  tha t  you know the  

depar tment  does  not  lose  money  back to  the  f i scus and 

there fo re  to  the  o ther  p rov inces .   So the  acqu is i t ion  o f  

mater ia l  o r  pay ing  or  buy ing  mater ia l  resu l ted  in  th is  

par t i cu la r  t ype o f  p rocess or  scheme.   That  was  in  the 

name why i t  wen t  –  i t  was because you know there  was a  10 

poss ib le  loss  to  o ther  p rov inces o f  the  money  o f  the 

cond i t iona l  g ran t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    R igh t .   In  o ther  words,  i t  was  

necessary  to  pe rsuade the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  o f  Human 

Set t lements  and Nat iona l  Treasury  to  do  what  they wou ld  

no t  have done had they known the  t rue  fac ts .   Cor rec t?    

MR MOKHESI :     Ja .    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You say yes?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And you say:   20 

“That  the re  was a  th rea t  tha t  the  unspent  a l loca t ion  

wou ld  reve r t  to  Nat iona l  Revenue Fund. ”  

You say tha t  in  24 .2 :  

“To  be re loca ted  to  p rov inces w i th  be t te r  spend ing  

record . ”    
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And then in  parag raph 24.3  you say:  

“ In  the  face  o f  tha t  th rea t  the  depar tment  p roceeded  

to  imp lement  the  scheme d ispers ing  funds to  the  

tune o f  more  than R500mi l l ion  f rom i t s  cond i t iona l  

a l loca t ion  w i th  no  lawfu l  cause fo r  the  payments  to  

be  made. ”    

Now the  depar tment  faced a  d i f f i cu l t y  you have  l i te ra l l y  

hundreds o f  cont rac to rs  and over  a  hundred supp l ie rs  each 

w i th  the i r  own ar rangements  in  re la t ion  to  the  supp ly  

mater ia l s  and i t s  dea l ings w i th  the  depar tment .   Cor rec t?        10 

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Were  you  ab le  a t  th is  t ime to  do 

su f f i c ien t  invest iga t ion  to  examine each and  every  

cont rac t?  

MR MOKHESI :     A l l  the  100 and…[ in tervene]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.   

MR MOKHESI :     I t  was ex t remely  d i f f i cu l t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    R igh t  you appo in ted  severa l  

invest iga to rs  to  tha t .   Cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Ja ,  in  genera l  we  cou ld  no t  do  i t ,  yes .   20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And we have an examples  o f  what  

happened.    

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    For  examp le ,  examples  o f  charges  

be ing  lev ied  aga ins t  the  depar tment  w i th  no th ing  be ing  
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de l i vered.   Cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes,  we have examples  o f  tha t ,  yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And f raudu len t  charges.   Cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  in  paragraph 26 you make an  

es t imate  wh ich  I  th ink  i s  wor th  pu t t ing  be fore  the  Cha i r.   

What  do  you say there  in  paragraph 26?   

MR MOKHESI :     You wanted me to  read i t  ou t?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l  you can read i t  i f  you  l i ke .   

Le t  us  j us t  es tab l i sh  tha t  you s igned th is  a f f idav i t  in  2016.   10 

Cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    By  tha t  t ime had a l l  these  houses 

been bu i l t?  

MR MOKHESI :     No,  no t  a l l ,  no t  a l l  has…[ in tervene]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    That  i s  f i ve  years  la te r  so  l e t  a lone 

in  2010,  2011.  

MR MOKHESI :     I t  i s?   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Sor ry  f ive  years  la te r  no t  a l l  the 

houses were  bu i l t .   20 

MR MOKHESI :     Not  a l l  the  houses were  bu i l t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    In  2010 ,  2011 how many o f  the  

houses had been bu i l t?  

MR MOKHESI :     2010,  2011?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    V i r tua l l y  none.   
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MR MOKHESI :    That  I  do  no t  know,  2010 ,  2011 

. . . [ in te rvene]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l  the  repor ts  w i l l  te l l  us  what  

had been done tha t  i s  no t  a  mat te r  o f  g rea t  cont roversy 

here .   But  the  po in t  i s  you had spent  in  advance  o f  the  

bu i ld ing  o f  the  houses someth ing  l i ke  R600mi l l ion .   

MR MOKHESI :     Okay.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A l r igh t  bu t  you say here :   10 

“The depar tment  however  has however  ob ta ined  

repor ts  wh ich  ind ica te  how much more  i t  w i l l  cos t  to  

p rocu re  tha t  the  hous ing  wh ich  the  cont rac tors  were  

cont rac ted  to  bu i l d . ”  

The 14 769 un i ts  to  wh ich  I  re fe r red  to  above is  bu i l t .    

“ I t  w i l l  cos t  the  depar tment  an  es t imated fu r ther  

approx imate l y  R500mi l l ion . ”    

Then you say:  

“The ca lcu la t ion  is  no t  s t ra igh t  fo rward  bu t  the  

depar tment ’s  best  es t imate  is  tha t  i t  has  los t  20 

approx imate l y  R400 866 000” .    

That  was your  best  es t imate  a t  the  t ime.       

MR MOKHESI :     Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:     So i t  i s  R400 866 000.   I  do  no t  know i f  

you got  the  number  r igh t .   Do you want  to ;  you may have  
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go t  i t  r igh t .    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    R400 866 000.   

CHAIRPERSON:     R400 866 000.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:     Ja ,  okay.   You may have got  i t  r igh t  f i rs t  

t ime around I  m ight  have jus t  heard  someth ing  e lse .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  cou ld  eas i l y  have got  i t  wrong  

Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:     Ja .    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Le t  us  jus t  say  tha t  a lmost  ha l f  a  10 

b i l l i on  rand was spent  be fore  anyth ing  was done.    

MR MOKHESI :     Okay.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    More  than ha l f  a  b i l l i on  rand and  

the  u l t imate  loss  to  the  depar tment  was in  the  reg ion  o f  

ha l f  a  b i l l i on  rand .   

MR MOKHESI :     The u l t imate  ja ,  400 and …[ in tervene]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  so  and th is  i s  in  re la t ion  to  

bu i ld ing  houses fo r  peop le  who need houses to  be  bu i l t  

de l i vered,  i t  i s  fo r  low cost  hous ing .   Cor rec t?   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes,  th is  i s  fo r  low cost  hous ing .   20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    That  i s  what  the  money shou ld  

have spent  on .   

MR MOKHESI :     Yes,  th is  i s  fo r  low cost  hous ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  th is  money tha t  was pa id  ou t  to  

cont rac tors  about  R500mi l l ion  was  pa id  ou t .   I s  tha t  r igh t?  
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And then –  bu t  you say the  loss  i s  R400 866 000.   I s  tha t  

r igh t?  

MR MOKHESI :     Ja  Cha i r  i t  i s  -  I  th ink  the  es t imate  is  the 

equ iva len t  number  o f  houses.   How much is  i t  go ing  to  cost  

…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:     Yes.   

MR MOKHESI :     …the depar tment  to  bu i ld .  

CHAIRPERSON:     Yes.   

MR MOKHESI :    That  i s  where  the  R500mi l l ion  

…[ in tervene]  10 

CHAIRPERSON:     Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :     And tha t  w i l l  a lso…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:     The ac tua l  amount  tha t  was pa id  ou t  

wou ld  be ,  i s  how much?   

MR MOKHESI :     No we are  no t  there  okay the  ac tua l  

amount  tha t  was pa id  ou t  I  th ink  …[ in tervene] .  

CHAIRPERSON:     We have not  dea l t  w i th  tha t  I  thought  

we had.  

MR MOKHESI :     Bu t  I  th ink  what  i s  be ing  t r ied  to  be  

exp la ined here  is  tha t  the  houses tha t  was supposed to  be  20 

bu i l t  tha t  par t  o f  14  769 th is  i s  the  es t imate  …[ in tervene]   

CHAIRPERSON:     Yes.   

MR MOKHESI :     …of  how much i t  w i l l  cos t  R500mi l l ion .   

CHAIRPERSON:     Yes.   

MR MOKHESI :     Bu t  a l ready  we had made advanced 
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payments.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   And that  408 – 40866 mi l l ion is  probably 

what has not  been accounted for in respect  of  the advanced 

payments that  were made.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   Because i t  is not  in al l  instances where 

mater ia l  were not  del ivered and houses were not  bui l t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   There are instances – there are houses that  10 

were bui l t  but…. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   But  as to the extent  of  the view that  we have 

received i t  was a problem.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   To say – and that  is why we had also had to 

– I  th ink we did two act ions.   One as they say i t  is before the 

rev iew appl icat ion the act ion proceedings just  to force the 

contractors to  give us invoices del iver ing notes and so on 

and so on.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  as th ings present ly stood at  the t ime of  

your aff idavi t  and I  guess maybe even now but  certainly at 

that  t ime your est imate was that  the department has lost  – 

had lost  more than R400 mi l l ion.  

MR MOKHESI:   Ja we could not  properly know… 
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CHAIRPERSON:   Be accounted for.  

MR MOKHESI:   Accounted for as to…. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   Because of  th is par t icular… 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  money had been paid out  to people.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Some houses had been bui l t .  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Some that  were not  – some were not  and i t  

looks l ike there were many which were not .  10 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And your est imate was the department had 

lost  more than R400 mi l l ion.  

MR MOKHESI:   Ja.   Which might  wel l  have changed over 

t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   But  at  that  t ime when you deposed to 

the aff idavi t .  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  was your est imate.  

MR MOKHESI:   Because I  am aware of  – even though I  am 20 

not  exact ly  sure what the amounts that  were recovered by 

SIU.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR MOKHESI:   In  the process.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   But  by whatever account  i t  was 
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substant ia l  amounts.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  were not  accounted for.  

MR MOKHESI:   Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  we know that  – and Chai r  the 

f igures vary by R100 mi l l ion at  t imes but  we know f rom your  

aff idavi t  that  approximate – wel l  more than R500 mi l l ion was 

spent  as part  of  th is scheme – this i r regular scheme of  

prepayments to suppl iers.   That  much we know. Correct? 10 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   We know that  there are examples and 

these examples emerged f rom the var ious invest igat ions that  

have taken place of  unqual i f ied bui lders just  walk ing off  s i te  

and that  money being therefore lost ,  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And there are many other  examples 

of  losses but  the f i rst  point  is that  the – this unlawful  

i r regular scheme of  prepayments and we wi l l  descr ibe i t  yet  

again in your own words in a moment cost  the department in  20 

the Free State over R500 mi l l ion,  correct?  You then . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  make sure Mr Mokhesi  your responses 

get   -  ja.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You then did an invest igat ion and you 
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est imated how much more have we got  to spend in  order to  

complete the bui ld ing of  these houses and you say that  that  

would have been over R500 mi l l ion you say that  in paragraph 

26 of  course an est imate.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes i t  is an est imate.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Correct .   And you say in the last  

sentence:  

“The calculat ion is not  st raight forward but  

the department ’s  best  est imate and that  is 

best  est imate in  2016 is that  i t  has lost  10 

approximately R400 866 000.00.”   

Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Substant ia l  amount of  money.   Now 

at  R50 000.00 per house I  have just  been told by someone 

who has done the calculat ion that  could have bui l t  over 

8 000 houses.   That  is a substant ia l  amount of  money. 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   In – on any calculat ion.   Now of  

course as you point  out  that  th is was di ff icul t  to establ ish 20 

because you have got  hundreds of  cont racts;  hundreds of  

t ransact ion each one di fferent  in i ts own way.   Many 

f raudulent ;  many suppl iers did not  supply;  many claims were 

overstated but  i t  is a massive job to invest igate each and 

every single contract  and that  you have employed people to  
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do.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Then in paragraph 27 i f  we may go 

there?  You made a submission.   You said:  

“ I  submit  that  the department scheme was a 

f raud on the Nat ional  Government  

speci f ical ly on the f iscus.   I t  was also a f raud 

on the publ ic on a l l  who expect  state funds to  

be spent  regular ly or properly inc luding on 

improving the standard of  l iv ing of  the poor  10 

on those in the Free State and in other 

provinces wi th an expectat ion of  receiving 

state funded housing and on al l  tax payers. ”  

That  I  understand was your bel ief  a t  the t ime.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Anything to change your mind? 

MR MOKHESI:   No not  rea l ly.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Not  real ly.   Then in paragraph 28 you 

say:  

“ I  have descr ibed the above – I  have 20 

descr ibed above the f raudulent  aspects of  

the department scheme.  I t  is important  to  

point  out  that  the contracts were also 

unlawful  because the department  did not  

fo l low any lawful  procurement process before 
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concluding them.   This is in i tsel f  a ground 

on which the contract  should be declared 

void.”  

In case we have not  made i t  c lear al ready Mr 

Mokhesi  the se lect ion of  the suppl iers to which payments 

were made – we wi l l  come in due course to how those people 

were selected perhaps not  in your evidence but  in the 

evidence of  wi tnesses to come.  But  what we do know there 

was no open tender and bidding process that  preceded the 

appointment of  suppl iers.   We know that  as a fact .   Correct? 10 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You give the factual  background and 

i t  is not  necessary to go into too much detai ls  here Mr 

Mokhesi  because we have deal t  wi th i t  in some respects 

al ready.   But  what was the – i t  is in paragraph 30 and 

fol lowing of  your aff idavi t  at  page 105 and fol lowing of  FS14.   

What was the Breaking New Ground Project  of  the Cabinet  

announced in September 2004? 

MR MOKHESI:   Sustainable – sustainable human 

set t lements.    20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Ja i t  was comprehensive plan for the 

development of  sustainable human set t lements,  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Which included the bui ld ing of  

houses? 
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MR MOKHESI:   I t  is includ ing the bui ld ing of  houses and i t  is 

a whole comprehensive p lan.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The inf rast ructure requi red.  

MR MOKHESI:   You know i t  has got  inf rast ructure;  bui ld ing 

houses,  amenit ies,  social  amenit ies.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   And so on.   And not  only about houses but  

also to understand that  when you – when you – and that  is 

why they changed f rom housing to Human Sett lements 

because then i t  takes into considerat ion the ent i re … 10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The ent i re community.  

MR MOKHESI:   Community whether i t  be social  amenit ies,  

inf rast ructure and so on as and when we get  there.   That  is 

what i t  was about.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   So that  was a comprehensive and 

ambit ious plan to provide sustainable human set t lements for  

poor people.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   R ight .   And you say in the last  

sentence in paragraph 30:  20 

“Among the ways i t  t r ies to retr ieve that  aim 

are easing del ivery const raints,  increasing 

bui ld ing capaci ty  and root ing out  corrupt ion 

and maladminist rat ion.”  

 At  least  that  was the intent ,  correct? 
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MR MOKHESI:   Correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Then in paragraph 31 and fol lowing 

you set  out  certa in facts and i t  is  necessary to deal  wi th  

those in paragraph 32.   You say:  

“ In  pursuance of  th is scheme the Breaking 

New Ground Low Cost  Housing Project  

Scheme funds are al located in terms of  the 

Divis ion of  Revenue Act  to Provinces each 

year. ”  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You have told the Chair  that .   But  

paragraph 32 is  important .   That  al locat ion you say in 

paragraph 32:  

“ Is a speci f ic  purpose and condi t ional  

al locat ion.   In  other words a Province 

receiving funds is  not  unconstrained in how i t  

spends those funds. ”  

 In other words when the money is a l located to you by 

Nat ional  Treasury in  terms of  DORA that  is  the Divis ion of  

Revenue Act  is the Province f ree to  spend i t  as i t  l ikes? 20 

MR MOKHESI:   No.   You – you have to spend i t  f i rst  you 

know in terms of  the housing code where you can spend i t  

and in terms of  the approved business plan.   So you cannot 

just  spend i t  as [ ta lk ing over one another] .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Right  there is a housing code that  
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governs … 

MR MOKHESI:   That  governs that  funds ja.   To make sure 

that  you fa l l  w i th in the pol icy f ramework and also of  course 

the business plan also approved by Nat ional  Department and 

then determines what – how you are going to spend money 

where and in whatever.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Now we know in relat ion to the 

business plan that  Nat ional  – the Nat ional  Department under 

Minister Sexwale at  the t ime said you must  give me a plan 

otherwise this money is going to be lost  to the Province and 10 

that  was the expendi ture recovery.  

MR MOKHESI:   Recovery Plan.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   P lan.   We wi l l  come to that  in a 

moment because that  was a representat ion to Nat ional  which 

we wi l l  see was completely misleading.   But  let  us f i rst  deal  

wi th the points you make in 32.1 to 32.3 Mr Mokhesi .   The 

money is  given to  the Province.   The Province obviously has 

to disburse that  money to contractors,  to suppl iers and to 

other part ies.   People who bui ld in f rast ructure and the l ike,  

advisors and the l ike.   Those are thi rd part ies.  20 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Now in rela t ion to th i rd part ies what 

are the restr ict ions in the Divis ion Of Revenue Act?  You 

deal  wi th those in  32.1 to 32.3.   Those are important  for the 

purposes of  th is evidence.  
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MR MOKHESI:   Yes.   There is a standard we – of  – when 

money is al located.   You must  spend on the approved 

business plan and approved projects.   They wi l l  have been 

ident i f ied.   Each project .   You also – you should have 

planned before.  You know you do not  do your planning in the 

year you are supposed to implement the planning.   

Implementat ion precedes p lanning and those part icular 

projects that  you are going to spend the money on wi l l  have 

then been pre-approved through a process before you know 

before we start  the f inancial  – f inancial  year.   And you know 10 

that  is how the process works in terms of  di fferent  programs 

within.   You know we – inf rastructure and as wel l  as housing.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   So you would tel l  Nat ional  how you 

are going to spend the money.   They would then give you the 

money.   You would be obl iged to spend i t  in accordance with  

those plans.  

MR MOKHESI:   With those part icular p lans and you wi l l  a lso 

have an opportuni ty hal fway you know through say through 

hal f  year ly  to  ei ther  revise your  business plan because 

certain projects are not  performing as they should and that 20 

becomes a matter  of  discussions.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Right .  

MR MOKHESI:   Ja.   That  in a certa in year. .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   But  in al l  t imes the way that  the 

al locat ion is  managed in terms of  the Divis ion of  Revenue 
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Act  is  that  there must  be complete t ransparency between the 

Provincial  Department and… 

MR MOKHESI:   And the Nat ional .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And the Nat ional  Department.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And Treasury,  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   They must  be informed exact ly what  

is being done with  that  money.  

MR MOKHESI:   Correct .  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Correct .   Right  and in rela t ion to  

payments to th i rd  part ies for example cont ractors there are 

special  rest r ict ions in the Act ,  am I  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   There are special  rest r ict ions in  the 

Act ,  am I  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The f i rst  is that  the Province must  

have entered into a payment schedule wi th the thi rd party.   

In other words,  there must  be a schedule which says 20 

precisely when and how much must be paid to the thi rd party 

and on what performance, correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes i t  is based on your contractual  

arrangement between yoursel f .   You know i f  i t  is obviously i f  

i t  is houses that  payment schedule wi l l  be per mi lestones.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.   As per the cont ract . .  

MR MOKHESI:   The f i rst  contract .  

MR MOKHESI:   The f i rst  cont ract  that  we spoke about wi th 

the cont ract? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   But  that  did not  exist  wi th the 

suppl iers? 

MR MOKHESI:   No i t  d id  not .   And insofar as what  we have 

seen as mater ia l  supply agreements.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  10 

MR MOKHESI:   Which I  th ink are problemat ic.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  you make more expl ic i t  

statements later that  we wi l l  come to that .   Paragraph 32.2:  

“The payment must  be for  services rendered 

by or goods received f rom the thi rd  party. ”  

 That  is the f i rst  th ing.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Services must  have been performed 

and the goods must  have been received.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   No prepayments? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    

“And those services which must  have been 

properly procured in accordance wi th Supply 
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Chain Management requirements. ”  

 In other words,  you cannot spend a DORA al locat ion 

unless you spend i t  in accordance with a proper  Supply 

Chain Management process,  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And we know that  in relat ion to  

contractors and suppl iers in th is case those simply did not  

exist  – that  did not  happen.  Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And then 32.3:  10 

“Advanced payments to th i rd part ies i .e.  

where services have not  yet  been rendered 

or  the goods not  yet  del ivered are subject  to  

speci f ic requi rements includ ing the approval  

by Nat ional  Treasury. ”  

 So before the Province can make any prepayment  

you have got  to te l l  Nat ional  Treasury and get  thei r  

permission,  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Ja that  is a [00:16:32]  that  – that  c lear ly 

indicates how prepayments are to be done.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   And they must  be part  of  the contract  f i rst  

and foremost.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.   And that  did not  happen in th is  

case.   Wel l  certainly approval  by Nat ional  Treasury was not  
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obtained.  

MR MOKHESI:   Ja I  th ink you – you do not  necessar i ly need 

approval  of  Nat ional  Treasury but  the f ramework has been 

la id by Nat ional  Treasury that  th is is  how you know.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  f i rst ly you say here that  one of  

the speci f ic requi rements includes approval  by Nat ional  

Treasury.   I  must  say on our understanding of  the law that  is 

correct .   That  statement is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is [Chai r  and Mr Mokhesi  and Adv 

Pretor ius al l  speaking at  once] .  10 

MR MOKHESI:   Because Nat ional  Treasury has la id  out  the 

f ramework.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am saying that  is in  32 – paragraph 32.3 

of  your aff idavi t .  

MR MOKHESI:   32.3.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.   Nat ional  Treasury has la id  out  the 

f ramework under which we can make advanced payments.  

That  f ramework is  there in terms of  Treasury Regulat ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So are you saying in other words… 20 

MR MOKHESI:   I  must  – ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  by put t ing up or prescr ib ing that  

f ramework Nat ional  Treasury has given approval  that  

provided you act  wi thin th is f ramework then you have our 

approval .  
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MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is what… 

MR MOKHESI:   That  is the… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  means 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MR MOKHESI:   I f  i t  is prescr ibed you cannot move outside 

that  part icu lar f ramework.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   So – so in other  words what  

you are saying is i t  might  not  – you might  not  be requi red to  10 

obtain separate or speci f ic approval  f rom Nat ional  Treasury 

provided you have acted wi thin that  f ramework.  

MR MOKHESI:   That  f rame.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  Nat ional  Treasury has approved.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.   I f  there is – i f  for some other reason 

there is any – because of  c i rcumstances or whatever the 

case might  be you are unable to… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Comply wi th the f ramework? 

MR MOKHESI:   To comply wi th the f ramework because of  

good reasons that  might  be there.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR MOKHESI:   Then you wi l l  have to go back to  Nat ional  

Treasury and make your case.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.   Mr Pretor ius.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A lr ight .   So what you are saying in 
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paragraph 32.3 you now say must  be qual i f ied? 

MR MOKHESI:   Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   By the words al l  and… 

CHAIRPERSON:   The f ramework.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Compl iance wi th the f ramework.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Laid down by Nat ional  Treasury.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.   There is a f ramework.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A l r ight .   We wi l l  look at  that  and I  wi l l  

come back to you on that  because the evidence of  persons 10 

f rom Nat ional  at  the discipl inary inqui ry was somewhat 

di fferent  but  let  us not  deal  wi th that  now.  I  wi l l  come back 

to i t .  

MR MOKHESI:   Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You say in paragraph 33 clear ly:  

“ I f  a condi t ional  al locat ion has not  been 

spent by the end of  the f inancial  year i t  

reverts to and must  be repaid to the Nat ional  

Revenue Fund. ”  

 That  we have establ ished,  r ight? 20 

MR MOKHESI:   Hm.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Then you say in paragraph 34 for the 

thi rd or fourth t ime now:  

“The agreements at  issue in th is appl icat ion 

form part  of  a f raudulent  scheme cont r ived 
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by the department and the respondents to  

ci rcumvent the provisions of  DORA and avoid 

the Department ’s unspent condi t ional  

housing al locat ion revert ing to the Nat ional  

Revenue Fund. ”  

 Do I  understand i t  that  you bel ieved that  to be t rue 

and correct  at  the t ime? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And nothing has happened to change 

your mind? 10 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  i t  is important  Mr Mokhesi  that  you – 

you answer part icular ly to that  quest ion be heard because I  

th ink that  some – somewhere much earl ier anybody l istening 

might  have thought you have – you have second thoughts 

about  descr ib ing the scheme as f raudulent .   So I  am just  

saying [ interrupt ing]  that  you say nothing has changed your 

mind i t  is important  that  i t  comes out  c lear ly.  

MR MOKHESI:   Ja I  th ink – okay.   No I  th ink you have 

clar i f ied for me Chai r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   Ear l ier on.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   To say whether I  bel ieved.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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MR MOKHESI:   I t  is not  that  i t  actual ly is.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Ja.  

MR MOKHESI:   You know and that  is – to me gives me…. 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is st i l l  your … 

MR MOKHESI:   Comfort  because I  am not  competent .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   To say something is f raud or not  but  i f  i t  

looks l ike f raud i t  does not  mean that  i t  is f raud. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   Okay no that  is f ine.  

MR MOKHESI:   You know so… 10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  let  us – because that  is a  

qual i f icat ion that  you have not  placed before the Chai r  

before in very clear terms in answer to my quest ions and 

perhaps I  should be fai r  to  you to a l low you an opportuni ty to 

explain.   You have said not  once but  several  t imes in th is  

aff idavi t  that  the scheme was f raudulent ,  r ight? 

 We wi l l  go into the detai ls provided by you to show 

that  i t  was in  fact  f raudulent .   We can leave that  for the 

moment.  

MR MOKHESI:   Okay.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   But  we are deal ing wi th a conclusion 

that  you reached here.   Right .   At  the t ime I  take i t  because 

this is a statement on oath that  you bel ieved i t  was 

f raudulent  on al l  the research that  you had done, correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Can you now give any reason why i t  

was not  f raudulent? 

MR MOKHESI:   I  say I  bel ieve that  i t  was f raudulent  and I  

th ink I  have said I  cannot say with – let  me put  i t  th is way.   I  

bel ieve i t  was f raudulent .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Correct .  

MR MOKHESI:   Okay.   Ja.   And I  th ink the Chai r  has sort  of  

indicated to  me to say the fact  that  you bel ieve does not  

necessari ly mean i t  was.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The Chai r  has suggested nothing to 10 

you Mr Mokhesi .  

MR MOKHESI:   No.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Th is is your evidence.  

MR MOKHESI:   But  do you not  know… 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I t  is not  your – no suggest ion of  any 

sort  of  that  to you.   Al l  the Chai r  said to you.  

MR MOKHESI:   What did the Chai r  say? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Was that  you are f ree to give 

evidence as you now bel ieve to be the case.  

MR MOKHESI:   I  said – I  said so.   I  sa id I  bel ieve that  i t  was 20 

at  the t ime I  bel ieve that  i t  was – i t  was f raudulent  at  the 

t ime and I  st i l l  bel ieve that  i t  is.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And you st i l l  bel ieve so.  

MR MOKHESI:   I  st i l l  bel ieve that  i t  is.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Correct  so.   Alr ight  there is – there 
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has been no revelat ion to you outside of  the reports  that  you 

referred to ear l ier that  would persuade you that  you were 

completely wrong or part ia l ly wrong,  correct?  No new 

informat ion has come to your at tent ion.  

MR MOKHESI:   No new informat ion has come to my at tent ion 

yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Is that  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A l r ight  let  us just  go please i f  you 

would to paragraph 35 of  your aff idavi t  on page 107.    10 

CHAIRPERSON:   What page – 107? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   107 Chai r.   Paragraph  35.     

“The total  a l locat ion however i t  is  made up 

we need not  go into that  detai l  for present  

purposes for housing in the Free State for  

the 2010/2011 year was R1.42 bi l l ion.”    

Substant ia l  amount of  money.  

MR MOKHESI:   Where are you – where are you reading?  

135 for the last  … 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I  am sorry I  cannot hear you.  20 

MR MOKHESI:   No I  was saying where are you reading 

f rom? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Paragraph 35.  

MR MOKHESI:   Which paragraph 35? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Second last  l ine.  
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MR MOKHESI:   Okay.   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Correct .   And the plan was dur ing the 

course of  2010/2011 and 2011/2012 to bui ld 21 050 low cost  

houses apart  f rom everything e lse that  you have just  

ment ioned.   Correct?  Is that  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You see that  in paragraph 36 thi rd 

last  l ine.  

MR MOKHESI:   Okay yes.   Yes I  see i t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Correct .   Now we know that  was not  10 

achieved.   The extent  to which i t  was not  achieved is the 

subject  of  invest igat ions,  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Then in paragraph 37 you g ive the 

detai l  of  what we have summarised for the Chair  ear l ier that  

the 2010/2011 f inancial  year ended on 31 March 2011.  By 

late 2010 i t  was very clear that  the Department  would not  be 

able to spend the Breaking New Ground al locat ion or  even a 

meaningful  port ion of  the al locat ion by the end of  the 

f inancial  year.   Correct? 20 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Now there were several  th ings that  

happened to cause the delay in spending.   One of  them was 

that  the plans for the sizes of  the houses were changed, 

correct?  You had contracts or the department had contracts 
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to bui ld 40 square meter houses.   The idea was changed to 

bui ld 50 square meter houses and a number of  contractual  

disputes arose.   You say that  in paragraph 38,  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A l r ight .   And you say in paragraph 

39:  

“ In addi t ion a tender which the department  

had put  out  in ear ly 2010 for the construct ion 

of  low cost  houses lapsed and was cancel led 

as I  explain more ful ly be low.”  10 

 Now those ci rcumstances Mr Mokhesi  preceded the 

prepayment scheme.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And you descr ibe i t  fu l ly la ter on.   

And we bel ieve i t  is  important  as a legal  team to go through 

that  in some deta i l  because the whole housing arrangement  

in the Province f rom the very beginning – f rom the 

appointment of  the cont ractors r ight  through to the 

prepayment to suppl iers at  the end of  the f inancial  year was 

completely i r regular wi th the resul t  that  the housing scheme 20 

in the department  was to put  i t  at  i ts lowest  a total  fa i lure 

and i t  is important  to p lace that  context  before the Chair  

because that  context  has not  real ly been given any 

prominence in the mater ia l  to date.   So that  is something 

new that  we could put  on the table for the Chai r.   Chair  could 



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 96 of 178 
 

we do that  af ter the adjournment? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes we can do that  af ter lunch.   We wi l l  

take the lunch adjournment  now and resume at  two o’clock.  

We adjourn.  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r ise.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES :     

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  let  us cont inue.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   Mr Mokhesi ,  i f  

you go to page 117 of  Bundle FS14,  you wi l l  see that  we deal  10 

there wi th . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    . . .wi th the matter of  cancel lat ion of  

the housing tender . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry,  Mr Pretor ius.   The volume of  

the ai rcon has gone up.   So somebody wi l l  at tend to i t .   Okay 

al r ight .   Let  us cont inue.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Are you at  page 117? 

MR MOKHESI :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Did you say 117? 20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    You deal  there wi th the lapse and 

cancel lat ion of  the housing tender.   In paragraph 75.1,  you 

record that  in ear ly 2010 the department  by means of  a  
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publ ic tender inv i ted b ids for the construct ion of  houses to  

be funded by the housing al locat ion.   That  tender closed on 

the 16t h of  Apri l  2010.    

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    The department ’s  Supply Chain 

Management Di rectorate and the B id Evaluat ion Commit tee 

deal t  wi th i t  and prepared a report  for the Adjudicat ion 

Commit tee.   That  says you record in paragraph 75.2.   Do you 

see that? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Then at  paragraph 75.3,  you record,  

and this important  for future judicat ion,  that  361 bids were 

received.   A 105 were disqual i f ied for basic bid compl iance,  

for example,  no val id tax c learance cert i f icate.   And 147 

were disqual i f ied because they d id not  meet  the minimum 

funct ional i ty threshold.   Do you know what is meant by the 

minimum funct ional i ty threshold.  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja,  the minimum score to bid on the next  

level .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Ja.   Basical ly,  in terms of  the 20 

scor ing,  they could not  do the work.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Right .   And 28 bids f rom so-cal led 

establ ished cont ractors and 81 bids f rom so-cal led emerging 

contractors.   The Bid Evaluat ion Commit tee then 
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recommended that  only 109 qual i fy ing bids be adjudicated 

on pr ice.   Then at  75.4,  you record that  on the 

28t h July 2010,  the Bid Adjudicat ion Commit tee met to 

consider the tender.   Do you know why they delayed for so 

long? 

MR MOKHESI :    Wel l ,  I  do not  know.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    You do not  know? 

MR MOKHESI :    Honest ly.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    That  is fa i r  enough.  But  at  that  

meet ing,  the Bid Adjudicat ion members acknowledged that  10 

the tender val id i ty  per iod had lapsed.   And then the BAC did 

something . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry,  Mr Pretor ius.   The tender 

val id i ty per iod,  does that . . .  what  does that  refer to?  What 

per iod is that? 

MR MOKHESI :    Ordinar i ly,  i t  wi l l  refer to the val id i ty of  the 

tender pr ice because i f  that  per iod passes,  then they have to 

go back to the bidder to say are they st i l l  on the same pr ice.   

In other words . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Does that  mean when a bidder  submits 20 

their  b id they would say we wi l l  do this job for th is pr ice? 

MR MOKHESI :    Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  that  is. . .  th is  pr ice is val id only up to a 

certain date.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Is that  what they talk about? 

MR MOKHESI :    Normal ly,  60 to 90 days.  

CHAIRPERSON :    60 to 90 days? 

MR MOKHESI :    90 days.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And that  per iod is f ixed by the bidder 

individual ly or is i t  f ixed by the department? 

MR MOKHESI :    I t  is prescr ibed to say that  would be the 

val id i ty per iod.   In  an event  that  i t  goes beyond that ,  you wi l l  

then have to go back to the bidders and say are you st i l l  on 

that  pr ice.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   So i t  is prescr ibed in terms of  the 

regulat ions? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    In terms of  the Nat ional  Treasury 

Regulat ions? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So when you inv i te bids,  the inv i tat ion to  

bid would include something that  says the per iod wi l l  be X.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Is that  r ight? 20 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So when you referred to  the tender 

val id i ty per iod having lapsed,  that  is the per iod we are 

talk ing about? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR MOKHESI :    And hence the ear l ier statement  by Mr 

Pretor ius to say,  i t  could. . .  you know, the regulat ion means 

you ask the tenderers . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    . . . to say are you st i l l  on that  pr ice.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   And i f  they say yes,  you cont inue.  

MR MOKHESI :    You cont inue.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja,  then you can cont inue.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .    

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   Thank you.   We wi l l  get  there 

Mr Mokhesi .   The decision,  however,  that  the BAC made was 

to say:   Wel l ,  we must cancel  the tender and we must take 

al l  those who qual i f ied and al l  those who were disqual i f ied 

and include them in a database as serv ice providers.   Is that  

as you understand the decision that  was made? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  in terms of  the documents and that . . .  

yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    That  was. . .  the decision that  is 20 

recorded in the fol lowing paragraph 75.5.   But  what is  

interest ing is the minute of  that  meet ing which reads:  

“The chai rperson indicated to the commit tee that  the 

tender has been evaluated but  due to the fact  that  

the val id i ty of  the tender has expi red and they 
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cannot adjudicate,  they have to cancel  the tender. ”  

 But  as you pointed out ,  that  is not  correct .   There is  no 

obl igat ion to cancel  the tender.   You can regular ise.  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja,  i t  is a. . .  you can. . . .  you know, i t  

depends.   You can cancel .   You can decide to ask whether 

they wi l l  s imple,  you know . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Wel l  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MOKHESI :    I t  is rea l ly that  was what you wi l l  have to 

make  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    You can cancel  but  then the 10 

obl igat ion to have a proper  procurement process st i l l  

remained.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    So you cannot cancel  for the reasons that  

they gave.   Is that  r ight?  Or. . .  

MR MOKHESI :    No,  you cancel  because i t  has expired but  

also because the va l id i ty per iod has expi red.   You can do 

that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  but  what  I  am saying is.   They 20 

cancel led because of  certain reasons as I  understand i t .   

They st i l l  wanted to use the money f rom what I  read here,  to 

st i l l  use the money.   They say appropriately. . .  spend the 

money appropriately.    

MR MOKHESI :    Ja.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Spend the money appropriately wi thout  a 

tender on a matter that  requi red a tender.    

MR MOKHESI :    Ja,  the best  way that  they could. . .  that  

could,  you know,  given that  everything was okay,  the only 

issue was the val id i ty per iod.   I t  is s imply to communicate 

wi th the bidders and say are you st i l l  on that  pr ice.   You 

know, i f  they are st i l l  on that  pr ice you cont inue wi th the 

evaluat ion and the hour,  et  cetera.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   Wel l ,  we have done a l i t t le 10 

invest igat ion ourselves into the mat ter Mr Mokhesi .   The f i rst  

point  is that  the only opt ion was not  to cancel  the tender.   

They had other opt ions.   We agreed on that .  

MR MOKHESI :    H ’m.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   Oh, you have to say.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Mokhesi . . .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    In the f i rs t  p lace,  they might  have 20 

taken the t rouble to complete the process t imeously and 

wi thout  delay.   That  was the f i rst  opt ion.   We know that  did  

not  happen.  The second opt ion is  that  before the expi ry of  

the tender per iod they could have extended i t  un i lateral ly.   

Before i ts expi ry they could have extended i t  un i lateral ly.   Is  
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i t  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Is that  correct  Mr Mokhesi? 

MR MOKHESI :    No.   Remember the issue,  part icular ly the 

pr ice issue.   To be fai r  to the tenderers,  you. . .  you know, you 

must  actual ly indicate to them.  Because you can only hold a 

pr ice for so long.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR MOKHESI :    You know, the f ixed pr ice.   Taking into 

considerat ion that  because you are deal ing wi th  const ruct ion 

here,  pr ices are not  status quo.    10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

MR MOKHESI :    You know, they are r is ing.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

MR MOKHESI :    So to  be fai r  to them,  you must  indicate to  

them:  Are you st i l l  on that  part icular pr ice,  yes or no? 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  So you can do that  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MOKHESI :    That  is the pract ise,  you know.  Whether you 

can do that  uni lateral ly. . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR MOKHESI :    You know.. .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    You might  not  be sure about that .  

MR MOKHESI :    I  am not  sure about  that  but  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    In pract ise.  

MR MOKHESI :    You know, in other instances,  issues have 

been taken whether  you are doing that .   You have to inform 
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the tenderers to say:   Are you st i l l  on that  part icular pr ice?  

Because that  pr ice,  ordinar i ly,  i t  wi l l  be val id for a per iod.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  Okay.   Mr Pretor ius.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  we wi l l  keep t rack on this  and to 

the DCJ.  To the Chair  and due course.   But  you are qui te 

correct  that  there is another step that  must  be fol lowed.  

Before the expiry  of  the per iod,  the department could have 

in i t iated a process to extent  the per iod.   I t  would then have 

requi red some communicat ion wi th  the tenderers that  would 

ei ther say extent  your bid at  the same pr ice or bid again.    10 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  depending. . .  yes,  depending on what is  

the outcome of  that .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Because I  would imagine,  even on the 

tender documents themselves,  the per iod or that  per iod 

would have been speci f ied.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   So . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MOKHESI :    To go back to them to say,  we have 

extended.  Are you st i l l  on that  pr ice,  yes or no? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So a bidder could have said:   Look,  20 

you are extending i t  but  I  am withdrawing my bid.   Right .   Or  

i t  could have said:   I  am agreeing to the extension.   My bid 

remains the same. 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    This happens. . .  th is should happen 



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 105 of 178 
 

before the per iod expires.   But  even af ter the per iod expi res,  

you could,  for example,  cancel  the old process and start  a  

new process.  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja,  you could cancel .   You could cancel  and 

start  the new process but  also again,  you also have to 

indicate that  you have cancel led.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   Wel l ,  you could say to the 

bidders,  and that  is  one of  the opt ions that  is al lowed, you 

could say to the b idders:   L isten,  the per iod has expired.   We 

want to cont inue wi th the process.   Wi l l  you mainta in your 10 

pr ice? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Or  do you want to give us a new 

pr ice? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So that  opt ion is also there.   But  

what you cannot do Mr Mokhesi ,  where you are requi red to 

have an open tender process,  is just  forget  about  the 

process and establ ish your own database at  your  own 

discret ion.   You cannot do that .  20 

MR MOKHESI :    No,  you cannot.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Anyway,  so that  decis ion was 

approved,  accord ing to your statement or your aff idavi t  at  
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paragraph 75.7.   That  decis ion to cancel  the tender and to 

establ ish a database in the discret ion of  the department was 

approved on the 30t h of  July 2010 by Mr Mokoena.  And we 

wi l l  ask him about  that .   Do you see that  in paragraph 75.7? 

MR MOKHESI :    Oh,  seven. . .   okay.   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So when you are looking at  th is whole 

thing Mr Mokhesi ,  d id i t  appear l ike the Bid Adjudicat ion 

Commit tee said:   Look,  the tender val id i ty per iod has expired 

but  we do need to do what we were going to do through a 

tender per iod.   So we wi l l  just  do i t  in a di fferent  way.   We 10 

wi l l  put  everybody on the database and then we wi l l  choose 

who wi l l  be get t ing the job.   Is that  the impression you got  

when you . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MOKHESI :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .were going through th is whole thing to  

understand what was happening? 

MR MOKHESI :    Ja,  but  you cannot do that  because certain 

of  the bidders were disqual i f ied anyway. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,  no,  no.   That  is a di fferent  po int .   

I  am just  asking your own understanding as you were looking 20 

at  th is whole thing before preparing the aff idavi t .   Is  that  the 

impression you got  that  th is B id Adjudicat ion Commit tee 

said:   Look,  the tender val id i ty has expired.  

MR MOKHESI :    Has expi red.  

CHAIRPERSON :    We want to achieve a certa in object ive 
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through the tender process.   We cannot do that  now or we 

are not  going to  do that  now but  we wi l l  do what  we are 

going to do through another process,  namely put  everybody 

into the database and then we wi l l  choose who wi l l  get  the 

job f rom . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MOKHESI :    No,  but  that  is  just  a. . .  that  is  not  the 

choice.   I r respect ive of  what the ci rcumstances are,  you 

have to fo l low the. . .  you know, you cannot decide your own 

process.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,  no,  no.   But  l isten to my 10 

quest ion.  

MR MOKHESI :    Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  [ laughing]   My quest ion is,  looking 

at  what your own understanding was as to what th is Bid 

Adjudicat ion Commit tee sought to do when they found that  

the val id i ty per iod had lapsed.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Was your impression that  they decided 

that  the way to achieve what they wanted to achieve through 

a tender process was to put  everybody into the database and 20 

then choose the people who wi l l  get  the job f rom the 

database? 

MR MOKHESI :    I t  seems l ike . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    . . .you know, f rom the . . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    From the aff idavi ts.  

MR MOKHESI :    . . . the facts and the aff idavi t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR MOKHESI :    I t  seems that  was their  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  the ir  approach.  

MR MOKHESI :    L ike thei r  approach. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay al r ight .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Okay let  us just  summarise that  Mr 

Mokhesi .   And I  understand that  that  is what you are saying.   

In the f i rst  p lace,  the department must  appoint  contractors 10 

through an open tender process.   That  is obl igatory.  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So when something happens,  such 

as what happened here at  the data of  the per iod expi red,  one 

must  rect i fy i t .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    But  one is st i l l  bound to have an 

open tender process.  

MR MOKHESI :    Wel l ,  assuming there was an open tender 

going towards that .   Remember,  th is is about  the extension 20 

of  the val id i ty per iod.   So the process of  open tender would 

have happened because you simply indicat ing to the bidders:   

Are you prepared to,  you know, to remain at  the same pr ice? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes or no.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   So i f  the remedy had been 

appl ied,  i f  the process had been remedied through an agreed 

or extension or whatever i t  was . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    . . . then that  would have been an open 

tender process,  is  what you are saying? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  would have been a cont inuat ion 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MOKHESI :    I t  would have been a cont inuat ion,  yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    of  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MOKHESI :    I t  would be cont inuing.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.   Assuming that  everything was done, 

there was an advert isement and the speci f icat ion and 

evaluat ion and so on.   And then had a va luat ion point .   Then 

there is  the val id i ty per iod expi res and you go back to the 

very same tenderers and say:   Right ,  are you okay wi th the. . .  

can you hold on that  part icular pr ice?  Yes.   And then you 

cont inue.    20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    The adjudicat ion and al l .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  because in  that  case,  the 

remedy would have been put  in  p lace.   The same process 

would have been cont inued to i ts conclusion and then there 
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would have been a proper assessment of  the bids.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Proper and fai r  assessment of  al l  the 

compet ing b ids,  correct? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    What one cannot do,  however,  is 

throw the whole process overboard and simply select  your  

own database.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And that  is  what you say here.   You 10 

say in paragraph 76:  

“The department thus decided to award contract  to  

contractors on var ious databases as wel l  as to the 

contractors who had bid for the tender 

notwi thstanding that  a 105 of  the b idders were 

disqual i f ied for basic bid compl iance reasons and 

that  a further  147 were disqual i f ied because they did 

not  meet the minimum funct ional i ty threshold.   

Those 252 disqual i f ied bidders were simply al lowed 

back into the process.   And then some decision was 20 

made and we are not  sure how that  decision was 

made.  We wi l l  inquire at  quest ions as to  who would 

get  cont racts. ”  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Do you know who in part icular 
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decided that  part icular contractors would be appointed? 

MR MOKHESI :    I  do not  know.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    You concede, however,  as the Chair  

has already pointed out  ear l ier th is  morning,  that  process is 

f lawed with danger because people can be appointed for the 

wrong reasons.  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja.   Yes.   I t  leaves too much d iscret ion to 

then in del iver ing and . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Were you able to  understand how anybody 

could do this Mr Mokhesi?  I  cannot understand how anybody 10 

could do that .   I  mean, you know that  there are people who,  

they are service providers who have been found to be 

disqual i f ied to do this kind of  job.    

 And dur ing the open tender process that  you have now 

decided to di tch.   And then you say now, al l  of  you must  

come back,  qual i f ied or disqual i f ied.   You wi l l . . .  we wi l l  see.  

You are now al l  e l ig ib le to be given the job.   I  cannot  how 

understand how anybody could do that .  

MR MOKHESI :    No,  i t  should not  have been l ike that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  were you able to. . .  is there anything,  20 

any informat ion you got  that  made you understand how 

anybody could do that  k ind of  th ing? 

MR MOKHESI :    Unfortunately not .   I  do not  know why they 

would do i t  in that  part icular fashion.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  do not  know.  I  am just  th inking. . .  
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th inking of  a si tuat ion where you need teachers for a school .   

They. . .  people apply.   You select .   You say:   Okay,  these 

ones have qual i f icat ions.   These do not  have any 

qual i f icat ions.   Or these are under qual i f ied.   Because 

something has happened about the per iod wi thin  which they 

had to apply.    

 You say:   No,  al l  of  you come.  Qual i f ied or not  qual i f ied.   

You can be appointed to teach whatever class.   I  just  cannot 

understand how anybody could do that .    

 And maybe there is  something that  I  wi l l  st i l l  hear that  10 

wi l l  make me understand but  I  just  cannot understand.   I  

mean, i f  they sa id:   Wel l ,  those that  were el ig ible that  

qual i f ied,  we wi l l  take only those.    

 Then subject  to the legal i t ies,  you know, one would say,  

at  least  they are looking for people who are qual i f ied.   But  to  

then say:   We wi l l  br ing everybody,  whether they were 

qual i f ied or disqual i f ied,  we wi l l  now br ing them together.   

We wi l l  choose.   I t  just  does not  seem to make sense at  al l .  

MR MOKHESI :    No,  i t  should not  have been l ike that  Chai r.   

I  agree.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   H’m.  Yes,  Mr Pretor ius.   Maybe you 

have worked wi th th is th ing for qui te some t ime.  You are not  

shocked l ike I  am.   [ laughing]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    There is no acceptable explanat ion 

Chai r.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   [ laughing]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    That  is the simple answer.   But  the. . .  

Chai r,  the var ious invest igat ions have produced some 

examples of  cont ractors who were not  equipped to do the 

job,  having been given contracts to do the job and ut ter ly 

fa i led in the execut ion of  the pro ject  or s imply walked off  

s i te.   There are severa l  examples of  cont ractors just  

deciding wel l  they have got  the money.   They . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    They took the money and lef t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   So there are examples of  that .   10 

And that  is why each part icular contract  and arrangement 

should be invest igated.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Because there are somewhere the 

al legat ions of  the l inks between i l legi t imately appointed 

contractors and the thresholds.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    We wi l l  come to some al legat ions in  

that  regard in the evidence in due course.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And of  course,  whi lst  a l l  that  was 

happening,  a number of  relat ive ly junior employers get  

discipl ined and d ismissed and those who should be held 

accountable are not .   And that  wi l l  come clear in due course.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So you summarise in paragraph 78 

Mr Mokhesi .   You say in  the second sentence of  that  

paragraph:  

“None of  them.. . ”  

 And you are ta lk ing of  the bui ld ing contracts that  were 

concluded in and around July 2010.  

“None of  them was concluded pursuant to any 

proper procurement process.   The department  

simply gave the contracts to contractors on i ts  

databases or to contractors who have submit ted b ids 10 

for the lapsed cancel led tender.”  

 So they were simply handed out .   What we do not  have 

in th is aff idavi t  is,  who made the decisions to  d ist r ibute 

contracts and on what basis those decisions were made and 

thi rdly,  what the consequences are of  that  type of  decision 

making process.   But  we wi l l  come to that  in due course and 

other evidence.    

 And perhaps references wi l l  be made to that  in  the 

course of  the. . .  wi th your ev idence.   But  as far as you are 

concerned,  do you know who selected the cont ractors who 20 

were to be given contracts? 

MR MOKHESI :    No,  I  do not  know.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  we wi l l  g ive detai l  of  the 

example in due course Chai r.   A disqual i f ied cont ractor was 

indeed appointed and according to the Nurcha performed 
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miserable.    

 What is important  too,  in paragraph 80.2,  and remember 

we put t ing together the whole j igsaw facts here Mr Mokhesi ,  

is that  in terms of  these contracts,  i t  was the contractor ’s 

obl igat ion to provide “al l  of  the necessary mater ia ls ,  labour,  

p lant  and equipment to erect  the project” .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    That  was the bui ld ing contract .  

MR MOKHESI :    That  was the bui ld ing,  yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And then in  80.4 just  to give chapter 10 

and verse to your ear l ier evidence:  

“The cont ractor was ent i t led to payment to the 

amount set  out  in Appendix 1 per mi lestone and date 

as set  out  in Appendix 1 read wi th appendix 3.”  

 That  would be the sort  of  payment plan that  was 

provided for the Divis ion of  Revenue Act ,  I  presume.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Which said before you can pay 

money to a thi rd party out  of  th is store or grant ,  you must  

have a payment plan or schedule.  20 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  that  ident i fy the work that  you have to 

do.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   What must  be done and 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MOKHESI :    How many needs,  how many foundat ions,  
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how many. . .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And then the contractor was required 

to del iver  to  the department  a claim for payments of  al l  

amounts i t  considers to be due which shal l  be ver i f ied by the 

department pr ior to processing and payment.   So there would 

be a claim.  You would say for 200 foundat ions of  the 500 

houses to be bui ld.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    That  c laim would be put  in af ter the 

work has been done and af ter  the mater ia ls had been 

suppl ied and i t  would have to be ver i f ied on incept ion by the 

department.   Am I  correct? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So in other words,  the expendi ture of  

the state is safeguarded by processes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Let  alone the process of  appointment 

in the f i rst  p lace by a fai r  and open tender.   But  even the 20 

execut ion is c losely guarded. 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    None of  those provisions were 

appl ied to the R 600 mi l l ion in th is case.   Is that  correct? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC :    That  is correct? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Remember you are talk ing to  me Mr 

Mokhesi .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.   Oh, sorry.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  need to hear what you are saying.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So Appendix 3 which is the project  

plan and what is requi red by Dora as the payment schedule 10 

is deal t  wi th in paragraph 81.    

“There must  be detai ls of  progress,  mi lestones and 

f inancial  project ions.”    

 Do you see that  in  paragraph 81? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So you summarise that  in paragraph 

83 Mr Mokhesi .   You say:  

“The basic st ructure of  the agreement is  

nonetheless clear.   The department would make 

payments to the contractor against  complet ion by 20 

the contractor of  part icular stages or mi lestones of  

the works wi th the works claimed for  to be ver i f ied 

by the department . ”  

 Is that  correct? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And you make the point  in paragraph 

84 that  that  accords wi th const ruct ion indust ry pract ise.   And 

also in paragraph 85 the housing subsidy system.  What is 

the housing subsidy system?  I f  you would just  te l l  the Chai r,  

p lease.? 

MR MOKHESI :    I t  is a project  management system that  the 

sector uses and i t  records al l  the mi lestones and you know, 

for  housing and whether i t  is inf rastructure and so on.   So 

that  is the housing subsidy system that  we are using for al l  

the provinces.   In fact ,  the sector as a whole.   But  the 10 

Department of  Human Sett lements uses that  and thei r  

reports of  how many of  what you have done come out  of  that  

system, bas ica l l y  what  the  sys tem is ,  bas i ca l l y  your  p ro jec t  

management  sys tem.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  you aga in  summar i se  i t  and you  

prov ide  some de ta i l  in  parag raph  85.5  on  page 123,  Mr  

Mokhes i ,  a lso  cons is ten t  w i th  the  ev idence you are  g iv ing  

now.   You say:  

“ I  emphas ise  tha t  ach iev ing  a  m i les tone invo lves 

const ruc t ion  work .   For  example ,  the  foundat ions  20 

mi les tone invo lves d igg ing  the  foundat ions,  

th rowing the  appropr ia te  s lab ,  ins ta l l ing  the  

necessary  p ip ing  fo r  se rv i ces  such as  sewerage,  

wate r  and the  l i ke . ”  

And then you say,  impor tan t ly :  
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“The mater ia l s  re la t ing  to  a  pa r t i cu la r  m i les tone 

must  be  used by  be ing  incorpora ted  in to  the  

const ruc t ion  work  be fore  the  m i les tone is  met .   The 

mi les tone is  no t  met  i f  the  mater ia ls  a re  s tand ing  

loose on s i te .   The pr inc ip le  beh ind  th is  i s  

expressed as  the  requ i rement  tha t  government  

ach ieve va lue  fo r  money befo re  i t  makes a  

payment . ”  

So there  are  two th ings tha t  emerge f rom tha t ,  Mr  Mokhes i ,  

I  take  i t  tha t  tha t  i s  a  co r rec t  summary o f  the  pos i t ion?  10 

MR MOKHESI :    Cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The f i rs t  i s  tha t  be fore  the  

cont rac tor  has a  c la im fo r  the  f i rs t  m i les tone,  the 

foundat ions,  a l l  tha t  work  mus t  have been done and 

ver i f ied .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  be fore  i t  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And the  second th ing  is  be fore  the  

supp l ie r  wou ld  rece ive  any payment  f rom the  cont rac to r  a l l  

the  mater ia l s  wou ld  have to  be  in  those foundat ions.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And then you make the  po in t  in  

parag raph 85.6 :  

“A cont rac tor ’s  work  must  be  checked befo re  the  

depar tment  o r  o ther  o rgan o f  s ta te  feeds in to  the  

hous ing  subs idy  sys tem the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  a  
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par t i cu la r  m i les tone has been reached and tha t  

payment  can there fore  be  made. ”  

And tha t  i s  a  complex  and cont ro l led  process in  te rms o f  

var ious regu la t ions and p rov is ions ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Cor rec t ,  yes .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And then in  85 .7  you say:  

“A cont rac tor  on  a  government  funded hous ing  

pro jec t  i s  thus on ly  en t i t led  to  an  in te r im payment  

aga ins t  h i s  o r  her  hav ing  ach ieved a  proper l y  

ver i f ied  m i les tone . ”  10 

Now tha t  you say in  paragraph 86 accords w i th  Nat iona l  

Treasury  requ i rements ,  DORA requ i rements  as  we l l  as  a l l  

the  bu i ld ing  regu la t ions tha t  ex i s t  and inc lud ing  the  

hous ing  subs idy  sys tem,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I f  we cou ld  go  back then p lease to  

parag raph 40.   I  w i l l  g ive  you a  page in  a  moment .   I t  i s  on  

page 108.   A re  you there?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Parag raph 40 records tha t  the 20 

Nat iona l  Depar tment  o f  Human Set t lements  as  a  p rac t ice ,  I  

p resume,  mon i to red  what  the  prov inces were  spend ing  o f  

the i r  DORA a l loca t ions.   That  was i t s  du ty,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And in  October  2010,  s ix  months  in  
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to  the  f inanc ia l  year  the  mon i to r ing  exerc ise  ind ica ted  tha t  

four  p rov inces,  inc lud ing  the  Free S ta te ,  had not  met  the i r  

month l y  spend ing  ta rge ts  nor  the i r  month ly  ta rge ts  fo r  the  

de l i very  o f  low cost  houses.   That  was a  fac t  in  2010 in  the  

Free S ta te .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Min i s te r  Sexwale ,  who was then 

the  Min i s te r  o f  Human Set t lements  ra ised concerns w i th  

the  va r ious p rov inc ia l  MECs and issued a  no t ice  and sa id  

to  the  Free S ta te  and the  o ther  p rov inces,  I  want  to  see 10 

your  expend i tu re  recovery  p lan ,  what  i s  re fe r red  to  in  your  

a f f idav i t  la te r  as  t he  ERP.   Do you see tha t?   

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    In  o ther  words he  was say ing  show 

me how you a re  go ing  to  f i x  th is .  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You make  a  representa t ion  to  me 

as to  how th is  s i tua t ion  o f  unders tand ing  is  go ing  to  be  

remedied,  o therw ise  you fo r fe i t .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And the  money w i l l  be  d i f fe ren t ly  

a l loca ted .   I s  tha t  l igh t  bo ther ing  you?  

MR MOKHESI :    No,  no t  rea l l y.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I s  i t  okay?   So in  parag raph  42 you  

say the  MEC,  you have to ld  tha t  tha t  was Mr  Zwane,  and  



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 122 of 178 
 

the  depar tment  sen io r  o f f i c ia ls  met  to  deve lop  a  p lan  to  

improve expend i tu re  and you say in  parag raph 42:  

“The expend i tu re  p lan  wh ich  the  depar tment  

deve loped,  and wh ich  I  descr ibe  in  more  de ta i l  

be low,  p ro jec t s  a  very  h igh  ra te  o f  expend i tu re  ove r  

the  per iod  November  2010 to  the  end o f  March 

2011. ”  

We wi l l  look  a t  the  p lan  in  a  moment  because the  p lan  

i t se l f ,  as  you w i l l  p robab ly  reca l l ,  i s  qu i te  remarkab le  fo r  

what  i t  says  and what  i t  does not  say,  bu t  we w i l l  ge t  there .   10 

Paragraph 43 –  we l l ,  le t  us  f i rs t  dea l  w i th  one issue.   The 

name is  ins t ruc t i ve ,  expend i tu re  recovery  p lan .   Man i fes t l y  

the  who le  ob jec t  o f  the  p lan  was to  make sure  tha t  the  

money,  the  1 .4  m i l l ion ,  was not  taken away f rom the  

prov ince.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  what  the  purpose o f  the  p lan  

wou ld  have been was to  pe rsuade the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  

and Treasury  no t  to  take  the  money away.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  no t  to  take  a  cer ta in  por t ion  o f  the 20 

money,  no t  a l l  o f  i t ,  you  know,  and th is  i s  measured aga ins t  

the  per fo rmance to  say th is  i s  what  you are  l i ke ly  go ing  to  

ach ieve and,  you know,  as  i t  la te r  tu rned out ,  on ly  200  

mi l l ion  I  th ink  –  or  200 –  ja ,  263 mi l l ion  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    236 mi l l ion .  



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 123 of 178 
 

MR MOKHESI :    36 ,  so r ry.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l ,  tha t  depends on what  you 

to ld  them but  we w i l l  come to  tha t .   The coro l la ry  to  tha t  i s  

tha t  i f  you  d id  no t  manage to  persuade them they wou ld  

have put  the  money to  lawfu l  and in  the i r  m inds be t te r  use  

by  g i v ing  i t  to  per fo rming p rov inces .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  tha t  i s  normal ly  what  w i l l  happen –  

tha t  i s  what  happens.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    You know,  money is  rea l loca ted to  o ther  10 

prov inces tha t  a re  per fo rming.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And,  o f  course ,  i f  the  depar tment ,  

the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  and the  Treasury  i s  persuaded on 

fa lse  in fo rmat ion ,  they a re  then prevented f rom do ing  the i r  

job  in  te rms o f  the  leg i s la t ion  by  a l loca t ing  the  money 

appropr ia te ly.  

MR MOKHESI :    I  do  no t  know.   Nat iona l  Treasury  –  ag  

sor ry,  the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  was not  conv inced  o f  the  

recovery  p lan ,  they g i ve  the  money anyway.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    R igh t ,  we  w i l l  come to  tha t ,  what  20 

they were  to ld  and what  they were  no t  to ld .   R igh t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And where  they –  and on bas is  o f  

what  in fo rmat ion  they f ina l l y  made  the i r  dec is ions.   But  le t  

us  go  to  paragraph 43 and wha t  you ra ise  is  impor tan t  
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because they warned the  p rov inc ia l  depar tment  about  

noncompl iance and you say tha t  in  your  a f f idav i t ,  no t  so?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Paragraph 43 you say:  

“By the  t ime the  depar tment  deve loped tha t  p lan…” 

That  i s  the  expend i tu re  recovery  p lan .  

“…October  2010 ,  i t  had a l ready s ta r ted  mak ing  

un lawfu l  payments  f rom i t s  f i sca l  a l loca t ion  to  some 

cont rac tors  and  supp l ie rs .   The h igh  ra te  o f  

expend i tu re  pro jec ted  in  the  p lan  fo r  the  per iod  10 

November  2010 to  March 2011…” 

Those are  the  remain ing  months  a f te r  the  p lan  was 

deve loped.  

“…was premised  on and depended upon such  

un lawfu l  payments  cont inu ing .   Fu r thermore ,  by  the  

t ime the  depar tment  deve loped  the  p lan  i t  knew 

because i t  had been to ld  by  the  Nat iona l  

Depar tment  tha t  such payments  were  un lawfu l  and  

must  s top . ”  

Cor rec t?  20 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  the  –  ja .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  the  un lawfu l  payments  were  

un lawfu l  in  severa l  respects ,  you po in ted  out .   F i rs t l y,  they  

were  made to  persuade the  Nat iona l  Treasury  and 

depar tment  tha t  money had been  proper l y  spent  and tha t  
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a lways in  o rde r,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And,  fu r thermore ,  they were  

un lawfu l  because  there  had been  no proper  p rocurement  

p rocess.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  there  was no procurement  

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And tha t  was un lawfu l  too  because  

they were  advance payments  wh ich  had not  been 

processed in  accordance w i th  the  requ i rements  o f  DORA,  10 

cor rec t?   And Treasury  regu la t ions .   

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Cor rec t?   Yes.   So you  say in  

parag raph 44 tha t :  

“The depar tment  knew tha t  the  p lan  was un lawfu l  

ye t  cont inued to  make the  payments . ”  

Do I  unders tand your  s ta tement  cor rec t l y  here?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  you say the  payments  were  

un lawfu l  because no cont rac ts  were  in  p lace  w i th  the  20 

supp l ie rs ,  no  p roper  p rocu rement  p rocess had  been 

fo l lowed and ne i ther  the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  nor  the  

Nat iona l  Treasury  had autho r ised or  indeed even knew 

about  the  payments ,  those are  the  advance payments .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Cor rec t?   So Nat iona l  Treasury  

was not  to ld  look ,  we have made a  who le  lo t  o f  payments ,  

they are  advance payments  and  tha t  they are  probab ly  

un lawfu l  because  no procurement  p rocess was fo l lowed.   

That  in fo rmat ion  was not  g i ven to  Nat iona l .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  came to  learn  o f  the  s i tua t ion  

th rough o ther  means,  wh ich  we w i l l  come to  in  a  moment .   

Paragraph 44.2 :  

“Nev i l le  Chaney,  who was Ch ie f  o f  Opera t ions o f  the  10 

Nat iona l  Depar tment  had learned…” 

And I  emphas ise  the  words had lea rned.  

“…that  the  depar tment  was mak ing  un lawfu l  

payments . ”  

Now,  as  you say,  Mr  Mokhes i ,  tha t  in fo rmat ion  wou ld  have 

been g leaned by  you in  the  d isc ip l inary  proceed ings tha t  

took p lace a f te r  2010/2011.   Am I  cor rec t?   Do I  unders tand  

the  pos i t ion  cor rec t l y?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    What  he  sa id  in  those p roceed ings  20 

was no,  no ,  I  was not  to ld  th is  o r  the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  

was not  to ld  th is  by  the  prov ince,  we learn t  by  –  th rough 

our  Ch ie f  F inanc ia l  Off i cer  p ick ing  up  the  payments  on  the  

hous ing  subs idy  scheme ledgers ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?   I s  tha t  in  

acco rdance w i th  what  you reca l l?  



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 127 of 178 
 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  tha t  i s  how they w i l l  p ick  i t  up .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  they p icked i t  up ,  were  the  

very  words used,  cor rec t .   You reca l l  tha t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.   And he says or  he  sa id  and  

you record  th is  a t  the  top  o f  page 110:  

“Chaney d iscussed th is  w i th  o f f i c ia ls  f rom the  

Nat iona l  Depar tment  and the  Nat iona l  Treasury. ”  

In  o ther  words,  h is  d i scovery  or  h i s  in fo rmat ion  tha t  

payments  were  be ing  made.  10 

“The o f f i c ia ls  agreed tha t  the  depar tment ’s  

payments  were  un lawfu l .   The o f f i c ia ls  a lso  agreed 

tha t  had the  depar tment…”  

That  i s  the  Free S ta te  depar tment .  

“…approached the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  o r  the  

Nat iona l  Treasury  fo r  permiss ion  to  make such  

advance payments  permiss ion  wou ld  have been  

re fused. ”  

In  any event  tha t  was Chaney ’s  ev idence.   Fo r  the  record ,  

Cha i r,  i t  i s  in  vo lume 17,  Free S ta te  bund le  17  a t  page 253  20 

and fo l low ing.   I  can  go the re  i f  you  w ish .  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   Thank you,  I  have  

noted.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  seems a t  leas t  f rom Mr  Chaney ’s  

ev idence tha t  he  was o f  the  unders tand ing  tha t  permiss ion  
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f rom Nat iona l  Treasury  had to  ac tua l l y  be  g i ven  before  

advance payments  cou ld  be  made .   That  was a t  leas t  h is  

v iew.   No f ramework  here ,  permiss ion .   

MR MOKHESI :    No,  I  th ink  le t  us  c la r i f y  tha t .   In  

c i rcumstances l i ke  th is ,  fo r  examp le ,  wh ich  c lea r ly  w i l l  fa l l  

ou ts ide  the  f ramework ,  you  w i l l  then have to  go  to  Nat iona l  

Treasury  o f  Treasury  so  tha t  you can a lso  ou t l ine  how you 

are  go ing  to  manage,  you know,  because the  i ssue  here  is  

no t  to  lose  money,  how you are  go ing  to  imp lement  th is  

par t i cu la r  scheme,  i f  I  may ca l l  i t  tha t  way.   But  there  i s  a  10 

s tandard  f ramework  tha t  says  yes,  p repayments  are  

a l lowed –  ag ,  advance payments  are  a l lowed prov ided they 

are  par t  o f  a  cont rac t .   But  c lear ly  th is  i s  an  except ion  

here .   That  we are  dea l ing  w i th  here  is  an  except ion ,  i t  w i l l  

requ i re  ou ts ide  permiss ion  f rom Treasury.   You know,  i t  i s  

no t  l i ke  me and you,  one cont rac tor,  advance payments  or  

p repayments  and  s imp ly  app ly  tha t  par t i cu la r  f ramework  

and then you agree on a  spec i f i c  m i les tone.   For  example ,  

i t  i s  a  smal l  cont rac to r,  he  does no t  –  he  is  no t  ab le  to ,  you 

know,  execute  because he is  an  SMME and so  on .   In  tha t  20 

ins tance,  you do tha t  par t i cu la r  advance payment  bu t  i t  i s  

par t  o f  the  cont rac t  wh ich  m igh t  a lso  inc lude tha t  the 

depar tment  must  co-s ign  w i th  you a t  the  bank account ,  fo r  

example ,  you know?  A l l  those par t i cu la r  cont ro l s  were  

then [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imul taneous ly ]  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  unders tand,  i f  we cou ld  jus t  

summar ise  then.   I  am sor ry,  I  in te r rup ted  you,  had you  

f in ished?  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja ,  I  am done.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The f ramework  you ta lk  about  

makes prov is ion  fo r  advanced payment  p rov ided  cer ta in  

cond i t ions  are  met .  

MR MOKHESI :     Cor rec t .    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The c i r cumstances tha t  we are  

dea l ing  w i th  in  th is  case c lear ly  fa l l  ou t s ide  tha t  10 

f ramework .  

MR MOKHESI :    And the  sheer  magn i tude o f  i t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And the  sheer  magn i tude,  r igh t ,  fa l l  

ou ts ide  tha t  f ramework .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  we  can put  tha t  f ramework  

as ide .   In  th is  case i t  wou ld  have been necessary  to  ge t  

the  permiss ion  o f  Nat iona l  Treasury.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Okay and tha t  permiss ion  was not  20 

ob ta ined.    

MR MOKHESI :    No,  i t  was not .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Okay.   You  say in  paragraph  44.3 :  

“The Nat iona l  Depar tment  and Nat iona l  Treasury ’s  

main  ob jec t ion  to  the  payments  was tha t  they were  
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advanced payments . ”  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  Mr  Pre tor ius ,  I  am sor ry.   

Now were  there  s i tua t ions,  p rac t ica l  s i tua t ions such as  

these where  the  ex i s t ing  f ramework  was not  used but  

Nat iona l  Treasury  was approached  fo r  approva l  as  to  what  

shou ld  be  done and i f  so ,  wou ld  the  – d id  the  Nat iona l  

Treasury  g ive  approva l  fo r  tha t  s i tua t ion  in  e f fec t  say ing  

you can work  ou ts ide  the  ex i s t ing  f ramework  or  d id  

someth ing  l i ke  tha t  never  happen prac t ica l l y?  

MR MOKHESI :    I  cannot  reca l l  any  o f  those c i rcumstances  10 

tha t  they ever  ex i s ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR MOKHESI :    You know? 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Because,  you know,  the  advance 

prepay ing  or  advance payments  a re  more  o f  an  except ion  

ra the r  than the  ru le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    The ru le  i s ,  you know,  you pay –  ag ,  work  

ge ts  done and you pay.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  yes .  

MR MOKHESI :    Or  in  cer ta in  ins tances where  the re  m ight  

be  some sor t  o f  a  p repayment  pa r t i cu la r l y  in  b ig  cont rac ts  

in  huge cont rac ts ,  you know,  what  they ca l l  s i te  

es tab l i shment .   S i te  es tab l i shment ,  i t  i s  a  sor t  o f  
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p repayment ,  i f  you  look i t ,  bu t  i t  w i l l  have  been  con t rac ted  

upf ron t  to  say –  to  have the  cont rac to r  to  se t  up  s i te ,  you  

know,  he  need money because  they have not  s ta r ted  

work ing  as  ye t .   So i t  w i l l  be  a  cer ta in l y  percentage,  10% 

of  the  va lue  o f  the  cont rac t  and tha t  bu t  i t  i s  w i th in  the  

f ramework  to  say i t  must  be  cont rac ted  to ,  i t  must  be  a  par t  

o f  i t ,  bu t  no t  a t  th is  sca le  tha t  you are  ta lk ing  about .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  apar t  f rom the  quest ion  whether  a t  a  

p rac t ica l  leve l  you know o f  any s i tua t ions wh ich  arose in  

te rms o f  ins t ruments ,  regu la t ions,  i s  there  a  prov i s ion  tha t  10 

says i f  you  cannot  work  or  i f  you  do not  work  w i th in  th is  

f ramework ,  ex i s t ing  f ramework ,  you can approach Nat iona l  

Treasury  ou ts ide  o f  tha t  f ramework  or  someth ing  fo r  

approva l  to  be  g i ven outs ide  o f  tha t  f ramework?  

MR MOKHESI :    Wel l ,  no t  tha t  I  am aware  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  someth ing  jus t  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR MOKHESI :    Not  tha t  I  am aware  o f .   Remember,  

Treasury  i s  the  custod ians o f  the  f inanc ia l  ru les  and 

regu la t ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  yes .  20 

MR MOKHESI :    Now where  there  is  uncer ta in ty  a round a  

par t i cu la r  i ssue you w i l l  a lways go to  them.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    And so l i c i t  the i r  v iew and request  the i r  

suppor t  o r  approva l  and so  on .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    That  i s  normal ly  what  you w i l l  do ,  

par t i cu la r l y  i f  you  are  no  cer ta in .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  when you say approva l  cou ld  

have been –  or  the  Nat iona l  Treasury  cou ld  have been  

approached fo r  approva l ,  i f  I  unders tood you cor rec t l y,  you 

are  s imp ly  –  you are  no t  bas ing  tha t  on  any spec i f i c  

p rov is ion  in  any regu la t ion .  

MR MOKHESI :    No.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You jus t  th ink  tha t  because they  are  the 10 

custod ians o f  these regu la t ions and i f  you have d i f f i cu l t y  

work ing  w i th in  the  ex is t ing  f ramework  you might  have to  

approach them.   What  they w i l l  say  to  you is  someth ing  you 

do not  know.   They might  say  ha rd  luck  i f  you  cannot  work  

w i th  [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imul taneous ly ]  

MR MOKHESI :    I f  you  cannot  work  w i th  i t ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  they m ight  dev i se  someth ing  fo r  you.   

You do not  know whethe r  they wou ld  be  ab le  to .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  they m ight  come up w i th  a  be t te r  

so lu t ion .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    O f  how to  approach th is  par t i cu la r,  you  

know. . .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR MOKHESI :    So  you never  know because obv ious l y  



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 133 of 178 
 

they  w i l l  be  eva lua t ing  the  r i sk  in  te rms o f  what  you want  

to  do .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Thank you,  Mr  Pre tor ius .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  aga in  th is  i s  a  mat te r  and law 

regu la t ion ,  we w i l l  p rov ide  w i th  chapter  and verse .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    There  i s  a lso  a  judgment  o f  H is  

Lordsh ip  Mr  Just ice  P lasket  dea l ing  w i th  the  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Which  we w i l l  a lso  prov ide .   10 

Paragraph 44.3  on  page 110,  Mr  Mokhes i  reads:  

“The Nat iona l  Depar tment ’s  and Nat iona l  Treasury ’s  

main  ob jec t ion  to  the  payments  was tha t  they were  

advance payments .   Mon ies  were  be ing  t ransfer red  

to  cont rac tors  o r  supp l ie rs  w i thout  any work  hav ing  

been done or  mater ia ls  hav ing  been rece ived. ”  

That  was the i r  compla in t ,  as  I  unders tand i t .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.   And then you say –  and in  

fa i rness to  yourse l f  you exp la in  i t  a  l i t t le  more  tho rough ly  20 

here ,  you say in  parag raph 44.4 :  

“One o f  the  bas i c  fea tu res  o f  the  S ta te ’s  po l i cy  on  

s ta te  funded hous ing  schemes  –  and th i s  i s  

re f lec ted  in  var ious regu la tory  ins t ruments  –  i s  tha t  

payment  may on ly  be  made aga ins t  va lue  ac tua l l y  
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rece ived and on ly  on  the  ach ievement  o f  se t  

m i les tones. ”  

You have to ld  the  Cha i r  about  tha t .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    In  o ther  words,  the  S ta te ,  as  

employer,  w i l l  on ly  pay a  cont rac tor  fo r  a  

const ruc t ion  job  once the  job  has ac tua l l y  been 

comple ted .   In te r im progress  payments  are  

permiss ib le  bu t  on ly  fo r  p redetermined def ined  

sect ions o f  the  job  and then  on ly  once those 10 

sect ions o f  the  job  have ac tua l l y  been comple ted .   

The depar tment ’s  payments  to  supp l ie rs  and  

cont rac tors  b reached these bas ic  requ i rements  

because the  supp l ie rs  had not  supp l ied  any 

mater ia l s  and the  cont rac tors  had not  done any  

work . ”  

That  i s  the  summary o f  the  s i tua t ion ,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  co r rec t .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t ,  o f  course ,  the  money has now 

been spent .   And i t  may seem obv ious bu t  i t  i s  perhaps  

wor th  emphas is ing ,  the  who le  purpose o f  these  cont ro ls  

and prov is ions is  to  ensure  tha t  the  peop le  who need the  

money and the  serv i ces  prov ided by  the  money ge t  those 
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serv i ces  proper ly  pa id  fo r  and fa i r l y  spent ,  co r rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Le t  us  look a t  th is  expend i tu re  

recovery  p lan ,  i f  you  w i l l .   I f  you  cou ld  go  p lease to  page 

226 o f  FS14.   Now to  make c lea r  the  contex t  once aga in  o f  

th is  p lan ,  th is  i s  now in  October  2010.   Ha l f  the  year  has 

a l ready gone and th is  i s  an  expend i tu re  recovery  p lan  to  

take  p lace in  the  remain ing  s ix  months  o f  the  year,  

October,  November,  December,  January,  February,  March.   

Th is  i s  the  p lan  a t  page 226 o f  bund le  FS14.   Do you see 10 

tha t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Do you recogn ise  th is  document?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  I  see i t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A l r igh t .   I t  con ta ins  var ious 

prov is ions,  i t  i s  ac tua l l y  a  s l ide  presenta t ion  bu t  i f  I  cou ld  

ask  you p lease to  go  to  page 229.   I  am sor ry,  i t  i s  page – I  

am confus ing  myse l f  w i th  red  and b lack  numbers .   My 

apo log ies .   Go to  page b lack  number  232.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  i s  ac tua l l y  over  the  page tha t  I  

wanted you to  go  bu t  -  in  fac t  I  was not  confused,  p lease 

go back to  page 229.   

“Ten po in t  p lan  on  expend i tu re  recovery  p lan  

cont inued. ”  
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A re  you a t  page 229?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  229.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The p lan  says tha t :  

“P ro jec ts  must  be  c lass i f ied  in to  two groups.   Group 

A ,  ready to  run .   Focus on a l l  p ro jec ts  tha t  a re  

ready to  run…”  

I t  shou ld  read.  

“50  pro jec ts  w i th  4  844 hous ing  un i ts .  Focused  

approach on cost ing  o f  foundat ions,  wa l l  p la tes  and 

f ina ls . ”  10 

That  wou ld  inc lude the  roo f ,  I  p resume? 

MR MOKHESI :    Ja .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    In  o ther  words,  what  th is  p lan  was 

say ing  to  Nat iona l  Treasury  and the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  i s  

we a re  go ing  to  ac tua l l y  bu i ld  the  houses.  

MR MOKHESI :    Cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.   And i f  one goes to  –  we l l ,  a t  

leas t  4  800 o f  them.   I f  one goes to  page 233 one sees the  20 

cash f low pro jec t i ons .  

CHAIRPERSON:    233?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.   In  o ther  words,  what  the  Free 

S ta te  depar tment  i s  say ing  to  Nat iona l  Treasury  and to  the  

Nat iona l  Depar tment ,  in  o rder  to  “ recover  the  expend i tu re” ,  
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in  o ther  words to  avo id  the  loss  o f  the  expend i tu re  i s  tha t  

th is  i s  ou r  cash f low p ro jec t ion ,  th is  i s  what  we are  go ing  

to  spend in  the  var ious months  remain ing  th i s  year.   I  

unders tand tha t  document  cor rec t l y,  do  I?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  to  say up  to  the  end o f  the  f inanc ia l  

year  th is  i s  how …[ in tervenes]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  i t  says  November  2010 and 

then the re  are  var ious i tems o f  expend i tu re  under  tha t  10 

head ing ,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    To ta l l ing  R256 mi l l ion .  

MR MOKHESI :    November?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  have rounded the  f igure ,  look  a t  

the  to ta l  a t  the  bo t tom.  

MR MOKHESI :    Oh,  okay.   Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Cor rec t?   In  o ther  words,  what  the 

depar tment  was te l l ing  Nat iona l  Treasury  and the  Nat iona l  

Depar tment  was tha t  in  November  2010 we wou ld  do  8  500  20 

foundat ions,  we wou ld  expend R170 mi l l ion  and wa l l  p la tes  

on  the  foundat ion ’s  wa l ls ,  3  500 and then  another  

expend i tu re  f igure  o f  R86 593 500.   So there  wou ld  be  

8  500 foundat ions,  170 mi l l ion ,  3  500 wa l l  p la tes ,  86 .5  

m i l l ion .   Do you see tha t?  
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MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And so  i t  goes on.   In  December  

2010 the  cash f low pro jec t ion ,  es t imated in  expend i tu re ,  i f  

you look a t  the  to ta l  a t  the  bo t tom o f  R201 mi l l ion ,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Where  are  you?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A re  you w i th  me?  Look a t  

December  2010.  

MR MOKHESI :     Oh,  December  2010.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    That  co lumn.  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja .  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    2  500 foundat ions,  50  m i l l ion  wou ld  

be  spent .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  yes .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wal l  p la tes ,  3500,  R86.5  m i l l ion  

wou ld  be  spent .  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    There  wou ld  be  3  000 comp le t ions  

and the  expend i tu re  there  in  re la t ion  to  those comple t ions 

wou ld  be  R65 mi l l ion .   But  the  to ta l  wou ld  be  R201  mi l l ion  

spent .  20 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    January  2011,  the  var ious 

components  wou ld  resu l t  in  a  to ta l  expend i tu re  o f  

R149 059 500,  do  you see tha t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    February  2011 i t  was pro jec ted  tha t  

R220mi l l ion  wou ld  be  spent  on  the  var ious components  

l i s ted  in  the  cash  f low pro jec t ion  schedu le ,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :   Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    March  R170 004 300,  and the  t i t le  

in  the  –  the  f igure  in  the  bo t tom r igh t -hand co rner,  fo r  a l l  

tha t  work  fo r  the  remain ing  s i x  months  wou ld  be  an  

expend i tu re  on  work  ac tua l l y  comp le ted  o f  R1 038 230 900,  

cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  th is  i s  the  expend i tu re  recovery  

p lan  tha t  the  Na t iona l  Min is te r  says to  the  Depar tment ,  

g ive  me in fo rmat ion  as  to  how you ’ re  go ing  to  spend the  

money by  the  end o f  the  year  in  o rder  to  persuade me not  

to  fo r fe i t  the  money or  no t  to  cause you to  fo r fe i t  the 

money,  to  the  Free S ta te  Depar tment .   Th is  i s  the  

rep resenta t ion  or  the  answer  i t  ge ts ,  i t  says ,  

“By the  end o f  the  f inanc ia l  year  we wou ld  have 

spent  R1mi l l ion  –  R1b i l l i on ” ,  

 Cor rec t?  20 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Now,  i t  must  have been obv ious to  

the  Free S ta te  Depar tment  a t  the  t ime tha t  th is  cou ld  never  

be  ach ieved,  you wou ld  agree?  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja .  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    In  fac t ,  th is  i s  a  comple te  

m isrepresenta t ion  o f  the  pos i t ion  because a t  the  t ime there  

was a  para l le l  p ro jec t  o f  advanced payments  be ing  made,  

cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So ,  there ’s  –  can you g ive  any  

exp lanat ion ,  o ther  than th is  i s  comple te  f raud  on the  

Nat iona l  Depar tment?   I t ’s  a  d i f f i cu l t  quest ion  fo r  you to  

answer,  I  know you account  to  peop le  bu t  the re  can be no  

o ther  exp lanat ion ,  sure l y?  10 

MR MOKHESI :    Ja ,  so  …[ in tervenes] .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You agree w i th  me? 

MR MOKHESI :    No,  i t ’s  –  ja ,  no  i t ’s  no t  p rac t ica l l y  

poss ib le  to  spend  tha t  amount  o f  money.  

CHAIRPERSON:    When they prepared th is  document ,  th is  

wou ld  have been in  wh ich  month  o f  2010,  October?  

MR MOKHESI :  Ja i t  wou ld  have  been 

October…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  I  th ink  maybe say ing  October.  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja  to  say fo r  the  res t  o f  the  f inanc ia l  yea r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you reca l l  –  a re  you ab le  to  say  

rough ly  how many houses o r  un i t s  they had been  ab le  to  

bu i ld  in  the  –  f rom the  beg inn ing  o f  the  f inanc ia l  year  to  

October?  

MR MOKHESI :    Cha i r,  a t  tha t  t ime i t  was even ve ry  
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d i f f i cu l t  to  reconc i le  because o f  th is  pa r t i cu la r  p rob lem.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Bu t  as  you s i t  there  now,  do  you –  d id  

you get  to  conc lude how many houses they had,  

par t i cu la r ly,  bu i l t  and comple ted?  

MR MOKHESI :    I  w i l l  have to ,  you know we –  no  I  can ’ t  

say  i t  o f f  hand,  there  wou ld  have been  some 

houses…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  bu t  i t ’s  a  f igure  you can f ind  ou t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja ,  there  wou ld  have been –  because you 

can ex t rac t  tha t  in fo rmat ion  f rom the  HSSC system.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    There  wou ld  have been,  perhaps,  a  few 

houses and work  in  p rogress in  the  fo rm o f  m i les tones,  

foundat ions,  so  many and so  on ,  there  wou ld  have been.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Bu t…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The reason why  I  was ask ing  i s  tha t  one  

might  be  ab le  to  say,  they themse lves,  wou ld  have known 

tha t  i f  f rom,  Apr i l ,  May,  June,  Ju ly,  August ,  Sep tember,  

October,  i f  in  seven months  tha t  e i ther,  no t  bu i l t  any  20 

houses or  they ’d  bu i l t  houses tha t  fa l l  be low a  cer ta in  

number,  there  was no way they cou ld  bu i ld  so  many  houses 

w i th in  the  t ime tha t  was le f t  in  the  f inanc ia l  year  and g iven  

cer ta in  p rac t ica l i t ies  tha t  they knew? 

MR MOKHESI :    Ja  I ’m  –  normal l y,  you know on a  year l y  



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 142 of 178 
 

bas is  the re  w i l l  be  some houses tha t  have not  been 

comple ted  tha t  a re  on l y  comple ted  in  the  cur ren t  f inanc ia l  

year.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    You know tha t  move sor t  o f  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    Where ,  a t  the  end o f  the  year  you ’ l l  have  

so  many un i ts  and a  cer ta in  por t ion  w i l l  be  work  in  

p rogress,  so  many foundat ions and so  on  and so  many wa l l  

p la tes  bu t  no t  comple t ions and then you move th is  –  you ’ l l  10 

move w i th  tha t  in  the  …[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    In to  the  new f inanc ia l  yea r.  

MR MOKHESI :    In  the  new f inanc ia l  yea r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  o f  course  you –  in  tha t  s i tua t ion ,  

do  you use the  money o f  the new f inanc ia l  year  to  

comple te  those o r  do  you…[ in tervenes] .  

MR MOKHESI :    Wel l  i t ’s  a  –  remember  the  expend i tu re  

f ramework  is  th ree  years .   So,  you have to  look  a t  the  

th ree -year  per iod  to  say,  you know,  on  th is  par t i cu la r  

f inanc ia l  yea r  I ’ l l  p robab ly  end up –  you know you ’ l l  have a  20 

ta rge t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR MOKHESI :    To  say 3000 ta rge ts ,  you look a t  the  

budget  yes ,  bu t  i t ’s  un i ts  and s i tes  as  we l l  and then un i ts ,  

i t ’s  across  a l l  p rogrammes,  you know,  no t  necessar i l y  
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RDP’s  bu t  i t  m igh t  a lso  be  a f fo rdab le  ren ta l  

accommodat ion ,  so  un i ts  and s i tes  and tha t ’s  bas ica l l y  how 

i t  w i l l  ro l l  and then,  you know,  in  th is  par t i cu la r  –  you can 

have ins tances where  some o f  the  p ro jec ts  f low in to  the  

cur ren t  f inanc ia l  year  and you a lso  –  and tha t ’s  why there ’ l l  

be  ro l l -overs  tha t  a re  approved because you have ex i s t ing  

pro jec ts  tha t  a re  runn ing  tha t  you can show to  say I  

request  a  ro l l -ove r,  I  d id  no t  spend but  he re  are  my  

commi tments  and  then Nat iona l  Treasury  w i l l  then approve  

and say,  r igh t ,  you have ex is t ing  cont rac ts  tha t  a re  runn ing  10 

now your  budget  in  tha t  par t i cu la r  yea r  w i l l  have been – 

le t ’s  say  i t  wou ld  have been R100 000 but  because  o f  the 

approva l  o f  the  ro l l -over  maybe o f  R200 000 the  budget  fo r  

tha t  p ro jec t  becomes R100 000.  R200 000,  the  ro l l -ove r  

p lus  t he  budget  fo r  the  cur ren t  yea r,  so  i t  moves  on l i ke  

tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  i f  I  reca l l  your  ev idence ear l ie r,  

cor rec t l y,  you sa id  tha t  as  a t  October  2010,  the  Nat iona l  

Depar tment  was say ing  tha t  –  o r  had determined tha t  the  

Free S ta te  Depar tment  had not  exceeded 10% of  20 

expend i tu re  in  the  funds tha t  had  been a l loca ted ,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  the  repor t  way say ing ,  you know,  the  

monetary  repor t  was say ing  you have on ly  spent  10% 

of…[ in tervenes] .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  o f  the  a l loca t ion .  

MR MOKHESI :    O f  the  a l loca t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So ,  now what  i t  means now when you 

look a t  th is  document  a t  page 233 tha t  Mr  Pre tor ius  was 

dea l ing  w i th ,  i s  tha t  –  I  mean the  10% of  R1b i l l i on  wou ld  

have been about  R100mi l l ion  more  or  less .  

MR MOKHESI :    Poss ib ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So ,  they –  e f fec t i ve ly,  they were  say ing  

even though in  s ix /seven months  we are  on ly  ab le  to  use  

10% in  the  ba lance o f  the  months  –  o f  the  f inanc ia l  year,  10 

namely,  November,  December,  January,  February,  March,  

tha t ’s  f i ve  months ,  and we know tha t  there  a re  ho l idays 

dur ing  December  and the  const ruc t ion  indust ry  normal ly  

doesn ’ t  work  fo r  some o f  tha t  pe r iod .   They were  say ing ,  

dur ing  those four  o r  f i ve  months  they were  go ing  to  spend  

90% of  the  a l loca t ion .   I t  seems,  tha t ’s  what  they were  

say ing .  

MR MOKHESI :    That ’s  what  the  recovery…[ in te rvenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Someth ing  tha t  was qu i te  remarkab le .  

MR MOKHESI :    Was a t tempt ing  to  say.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The prov i s ions o f  the  D iv i s ions o f  

Revenue Act ,  do  I  unders tand,  a l so  dea ls  w i th  the  th ree-

year  med ium te rm expend i tu re  f ramework  bu t  fo r  the  

purposes o f  th is  mat te r  i t  was say ing  tha t  in  the  f inanc ia l  
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year  end ing  –  the  s ing le  f inanc ia l  year  end ing  March 2011,  

un less  the  a l loca t ion  o f  R1.4b i l l i on  was spent  a l l  o r  par t  o f  

i t  wou ld  be  fo r fe i t ed ,  am I  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Repeat  tha t  aga in  Mr  Pre tor ius?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    In  o ther  words,  you men t ioned a  

th ree -year  med ium- term expend i tu re  f ramework  p rov i s ion  

tha t  i s  p rov ided fo r  in  DORA,  as  I  unders tand.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    My reco l lec t ion  o f  DORA bu t  what  

we were  dea l ing  w i th  here  is  a  s ing le  f inanc ia l  yea r.  10 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  i t ’s  a  s ing le  f inanc ia l  year.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Cor rec t ,  end ing  March 2011?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And what  the  Nat iona l  Treasury  

were  say ing ,  un less  you spend your  a l loca t ion  of  

R1.4b i l l i on  in  tha t  yea r,  you ’ re  go ing  to  lose  a l l  o r  some o f  

i t .   

MR MOKHESI :    Un less  you spend and you can  

demonst ra te  by  cont rac t ,  you know,  ex i s t ing  cont rac ts  tha t  

there  a re  commi tments  fo r  th is  money,  i t  doesn ’ t  mean tha t  20 

you ’ l l  have to  –  you ’ l l  be  ab le  to  spend and tha t  w i l l  a lso  

a l low you to  ge t  an  approva l  fo r  a  ro l l -over  because those 

pro jec ts  a re  go ing  to  be  runn ing  in to  the  new f inanc ia l  

year,  so  tha t  you don ’ t  use  the  money a l loca ted  fo r  the 

subsequent  f inanc ia l  yea r  w i th  t he  p ro jec ts  tha t  comes 
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f rom the  prev ious  f inanc ia l  yea r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Now i f  tha t  –  I ’m  sor ry,  yes  I  

unders tand and in  fac t  par t  o f  your  R1.4b i l l i on  or  par t  o f  

the  Depar tment ’s  R1.4b i l l i on  was in  fac t ,  a  ro l l -over  f rom 

the  prev ious year,  the  2009/2010 f inanc ia l  year  bu t  tha t ’s  a  

de ta i l  tha t  maybe,  i s  in  o ther  in fo rmat ion  bu t  the  po in t  i s  

tha t  the  Depar tment  wasn ’ t  say ing ,  look  we have cont rac ts  

in  p lace  and we want  to  ro l l -ove r.   What  i t  was say ing  as  is  

now c lea r  and you fa i r l y  conceded  Mr  Mokhes i  i s  tha t  we ’ re  

go ing  to  spend over  a  b i l l i on  rand in  the  f i ve  remain ing  10 

months  o f  the  year  f rom November  to  March and th is  i s  

how we ’ re  go ing  to  spend i t ,  in  a l l  the  de ta i l s  se t  ou t  on  

page 233  and you fa i r l y  s ta ted  tha t  i t  wou ld  have been 

imposs ib le  to  ach ieve tha t ,  cor rec t .  

MR MOKHESI :    Cor rec t ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  i s  i t  cor rec t  tha t ,  here  in  th is  

document  they jus t  s ta te ,  maybe what  can be re fe r red  to  as  

the i r  ta rge ts  o r  maybe the i r  p lans bu t  I  don ’ t  know whethe r  

i t  can  be ca l led  p lans because,  un less  you draw my 

a t ten t ion  to  someth ing  tha t  I  haven ’ t  p icked up i t  doesn ’ t  20 

look l i ke  they show,  in  th is  document  how they w i l l  ach ieve 

these ta rge ts  w i th in  the  t imef rame tha t  was – tha t  they 

had?  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja ,  you know,  fo r  example ,  i f  you  say 

3  500 wa l l  p la tes  I  jus t  make an …[ in tervenes] .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    P lease ra i se  your  vo ice .  

MR MOKHESI :    I f  you  say 3  500 wa l l  p la tes  fo r  example  

where  are  they.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :   R igh t ,  because i t  means there  must  be  

3  500 foundat ions somewhere .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MOKHESI :    And the re  must  be  cont rac tors  who on s i te  

who are  work ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Who are  a l ready work ing  and there  must  10 

have been an assessment  o f  what  they are  capab le  o f  

do ing  w i th in  wha t  t ime,  tha t  has enab led  you to  say,  by  a  

cer ta in  t ime they w i l l  have reached the  –  they wou ld  have 

done the  wa l ls .  

MR MOKHESI :    Because you  can ’ t  have wa l l  p la tes  

w i thout  foundat ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  course ,  ja ,  yes .  

MR MOKHESI :    And you must  a lso  be  in  the  pos i t ion  to  

p in -po in t  i t  i s  in  Bu l t fon te in ,  in  wherever,  you know a l l  

these o the r  a reas  to  say th is  a re  the  3  500.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  now when you look  a t  th is  

document  and you know what  you know now about  what  the  

pos i t ion  was,  namely,  what  houses had been bu i l t ,  what  

houses had not  been bu i l t ,  to  what  ex ten t  a re  you ab le  to  

say tha t  th is  document  was rea l l y  a  m isrepresenta t ion  
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because there ’s  no  way you cou ld  ta lk  about  wa l ls  when  

there  a re  no  foundat ions?  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja ,  i t  was –  I  don ’ t  know whether  i t ’s  a  

w ish  l i s t ,  fo r  lack  o f  a  be t te r  te rm but  i t  wou ld  be  h igh ly  

un l i ke ly  tha t  the  Nat iona l  Treasury  –  ag  sor ry  the  parent  

Depar tment  Human Set t lement  w i l l  app rove  w i thout  

knowing exact ly  because you have to  p rov ide  de ta i l s  about  

where  those houses or  where  those foundat ions are  

because we ’ re  ta lk ing  about  the  wa l l  p la tes .   So,  you ’ l l  

have to  say they are  in  th is  par t i cu la r  a rea  and th is  i s  how 10 

–  when you ta lk  about  the  recovery  p lan  you have to 

demonst ra te  tha t .   I f  tha t  in fo rmat ion  is  lack ing  the re ’s  no  

way tha t  i t  cou ld  be  approved and a lso ,  on  the  face  o f  i t ,  i t  

i s  improbab le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  I ’m  ask ing  a  d i f fe ren t  quest ion .   

You are  the  HOD,  you were  the  HOD who prepared the  

a f f idav i t  tha t  we are  dea l ing  w i th .  Now,  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  

th is  document  –  was a  representa t ion  to  the  Nat iona l  

Depar tment  tha t  the  Prov inc ia l  Depar tment  wou ld  ach ieve 

these ta rge ts  by  end o f  the  f inanc ia l  yea r,  namely  March 20 

2011.  Are  you ab le  to  say tha t  there  was enough progress  

tha t  had been made by  October  in  te rms o f  the  bu i ld ing  o f  

the  houses and the  foundat ions and eve ry th ing  fo r  them to 

have been ab le  to  ach ieve th is ,  a re  you ab le  to  

say…[ in te rvenes]?  
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MR MOKHESI :    I f  you  th ink  abou t  the  10% tha t  has been  

sa id  th is  i s  where  you were  in  te rms o f  the  expend i tu re ,  

sure ly  there  were  no t  enough,  whether  foundat ion  or  wa l l  

p la tes  o r  whatever  the  s i tua t ion  m ight  be  a t  the  t ime to  be  

ab le  to  ach ieve th is .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  a lso  as  a t  tha t  t ime,  based on what  

you know,  what  you got  to  know when you became HOD,  

are  you not  ab le  t o  say,  there  were  no t  enough cont rac to rs ,  

fo r  example  who were  qua l i f ied  who cou ld  have done such 

a  job  w i th in  such  a  shor t  space o f  t ime,  i s  tha t  someth ing  10 

you are  no t  ab le  to  say based on the  repor ts  you 

subsequent ly  go t  when you became HOD? 

MR MOKHESI :    Wel l ,  I ’m not  ab le  to  –  you know,  I  can 

on ly  venture  to  say,  you know,  in  o rde r  to  pu l l  th is  you ’ l l  

need cont rac to rs  a lso  –  because i t ’s  a lso  about  capac i ty  to  

be  ab le  to  –  to  pu l l  –  you know 3  500 a lso  requ i re  a  cer ta in  

leve l  o f  capac i ty  and f inanc ia l  cap i ta l  –  f inanc ia l  cap i ta l  

and g iven the ,  you know,  the  con t rac tors  tha t  we know or  

we have in  the  secto r,  you r  smal l  cont rac tors…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  i t  wou ld  be  good,  i f  th is  in fo rmat ion  20 

is  no t  a l ready in  the  f i les  here ,  i t  wou ld  be  good i f  we can  

get  in fo rmat ion  tha t  te l l s  me fac tua l l y  whether  the  progress  

tha t  had been made in  te rms o f  the  bu i ld ing  o f  houses,  a t  

the  t ime the  p lan  was made,  October  2010,  what  p rog ress  

had been made and whethe r,  by  wr i t ing  the  ta rge ts  tha t  
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they  were  pu t t ing  up  here ,  i t  can ’ t  be  sa id ,  s imp ly  on  tha t ,  

tha t  i t  was c lear  m isrepresenta t ion .   So i f  tha t ’s  no t  

in fo rmat ion  tha t ’s  ava i lab le  I  wou ld  apprec ia te  i t  i f  you  

cou ld  work  on  ge t t ing  tha t  k ind  o f  in fo rmat ion  fo r  us  bu t  i t  

ought  to  be  poss ib le  because we are  in  2020 now,  we ’ re  

ta lk ing  about  someth ing  tha t  happened in  2010 a t  some 

s tage in  the  years  tha t  fo l lowed  somebody ought  to  have  

sa id ,  le t  us  see what  was the  pos i t ion  a t  tha t  t ime but  on  

the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  must  be  ava i lab le  w i th in  the  

Depar tment  i t  may be ab le  to  reach some conc lus ion  as  to  10 

how much progress had been made,  based on tha t ,  was  

th is  no t  a  c lear  m isrepresenta t ion ,  yes  Mr  Pre to r ius?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  bu t  jus t  to  take  a  s tep  back,  I  

th ink  you have fa i r l y  conceded tha t  based on what  you 

knew i t  wou ld  no t  have been poss ib le  to  ach ieve these  

pro jec t ions.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes bu t  no t  i f  you  are  ab le  to  say 3  500  

wa l l  p la tes  the re  they are  –  or  foundat ions  sor ry,  

foundat ions,  there  they a re  bu t  whether  they…[ in tervenes] .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l  your  ev idence is  on  record  bu t  20 

there ’s  another  way to  approach  i t  because a t  th is  very  

t ime the  Depar tment  was dev i s ing  a  pre-payment  scheme 

wh ich  resu l ted  in  the  expend i tu re  o f  R600mi l l ion ,  

comple te l y  d i f fe ren t  pa ra l le l  scheme.   So a t  the  t ime i t ’s  

say ing  to  Nat iona l ,  we ’ re  go ing  to  spend th is  amount  o f  
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money on th i s  amount  o f  foundat ions,  th is  amount  o f  wa l l  

p la tes ,  th is  amount  o f  comple t ions fo r  each mon th  f rom 

November  2010 to  March 2011 and we ’ re  go ing  to  spend 

over  a  b i l l i on  rand on th is ,  a t  tha t  very  t ime,  i t  i s  p lann ing  

the  expend i tu re  o f  R600mi l l ion  by  way o f  p re -payments  to  

cont rac tors  and supp l ie rs ,  cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The two can ’ t  s i t  togethe r,  we know 

the  pre-payments  o f  R600mi l l ion  happened,  as  a  mat te r  o f  

fac t  and i f  tha t  was be ing  imp lemented a t  th is  t ime nobody  10 

cou ld  have be l ieved in  the  t ru th  o f  tha t  d iag ram,  am I  

cor rec t  in  tha t  approach?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You don ’ t  seem very  ca tegor i ca l  on  some 

o f  the  mat te rs  Mr  Mokhes i  where  I ’d  expect  you to  be  qu i te  

ca tegor i ca l ,  you seem qu i te ,  very  guarded in  te rms o f  some 

o f  the  answers…[ in tervenes] .  

MR MOKHESI :    No where  I  agree ,  I  agree,  I  sa id  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  i t  looks  l i ke  there  is  a  lo t  tha t  

you might  need to  re f resh your  memory  on  or  wha t?   For  20 

example ,  [ in te rvenes] .  

MR MOKHESI :    No,  I  th ink  what  shou ld  be  apprec ia ted  as  

we l l ,  Cha i rpe rson ,  i s  remember  i t ’s  –  on  some o f  what  i s  

be ing  sa id  here  is  poss ib ly  hearsay because I  was not  

there  bu t  you know,  as  Account ing  Off i cer  you a l so  account  
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fo r  th ings tha t  happened before  you came,  I  acknowledge 

tha t  bu t  a lso ,  you know,  tha t  Depar tment  los t  money i t ’s  a  

fac t  and th is  wh ich  I  d rew up o r  th is  a f f idav i t  was amongst  

o thers ,  ma in l y  ta rge ted a t  us  t ry ing  to  recover  the  money,  

f i rs t l y  and second ly  i t ’s  an  a f f idav i t  tha t  has been – where  I  

can ’ t  say  I  have a  f i rs t -hand exper ience o r  f i s t -hand 

in fo rmat ion  in  te rms o f  what  happened,  i t ’s  because o f  a l l  

the  documents  tha t  one co l lec ted  over  t ime and  t r ied  to  

d raw up th is  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  go ing  back to  th is  –  I  mean Mr  10 

Pre tor ius  i s  coming f rom an ang le  to  look  a t  th is  document  

to  say,  nobody cou ld  have be l ieved tha t  –  cou ld  have 

be l ieved th is  in fo rmat ion .  

MR MOKHESI :    I  agreed.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  now –  bu t  sure l y  you do,  

somewhere  in  the  Depar tment  in fo rmat ion  as  to  how many  

houses had been bu i l t  by  end  o f  tha t  f inanc ia l  year,  

namely,  end o f  March 2011 even i f  you might  no t  remember  

i t  now.  

MR MOKHESI :    I  m igh t  no t  remember  i t  now 20 

but…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you ’ve  go t  i t  somewhere .  

MR MOKHESI :    Bu t  the  source  o f  tha t  par t i cu la r  

in fo rmat ion ,  as  I ’ ve  ind i ca ted  w i l l  be  the  HSSC.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  we l l  I  wou ld  l i ke  tha t  because,  here  
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i s  what  was pro jec ted .   What  I  wou ld  l i ke  i s ,  i f  poss ib le ,  by  

October  when th is  document  was  prepared,  th is  was the  

s ta te  o f  a f fa i rs  about  th is  p ro jec t…[ in tervenes] .  

MR MOKHESI :    Ja ,  we l l  I  th ink  we ’ l l  t ry…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You ’ l l  t ry  and do  tha t .  

MR MOKHESI :    And go back,  look  a l so  a t  –  we ’ l l  a lso  have 

to  go  and source  documents  l i ke  –  because ord ina r i l y  there  

wou ld  be  repor ts ,  DORA repor ts  on  a  month ly  bas is  tha t  

ind ica te  where  the  ta rge ts  a re ,  you know,  how much and so  

on .  There  w i l l  be  those par t i cu la r  repor ts  tha t  we ’ l l  10 

compare  and then we ’ l l  have to  go  back.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Even i f  we are  no t  ab le  to  say,  even  

accura te  number  o f  un i t s  tha t  had been bu i l t  by  October  

2010 but  a  reasonab le  es t imate  m ight  do  bu t  f rom the  mere  

fac t  tha t  they spent  10%,  about  R100mi l l ion  tha t  ought ,  on  

i t s  own to  g ive  us  an  idea tha t  maybe on the  bas is  o f  

R100mi l l ion  or  so  X  number  o f  un i t s  wou ld  have been 

comple ted ,  can ’ t  be  more  –  i t  cou ld  no t  have been more  

bu t  ou t  o f  whatever  un i ts  they may have –  they may have  

been work ing  on  some o f  them might  no t  have been 20 

comple ted .   Maybe none o f  them wou ld  have been 

comple te  bu t  i t  cou ld  no t  have been more  than X  number,  

s imp ly  f rom the  money –  the  amount  o f  money tha t  had 

been spent  ou t  o f  the  R1b i l l i on  and then you look a t  what  

was the  s ta te  o f  a f fa i rs  as  a t  the  end o f  the  f inanc ia l  yea r,  
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how many un i ts  had been comple ted ,  how many un i ts  were  

no t  comple ted  and in  tha t  way one  cou ld  come back  to  th is  

and be ab le  to  say,  whoever  was drawing th is  document ,  i f  

they  knew exact l y  what  we ’ re  ta lk ing  about ,  they knew they 

were  m isrepresent ing  the  pos i t ion  in  a  ve ry  se r ious way,  

okay,  Mr  Pre tor ius?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Thank you.   Jus t  to  comple te  the 

po in t  tha t  I  was ra is ing  w i th  you,  Mr  Mokhes i ,  we know tha t  

dur ing  or  about  October  2010 the  Free S ta te  Depar tment  o f  

Human Set t lements  was s t i l l  con templa t ing  spend ing  10 

R600mi l l ion  on  mater ia l s  le t  a lone comple ted  work ,  

cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   So ,  I  th ink  the  conc lus ions you ’ve  

reached were ,  a t  the  very  least ,  no t  un fa i r  o r  unreasonab le  

conc lus ions.   Le t ’s  move to  another  top i c ,  and tha t  was,  

what  were  the  communica t ions f rom the  Nat iona l  

Depar tment  Human Set t lements  to  the  Prov inc ia l  

Depar tment  o f  Human Set t lements?   On the  29 t h  o f  October  

2010 there  was  what  i s  ca l led  a  Techn ica l  Human 20 

Set t lements  MINMEC Meet ing .  Now there  i s  MINMEC and 

there  is  Techn ica l  MINMEC,  cou ld  you exp la in  to  the  Cha i r  

what  they are  p lease?  

MR MOKHESI :    Techn ica l  MINMEC is  Technokas o f f i c ia ls  

and i t ’s  Cha i red  by  the  DG and a l l  the  re levant  o f f i c ia ls  w i l l  
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be  there ,  p r imar i l y  a l l  the  HOD’s  and the  CFO’s  and 

perhaps cer ta in  suppor t  s ta f f ,  tha t  w i l l  be  the  Techn ica l  

MINMEC.   The  MINMEC i t ’s  Min is te rs  –  M in i s te r  and 

MEC’s .  So,  the  Techn ica l  MINMEC then feeds in to  MINMEC 

for  approva ls  o f  whatever  dec is ion ,  whether  i t ’s  po l i cy  

i ssues and so  on .   So tha t ’s ,  in  sho r t ,  what  i t  i s .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    R igh t  i f  you  go to  parag raph 44.5 ,  

what  you say there  i s  tha t  a t  a  Techn ica l  MINMEC of  

Human Set t lements  he ld  on  the  29 t h  o f  October  

2010…[ in te rvenes] .  10 

MR MOKHESI :    Paragraph?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Sor ry  paragraph 44.5  on  page 110,  

I ’m  sor ry,  go  back  to  page 110 o f  your  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    110?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes Cha i r,  parag raph 44.5 .  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes,  parag raph 44.5 ,  yes .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    There  re ference is  made to  a 

Techn ica l  MINMEC [spe l t  in to  the  record ]  meet ing  he ld  on  

the  29 t h  o f  October  2010,  tha t  wou ld  have been var ious 

o f f i c ia ls  f rom the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  and va r ious o f f i c ia ls  20 

f rom the  Prov inc ia l  Depar tment  o f  Human Set t lements ,  

cor rec t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And you say a t  tha t  meet ing  Mr  

Chaney,  on  beha l f  o f  the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  and Mr  



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 156 of 178 
 

Makatswa on beha l f  o f  the  Prov inc ia l  Depar tmen t  were  

present  and tha t  Mr  Chaney made i t  c lear  tha t  payments  

wee un lawfu l  and  impermiss ib le ,  you see tha t?  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    What  payments  were  be ing  

re fer red  to  there?  

MR MOKHESI :    I  wou ld  –  i t  cou ld  be the advance 

payments.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The advance payments.   Al r ight  now 

we… 10 

MR MOKHESI:   Of  the – for the purchase of  mater ia l .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes you say in paragraph 44.6 you 

have rel ied for the account above on the evidence given by 

Chainey you had to – a d iscip l inary hearing on 20 June 2013 

and you give reference to the t ranscr ipt ion of  that  ev idence.   

We have looked at  that  evidence and to be fai r  to  you Mr 

Chainey is not  ent i re ly clear of  when informat ion reached the 

Nat ional  Department in regard to  the payments and the 

status of  those payments.    

He talks about  var ious meet ings.   There was an 20 

October meet ing;  there was a November meet ing,  there was 

a meet ing at  Welkom, do you recal l  the Welkom meet ing?  

But  he is not  ent i re ly  clear  of  precisely  when Nat ional  

became aware of  the i r regular i t ies.   And i t  is also was 

debated in the discipl inary hearing of  what the Nat ional  
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Department learned.    

On the one hand i t  was put  to Mr Chainey that  what 

the Nat ional  Department learned f rom i ts Chief  Financial  

Off icer  who had perused the housing subsidy scheme 

records that  payments were being made di rect ly to suppl iers 

and that  the complaint  at  that  stage at  least  was that 

payments to suppl iers is not  a good idea.   In fact  i t  is  

improper because there are no cont ro ls.    

You simply paying to suppl iers and the suppl iers can 

overcharge.  They do not  have -  that  system would not  have 10 

the cont rol  in the contract  wi th  the contractor  who must  

receive,  ver i fy,  put  on si te and the l ike.   On the other  hand i t  

may have been and i t  is not  c lear  f rom Chainey’s evidence 

that  the nub of  the complaint  was the advance payments.   

But  as far as you are concerned the complaint  was advance 

payments,  is that  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes i t  –  yes advance payments that  is what  

we heard – that  is  what we are deal ing wi th.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Right .   A l r ight  i f  necessary we wi l l  

deal  wi th that  in  submissions Chai r  or  in that  – I  th ink i t  20 

would not  be fai r  to tax Mr Mokhesi  on that  issue.   I t  l ies 

wi thin the mouths of  others.    

So Mr Chainey refers to var ious meet ings;  he was off  

i l l  for a long t ime; he talks about  an October meet ing,  a  

November meet ing and a meet ing the fo l lowing year.   He 
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ta lks about the r isks involved in paying suppl iers di rect l y  

wi thout  going through the contractors and he also talked I  

th ink about  advance payments.   But  the sequence and the 

detai l  is elusive on his evidence so let  us leave that  there.   

Okay.    

Your evidence is as I  understand i t  is that  Nat ional  

complained that  the plans of  the Province were unlawful  and 

impermissible because they were advanced payments,  

correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.   Alr ight .   Then Mr Mkhatshwa 

also gave evidence of  events around this t ime.  I f  I  can give 

you the reference Chair  i t  is Bundle FS17 at  page 259.   What 

he said is that  he conveyed this warning that  he had 

received to the Head of  Department Mr Mokoena and Mr 

Mokoena and later the MEC said you proceed never theless.   

Do you know anything about that? 

MR MOKHESI:   No I  have seen i t  on the evidence of  Mr 

Mkhatshwa – that  is what – I  do not  know anything about 

that .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You do not  deal  wi th i t  here.  

MR MOKHESI:   Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   We wi l l  deal  wi th that  through other  

evidence Chai r.   So the October meet ing of  MINMAC 

Technical  you deal  wi th – at  paragraph 44.5 but  there are no 
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minutes at tached.  Do you see that?  You do not  at tach any 

minutes of  that  meet ing when you deal  wi th paragraph 44.5 

and 44.6.   You merely refer to Chainey’s test imony.   Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   The technica l  and the name MINMAC 

minutes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   At  paragraph 44.5.  

MR MOKHESI:   Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You refer  to the technical  Human 

Sett lements MIXMAX meet ing of  29 October 2010.  Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And over the page you say what  

happened at  that  meet ing.   And in paragraph 44.6 you say in  

saying that  what you say in paragraph 44.5 you rely  on Mr 

Chainey’s test imony t ranscr ibed in the record of  the 

discipl inary hearing.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Okay.   Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   There was another meet ing however 

that  took p lace on the 18 November.   Another technical  20 

MIXMAX meet ing and you deal  wi th that  at  paragraph 54.   

Wel l  you deal  wi th that  at  paragraph 50.   You say in the 

second sentence or you say in paragraph 50:  

“ I  referred ear l ier to  the technical  Human 

Sett lements MINMAC meet ing held on 20 
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October at  which Chainey advised 

Mkhatshwa that  the department ’s  advance 

payments were unlawful . ”  

MR MOKHESI:   Which paragraph Mr Pretor ius? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   50.  

MR MOKHESI:   50.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   On page 112. 

MR MOKHESI:   Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And then you say:  

“A fol low up technical  Human Sett lements MINMAC meet ing 10 

was held on 18 November 2010.”  

 You see that?  And then you do at tach a copy.   And 

there you say in paragraph 52:  

“Again Mkhatshwa at tended on behal f  of  the 

department.   He presented he department ’s 

expendi ture recovery plan.”  

 So i t  seems that  that  plan was actual ly presented at  

an off ic ia l  meet ing according to th is record.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Correct? 20 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   He also –  

“That  is in addi t ion to present ing the plan 

ra ised the proposed use of  t r ipart i te  

agreements in the housing project . ”  
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 Those are the agreements remember between the 

department,  the suppl ier and the contractors.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   That  second level  of  agreement.   Not  

the cession agreements but  the middle level  of  agreement.   

And you say in paragraph 53:  

“The technical  MINMAC meet ing re jected the 

department ’s expendi ture recovery plan.   I t  10 

warned the department not  to implement i t . ”  

 And over the page you say at  paragraph 54:  

“There were two major problems.  F irst  the 

plan did not  demonst rate the department ’s 

abi l i ty to spend i ts al locat ion in the few 

months remaining unt i l  the end of  the 

f inancial  year 30 March 2011.  Second the 

proposed t r ipart i te agreements were rejected 

since suppl iers would have to supply 

mater ia ls in bulk wi thout  the necessary 20 

support  to ensure qual i ty and proper  

procurement proceedings.   Also there are a 

lot  of  r isks wi th th is arrangement.”  

 Do you see that?  There were two issues discussed.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   As you say.   But  what is c lear that  at  

least  at  that  stage the department  was not  persuaded that  

the al locat ion could be spent.   You referred to that  ear l ier in 

your evidence.   You recal l  that? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Second however the proposed 

t r ipart i te agreements were rejected.   So i t  seems there were 

two issues on the table.  The one is  the expendi ture recovery 

plan which we have referred to part icular ly that  cash f low 

project ion and secondly another way of  spending money 10 

which would be to  play – pay suppl iers di rect .   That  was a lso 

re jected.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Okay.   Then i t  seems f rom paragraph 

46 that  another meet ing was held on the 19 November that  is  

the next  day.  

MR MOKHESI:   Paragraph 46? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Para 56.  

MR MOKHESI:   Oh 56.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   On page 113.   A Human Sett lements 20 

MINMAC meet ing held on 19 November 2010.   Again Mr 

Mkhatshwa at tended on behal f  of  the department.   You see 

that? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Now that  is  wi th the Nat ional  Minister 
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and the Provincia l  MEC of  Human Sett lements.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   As I  understand your evidence.   

Correct?  Is that  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes that  is correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Paragraph 58 the MINMAC meet ing 

that  is the one on the 19 November conf i rmed the approach 

adopted at  the technical  MINMAC meet ing namely that  funds 

would be sh i f ted f rom non-performing Provinces.   That  is the 

warning.   Correct? 10 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Paragraph 59:  

“Mr Mkhatshwa returned to Bloemfontein and 

advised the then Head of  Department Mpho 

Mokoena that  the department had been 

warned not  to  implement the expendi ture 

recovery plan.   However Mokoena instructed 

Mkhatshwa to proceed with  the plan.   I  base 

this al legat ions on the – a l legat ion on the 

f indings of  the discipl inary hearing where this  20 

evidence is  thoroughly deal t  wi th and in  

detai l . ”  

 But  your conclusion I  might  say accurately ref lects 

the proceedings in the discipl inary hearing.   Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   That  is where you got  your  

informat ion.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes that  is where I  got  i t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Right .   Of  course having fol lowed the 

instruct ions of  Mr Mokoena and Mr Mkhatshwa ul t imately  

gets dismissed but  that  is a story for later on in  these 

proceedings.   Paragraph 60 you say:  

“Mokoena’s instruct ion was formal ised by an 

internal  memorandum.  The memorandum 

was prepared by Moosa Tsometsi  [?]  who 10 

was then the Deputy Di rector Genera l  of  the 

Department.   Mokoena s igned the 

memorandum approving the 

recommendat ions i t  contained.”  

 There is some evidence to the effect  that  Mr 

Mokoena requested Mr Tsometsi  [?]  to prepare a legal  

opinion on the legal i ty of  the issue but  that  document 

prepared by Mr Tsometsi  [?]  is not  an opinion at  al l .   Do you 

know anything about that? 

MR MOKHESI:   No.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Of  course the memorandum i tsel f  as 

you point  out  in paragraph 62 and fol lowing which served to 

implement the advance payment plan was i tsel f  not  fo l lowed 

let  a lone had not  been proper in  the f i rst  p lace to even 

contemplate such a plan the plan that  was contemplated was 



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 165 of 178 
 

a lso not  fo l lowed at  a l l .    

And you detai l  that  in paragraph 62 to 64.   Basical ly,  

the memorandum prepared by Mr Tsometsi  said that  the 

department would only pay mater ia l  suppl iers for  mater ia l  

actual ly suppl ied to a cont ractor  and invoiced wi th the 

invoices to be backed up cert i f icate issued by the contractor 

conf i rming receipt  of  the mater ia l .   That  is contained in the 

memorandum.  But  that  is not  what happened am I  correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes i t  is not  what happened.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   What happened in fact? 10 

MR MOKHESI:   Wel l  mater ia ls were ei ther not  de l ivered or in  

instances and this  is what we – we also picked up they were 

ei ther not  del ivered or instances where they were del ivered – 

they were not  del ivered in the quant i t ies that  are requi red or 

they simply some of  the cont ractors denied that  the mater ia ls  

were ever del ivered to them and then this was what we were 

faced with to  say in certain  instances we had suppl iers just  

dropping mater ia ls on si te wi thout  any supervision and so 

on.    

So that  is  basica l ly what  happened.  But  in terms of  20 

the cert i f icat ion of  the mater ia l  as contemplated in the 

memorandum i t  d id not  happen.  I t  happened only to  a very 

lesser  extent  where i t  happened.   I t  d id happen in  certa in  

instances but  not  in al l  instances.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You summarise that  in paragraph 65 



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 166 of 178 
 

and 66 on page 115.   I f  I  may just  read that  and you can 

conf i rm whether i t  is correct  or not .   Paragraph 65 on page 

115 reads:  

“The department ’s decisions were in  clear  

breach of  the advice given to i t  by the 

Nat ional  Department via Chainey and the 

technical  MINMAC meet ings.   The 

department had been told that  i t  expendi ture 

recovery plan was not  acceptable and that  i t  

should not  implemented.   I t  had also been 10 

told that  paying suppl iers wi thout  the 

suppl iers having suppl ied mater ia ls was 

unlawful . ”  

 Is that  your analysis? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Of  the documentat ion that  you looked 

at? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A l r ight  we do not  have a minute I  

must  say of  the expendi ture recovery plan being rejected but  20 

we do have a minute of  suppl ier ’s  payments being warned 

against .   But  that  is part  of  the record that  we can deal  wi th 

wi th the Chai r  in submissions.   Paragraph 66 goes:  

“As I  set  out  in more deta i l  below the 

department proceeded to make payments to 
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suppl iers wi thout  the suppl iers having 

suppl ied mater ia l  i .e.  i t  made payments in 

advance.   No wri t ten agreements were 

concluded govern ing these payments.   The 

department did  not  fo l low any proper  

procurement process to ident i fy the suppl iers 

to which i t  paid payments.  The tota l  va lue of  

the payments made was nearly R1 b i l l ion. ”  

 Now that  is in relat ion to the prepayment scheme.  Is  

– does that  ref lect  your researches into the mater ia ls that  10 

you referred to in paragraph 4 of  your aff idavi t?  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Right  before I  get  to the next  top ic I  

would l ike to just  make one point  or put  one issue before 

you.   There does not  appear to be a minute of  Nat ional  – the 

Nat ional  Department at  a technical  MINMAC or even a 

MINMAC or any other meet ing saying to  the Provincial  

Department your  expendi ture recovery plan cannot be 

implemented i t  is  unreal ist ic.   We do not  have a minute of 

that .   And i f  in fact  the Nat ional  Department was saying,  look 20 

you cannot play – pay suppl iers di rect ly because i t  is too 

r isky then of  course i t  would not  be comment ing on the 

expendi ture recovery plan i t  would be comment ing on the 

other process.   Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Can you repeat that? 
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Sorry.  

MR MOKHESI:   Mr Pretor ius.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I t  is  a long quest ion and i t  has been 

a long day.   We do not  have a minute of  any meet ing where 

Nat ional  says to Provincial  do not  implement the expendi ture 

recovery plan.   We do not  have a minute of  a reject ion of  the 

expendi ture recovery plan.   One can of  course argue that  

had they looked at  i t  they would have obviously come to the 

same conclusion or that  they actual ly did reject  i t  as you say.  

MR MOKHESI:   Wel l  one can only infer  because here is the 10 

– that  ERP was prepared.   I t  must  have been prepared and 

the way we know the process is that  the recovery plan you 

present  i t  to the – to the technica l  meet ing.   Ei ther i t  w i l l  

have been presented to th is performance reviews which are 

not  necessari ly technical  MINMAC per se.   Or they wi l l  a lso 

be presented in  the technical  MINMAC where i t  wi l l  be 

approved or rejected.   There should have been a process 

that  decides that  we are tak ing – we are taking money f rom 

you for that  Province or Provinces.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Is that  what – 20 

MR MOKHESI:   And i t  happened.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   So you know there must  have been some 

sort  of  an engagement.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  
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MR MOKHESI:   And some sort  of  correspondence.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   One can in fer too that  had – i f  they 

had asked for i t  the Minister had said give me an 

expendi ture recovery plan they would have looked at  i t  and I  

would imagine and I  th ink i t  is reasonable to put  to you 

would not  have been convinced by i t  as you say.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes they would have been.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   They would not  have been convinced 

by i t .  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.   Because clear ly on the face of  

i t  i t  was not  an achievable project .   But  you have given that 

evidence I  do not  want to repeat  i t .   We might  get  into 

another round of  exchanges.   But  the second point  I  wanted 

to make ar is ing out  of  that  is that  a  reject ion of  the idea that  

suppl iers should be paid direct ly and not  v ia cont ractors is  

another matter – i t  is a separate matter.   Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Okay yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.   Al r ight .   Wel l  we need not  take 

that  much further than that .   I f  I  could take you to paragraph 20 

72.   That  refers to certain press statements and i f  you go 

back to paragraph 69 you record there:  

“That  on the 18 January 2011 the Nat ional  

Department issued a media statement. ”  

MR MOKHESI:   Hm.  Yes.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Saying that  i t  was shi f t ing funding 

f rom underperforming Provinces,  the Free State and 

KwaZulu Natal  to other Provinces.   Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And the response of  the department  

to that  was to say,  no,  no we are going to spend everything 

by the end of  the f inancial  year.   By the end of  January in i ts 

response press statement the Free State says according to 

paragraph 70:  

“By the end of  January 2011 expendi ture 10 

should be around 85%.”  

 Now i f  one includes the R600 mi l l ion plus spent  on 

advance payments that  might  or might  not  be correct .   We do 

not  know that? 

MR MOKHESI:   We do not  know that .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   But  you do say in paragraph 72:  

“By the t ime these statements – these press 

statements were issued the department  had 

al ready t ransferred severa l  hundred mi l l ion 

rand f rom i ts  condi t ional  al locat ion to  20 

suppl iers. ”  

 And I  st ress suppl iers and that  would have been for  

mater ia ls.  

MR MOKHESI:   Mater ia ls yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    
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“ I t  cont inued to make unlawfu l  t ransfers in 

January,  February and March 2011.  The 

t ransfers were made without  the suppl iers 

having suppl ied mater ia l ;  wi thout  wri t ten 

agreements in respect  of  or regulat ing the 

t ransfers and wi thout  any procurement  

process having been fol lowed. ”  

 Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You agree wi th that  statement? 10 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And then paragraph 73:  

“The department made the t ransfers for the 

purpose of  avoid ing having i ts condi t ional  

al locat ion stopped and t ransferred to bet ter  

performing provinces.”  

 That  was the object .  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    

“ I t  made the t ransfers so that  i t  looked as i f  20 

the condi t ional  al locat ion had been spent.   I  

submit  that  th is was a f raud on the Nat ional  

Treasury and on the Nat ional  Government  

more broadly as wel l  as on the taxpayers and 

the publ ic genre.”  



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 172 of 178 
 

 That  is a repeat  of  your ear l ier statements.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Regarding the f raud correct? 

MR MOKHESI:  Correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I  repeat  that  the unlawful  t ransfers 

you say in paragraph 74 amounted to plus minus R631 

mi l l ion in tota l .   That  deals wi th  that  sect ion.   You deal  wi th 

the mater ia l  supply agreements in paragraphs 87 and 88 of  

your statement.   That  is on page 124.   You see that? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   That  between October 2010 and 

August  2011 the department concluded approximately 112 

agreements termed mater ia l  supply agreements.   These were 

the t r ipart i te agreements of  which we spoken earl ier.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   They are wel l  summarised in the 

judgment of  Faul  AJ which we may refer to because they are 

a convenient  summary but  we could do that  at  a later  stage 

perhaps by way of  revision tomorrow morning.   But  what is 

instruct ive about that  statement is that  at  the very t ime the 20 

expendi ture recovery p lan was being devised and presented 

to Nat ional  that  is October 2010 this paral le l  scheme of 

mater ia l  suppl ier  agreements to spend R600 mi l l ion was 

being devised.   Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You then deal  wi th in the fo l lowing 

paragraphs the mater ia l  supply agreements and you highl ight  

certain provisions of  the t r ipart i te agreement.   Fi rst ly there is  

the conf l ict  between the cont ractor ’s obl igat ion to  source 

mater ia ls and pay for mater ia ls and the department doing so 

di rect ly wi th the suppl ier.   You recal l  that  conf l ict?  

MR MOKHESI:   Ja the mater ia l  supply and the cont ract .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The contractors were the contract? 10 

MR MOKHESI:   Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  

MR MOKHESI:   Because the mater ia l  suppl ier was put  the 

responsibi l i ty of  acquir ing mater ia l  was now put  on the 

…[mumbl ing] .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Now i t  was clear.   Right .   The 

agreement you say in 90.2:  

“Obl iges the cont ractor to order i ts bui ld ing 

mater ia l  f rom the mater ia l  suppl iers.”  

 But  now on the t r ipart i te agreement there is a  20 

possibi l i ty of  a di rect  l ink between the department and the 

suppl ier.  

MR MOKHESI:   And the suppl iers.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Correct? 

MR MOKHESI:   Yes.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   But  what is interest ing about th is  

t r ipart i te agreement in paragraph 90.3 which you point  out  

there are no f ixed pr ices.   So in  other words the supply 

agreement is  entered into wi th  the hope as you put  i t  that  the 

mater ia l  would be suppl ied at  the best  pr ice.   So one enters 

into a contract  wi th no pr ice being f ixed and the mater ia l  

suppl ier is to ld just  give us your best  pr ice.   You make the 

remark later about  whether th is is a  commercial ly v iable way 

of  going about business.   What is your remark about that? 

MR MOKHESI:   Wel l  there is an element of  r isk part icular ly  10 

for the contractor because al l  the mi lestones pr ices you 

know foundat ion,  wal ls place those pr ices are f ixed.   Now i f  

you do not  manage because the b iggest  input  – the biggest  

input  in bui ld ing of  houses i t  is  mater ia l .   I t  const i tutes 

perhaps 80 or 90% of  the input  costs.    

Now i f  you do not  manage that  part icu lar issue and 

you wi l l  s imply leave i t  to – to the mater ia l  suppl ier you run 

the r isk of  mater ia ls suppl iers ei ther overcharging and 

unfortunately because the pr ice is  f ixed the cont ractor or 

possibly because we pay – we pay a f ixed pr ice you know 20 

100.   I f  we say foundat ion is R10 000.00 that  is what i t  is.   

That  is what we are going to pay.   So you can end up 

actual ly i f  you do not  manage that  mater ia l  part  of  i t  you can 

– the contactor can up actual ly spending R12 000.00 for 

argument sake and we are certainly are not  go ing to pay 



21 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 268 
 

Page 175 of 178 
 

R12 000.00 we are going to pay R10 000.00.   And that  is – i t  

is again obviously what is going to happen is the contractor 

wi l l  abandon si te because he is obviously losing money.  So 

that  is the r isk basical ly.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   In summary Mr Mokhesi  at  page 125 

and page 126 you deal  wi th the terms of  the t r ipart i te 

agreement for the supply of  mater ia ls.   The agreement which 

provided for di rect  payment at  no f ixed pr ice as you point  out  

by the department to the suppl ier as opposed to the 

contractor.    10 

And you point  out  on page 127 how these t r ipart i te  

agreements var ied the cont racts wi th the cont ractor.   To g ive 

the s implest  example the contractor  was or ig inal ly obl iged to  

source mater ia ls and pay for them and would only be paid by 

the department once they have – the bui ld ing – mi lestone 

had been completed.   This provided for  an upf ront  payment  

di rect ly  to  the suppl ier  wi thout  the controls  that  you have 

referred to and creat ing the r isks that  you referred to.    

A l l  that  is detai led here I  do not  th ink i t  is necessary to go to 

i t  in any detai l .   I t  is c lear what you say here and that  is  20 

backed up by an examinat ion of  the cont racts and by the 

f indings of  Advocate Van Graan in  the discipl inary inquiry.   

You make the point  in paragraph 95 in  addi t ion on page 128 

that  th is mater ia l  supply agreement is unusual  in the 

construct ion indust ry and i t  is at  odds wi th the requi rements 
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of  the housing subsidy scheme, correct? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    You see that  in paragraph 95.   

Again,  we do not  need to go into detai l  except  that  to say in  

paragraph 95.2,  what you say is that  there is a departure 

f rom the requi rement that  mater ia ls  actual ly be incorporated 

into housing,  houses been bui ld  and to the sat isfact ion of  the 

employer before the employer is requi red to pay for the 

mater ia l .   That  is the department.  

 The department would ordinar i ly in proper expendi ture 10 

process and in accordance with al l  the regulat ions and the 

regulatory f ramework have to be sat isf ied that  the mater ia ls  

are actual ly there in the completed house before i t  pays for  

them, correct? 

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And you also make the remark at  the 

bot tom of  paragraph 96 on page 129.  

“The department paid substant ia l  amounts of  money 

of ten wi th no invoice at  al l . ”  

MR MOKHESI :    Page? 20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Page 129 

MR MOKHESI :    129.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    The last  three l ines of  the f i rst  

paragraph of  the page, paragraph 96.  

“The department paid substant ia l  amounts of  money 
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of ten wi th  no invoice at  al l .   Where there was a 

document purport ing to be an invoice,  i t  was not  

cert i f ied and was of ten patent ly fa lse.”  

 You have given that  ev idence.  

MR MOKHESI :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And those examples would appear in  

the reports.   But  then at  the bot tom of  page 129,  you deal  

wi th the cession agreements.   And i f  we are going to  

complete the summary,  we should deal  wi th those.    

 But  before that .   Chai r,  I  would want to deal  and I  see 10 

we are beyond the t ime now.  I  would l ike to  deal  wi th 

another topic which I  would l ike to  deal  wi th tomorrow also.   

Would this be a convenient  t ime? 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  wanted to f ind out  whether in terms of  

how much t ime we wi l l  need during the week,  whether we 

need to go beyond four o’c lock or whether we should stop at  

four o’c lock because we wi l l  be able to manage.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Wel l ,  I  was hoping to f in ish the 

evidence wel l  in t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l  in t ime? 20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  okay.   Then in that  event ,  let  us 

adjourn then and then we wi l l  cont inue tomorrow.  Okay.   We 

wi l l  adjourn and then tomorrow we wi l l  start  at  ten o’clock.   

We adjourn.  
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INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 22 SEPTEMBER 2020   


